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CORPORATE PROFILE 2 A& T

Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Hydoo International Holding Limited before 14 July 2020, the
“Company” or “GHKGBA Holdings”) is listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 01396.HK) on 31 October 2013.
The Company’s corporate vision is to “empower the future of cities for
creating a better life”. The Company positions itself as a “new ecological
industrial city service provider”, with the aim of building a harmonious
industrial ecosystem that comprises mutually beneficial related parties,
such as customers, companies, governments, employees and the natural
environment, to deliver services to cities. The Company focuses on the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”)
and situates its headquarters in the Greater Bay Area, regarding the
Greater Bay Area as a highland with a strategic value to develop residential
and urban renewal projects.

Guided by the development strategies of the Greater Bay Area, the
Company carried out strategic restructuring in 2019 by bringing in
strategic shareholders, coordinating the sharing of the strong financial
resources of these new strategic shareholders, providing a diverse range
of industrial resources as well as for their operating experience to assist
the Company with its innovative development and industrial upgrade.
In 2020, the Company strategically upgraded into a “new ecological
industrial city service provider” based on the corporate gene of “driving
urban prosperity with industrial development”. In order to better serve
the national strategy of the Greater Bay Area, the Company developed the
new “YOUNGO” brand based on the original brand of “HYDOO" for trade
centre business, implemented dual-brand operation and also change
name to “Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited”.

The Company continues to develop the trade centre business under the

brand of “HYDOO”, while expanding various business sectors under the
brand of “YOUNGO”, such as high-end housing, urban renewal, etc..
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman) (resigned on 21 January 2025)

Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman) (resigned on 21 January 2025)
Mr. He Fei (CEO)
Ms. Wei Haiyan

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (resigned on 21 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei
Mr. Han Qinchun
Mr. Chen Yangsheng

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Han Qinchun (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Guan Huanfei
Mr. Chen Yangsheng

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
Mr. Han Qinchun
Mr. Luo Jieping

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Wei Haiyan
Mr. Han Qinchun

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Liang Lina

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Luo Jieping
Mes. Liang Lina

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 B & #}

PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT

CENTERS IN THE PRC

Level 32, Block A

Hong Long Century Plaza
Luohu District
Shenzhen, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 916, 9/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance
with the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
(Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China
Bank of China
China Merchants Bank
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LISTING INFORMATION
Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1396

Senior Notes Listing

The Company’s 4.5% senior notes due 2029
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

Www.youngogroup.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Telephone: (852) 2885 9877
Email: ir@youngogroup.com
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEssm R 2 7

BUSINESS REVIEW

Affected by various unfavorable factors such as macroeconomic
environment and real estate market environment, the Group recorded
contracted sales amount of approximately RMB1,157.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (“FY2024" or the “Year”), which had decreased
by approximately 46.0% as compared to the year ended 31 December
2023 (“FY2023") (FY2023: RMB2,143.8 million). As at 31 December 2024,
the total land bank of the Group with land use rights confirmed was
approximately 4.8 million sq.m. (31 December 2023: 7.3 million sq.m.).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

In FY2024, the Group’s revenue was approximately RMB2,602.7 million
(FY2023: approximately RMB3,530.5 million). The decrease was primarily
due to the change in the operating model of the Group’s trading business
during the Year. To mitigate trading risks, the Group shifted from acting
as the principal to operating as a trading agent. As a result, starting from
this Year, the trading business is no longer recognised in revenue on a
gross basis but is instead recognised on a net basis under other income.
In addition, revenue generated from property development and related
services was approximately RMB2,602.7 million (FY2023: approximately
RMB1,670.7 million), representing an increase of 55.8%, which was mainly
due to the increase in the area of properties being delivered during the
Year.

Cost of Sales

In FY2024, the Group's total cost of sales was approximately RMB3,225.4
million (FY2023: the cost of sales for the property development and
related services of approximately RMB1,653.7 million), representing an
increase of 95.0%, which was mainly due to the increase in delivered area
of properties during the Year, and due to the significant decrease in the
average selling price, the Group recognised a write-down of inventories
amounting to approximately RMB643.1 million during the Year (FY2023:
RMB330.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B2 im R 247

Gross (Loss)/Profit

In FY2024, the Group recorded gross loss of approximately RMB622.7
million (FY2023: gross profit of approximately RMB21.2 million). The gross
loss was mainly due to the unfavorable operating environment in the
real estate industry in China and insufficient for homebuyers’ confidence
in real estate purchasing which have resulted in a severe decline in the
average selling price of properties.

Other Net (Loss)/Gain

Other loss for FY2024 in the amount of approximately RMB248.0 million,
mainly included late fees for land payments payable, while other gain for
FY2023 in the amount of approximately RMB208.9 million, mainly included
gains on disposal of subsidiaries and other miscellaneous income.

Selling and Distribution Costs

In FY2024, the amount of selling and distribution cost were approximately
RMB66.2 million, representing a decrease of 42.8% from approximately
RMB115.8 million in FY2023. The decrease was in line with the decrease in
contracted sales of approximately 46.0%.

Administrative Expenses

In FY2024, the amount of administration expenses were approximately
RMB79.1 million, representing a decrease of 51.1% from approximately
RMB161.9 million in FY2023. The decrease was mainly due to that the
Group actively implemented various measures including reducing
non-core and unessential operations and expenses and reducing the
remuneration and benefits of the directors, senior management team and
employees, against the backdrop of the adverse market conditions.

Impairment Loss

In FY2024, the whole market faced even more severe difficulties and
challenges and the fair value of the assets of the Group further decreased,
which resulted in more impairment loss provided during the Year.

In FY2024, the impairment loss of approximately RMB417.2 million
(FY2023: RMB292.4 million) was recognised by the Group, mainly
representing the impairment loss on financial assets measured at
amortisation cost of approximately RMB417.2 million (FY2023: RMB292.4
million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEssm R 2 7

Fair Value Loss on Investment Properties

In FY2024, due to unfavorable effect of the continuous slowdown
of real estate market, a fair value loss of RMB72.6 million was further
recognised for the existing investment properties by the Group (FY2023:
approximately RMB419.2 million).

Finance Costs

Financial cost mainly included interest expense on bank loans, senior
notes and other borrowings. In FY2024, the finance costs of the Group
were approximately RMB68.0 million, representing a decrease of 76.8%
from approximately RMB293.2 million in FY2023. The decrease was mainly
due to decrease in bank loans and interest expense on senior notes.

Taxation

Income tax expenses comprised PRC enterprise income tax, land
appreciation tax and deferred taxation. The Group recorded a tax expense
for FY2024, which was mainly due to the Group'’s accrued PRC LAT for the
property sales for the year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In 2024, the Group’s capital resources primarily included cash flow
generated from business operations, cash from bank loans and other
borrowings, and advances from controlling shareholders, which were used
in our business operations and investment in development of projects.
The Group expects that cash flow generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main sources of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen cash flow
management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of projects and
stringently control the cost and various expenses. Meanwhile, the Group
will make investment only after conducting stringent scientific assessment
and considering changes in policies and markets. Besides, the Group
will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with foreign and
domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of funding for the
business development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B2 im R 247

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total cash balances (including
pledged and restricted cash) amounted to approximately RMB206.6
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB594.4 million). The
pledged and restricted cash mainly includes guarantee deposits for the
properties constructions, cash pledged to banks for certain mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties, and cash
pledged for bank loans or bills payables.

Borrowings

The Group adopts a prudent financial policy for proactive conduct of
debt management and optimising debt structure to ensure balance in
financial risks and cut-down of finance costs. As at 31 December 2024, the
Group had bank loans and other borrowings of approximately RMB2,360.6
million (as at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB2,995.5 million) and
senior notes of approximately RMB3,367.5 million (as at 31 December
2023: approximately RMB3,221.9 million) and financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost for nil (as at 31 December 2023: RMB158.9 million) as
follows:
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As at 31 December

®12A31H
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETTT

Repayment Period BENEH

Repayable on demand and within 1 year REEZREER—FUAR 1,003,660 2,030,868
Repayable after 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFNEE 1,328,179 337,858
Repayable after 2 years but within 5 years MERBRFEFRNERS 3,320,495 791,260
Repayable after 5 years hEFRER 75,700 3,216,304
Total XLl 5,728,034 6,376,290

A portion of the bank loans and other borrowings were secured by
a pledge of land use rights, investment properties, properties under
development, completed properties held for sale and cash at bank of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEssm R 2 7

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had contingent liabilities relating to
guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities provided by domestic banks
to its customers amounting to approximately RMB1,896.4 million (as
at 31 December 2023: approximately RMB2,449.6 million). Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by a
purchaser, the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principal together with accrued interest and penalties owed
by the defaulting purchaser to the bank, but the Group would be entitled
to assume legal title to and possession of the related property. These
guarantees will be released upon the earlier of (i) the due registration
of the mortgage interest held by the commercial bank upon the subject
property; or (ii) the satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the purchaser of
the property.

Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2024 contracted but
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
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As at 31 December

M12A318
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Construction and development contracts BRERERAY 1,638,191 2,883,733

Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets out our key financial ratios as of the dates
indicated:

FEESLE
TREFIRMBEFRT B BT BN -

As at 31 December

®12A31H

2024 2023
Current ratio™ e EO 1.41 1.39
Gearing ratio? BEAFEY 45.3% 35.0%

Notes:
(1) Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.
(2)  Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing bank loans and other borrowings,

senior notes and other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost by total
assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS B2 im R 247

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group'’s businesses are principally conducted in Renminbi. Other than
certain overseas bank deposits, the senior notes and other borrowings
denominated in foreign currencies, the Group does not have any material
exposure directly due to foreign exchange fluctuations. The management
will continue to closely monitor foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associated
Companies and Joint Ventures

On 4 December 2024, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
the entire equity interests in Sail Day Limited to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$36.0 million. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 4 December 2024 and 10 December
2024.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures during FY2024.

Employment and Remuneration Policy

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource of the Group.
In terms of the remuneration system, the Group built comprehensive value
chains and diversified incentive mechanism, and formed a comprehensive
remuneration system with basic salary, performance-based salary, short
term incentives as well as medium- and long-term incentives covering
various businesses, which have greatly enhanced the enthusiasm of
operation units and employees. The remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) reviews such packages
annually, or when occasion requires. The Company has also adopted a
share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. The Group also provides periodic trainings for employees.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 194 employees (31 December
2023: 241 employees). For FY2024, total staff costs of the Group were
approximately RMB58.4 million (FY2023: approximately RMB103.6 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEssm R 2 7

OUTLOOK FOR 2025

In 2024, the government made efforts to stem the downturn and restore
stability in the real estate market, reduced interest rates for housing loans
and the ratios of down payments, and achieved an annual reduction of
about RMB150 billion in interest payments for existing mortgages. Taxes
and fees on housing transactions were also cut, while solid progress was
made in ensuring the timely delivery of housing projects.

As refer to “"REPORT ON THE WORK OF THE GOVERNMENT” on 5 March
2025, the government will make continuous efforts to stem the downturn
and restore stability in the real estate market by means of introducing city-
specific policies on adjusting or reducing property transaction restrictions,
intensifying efforts to redevelop urban villages and renovate old and
dilapidated houses, so as to fully tap into potential demand for first
homes and better housing. The government will optimise urban spatial
structures and land use practices and properly control the supply of new
land for real estate projects. The government will also make good use of
existing land resources as well as commercial and office properties and
facilitate the purchase of commodity housing stock, governments in cities
will be granted greater power to determine the types of entities that can
make such purchases, the prices of such properties, and the purposes for
which they will be used. The government will expand the scope for using
the relending facility for government-subsidised housing, and leverage
real estate financing coordination mechanisms to ensure timely delivery
of housing projects and effectively prevent debt defaults by real estate
companies. Foundational systems will be established in a well-ordered
way to foster a new development model for the real estate sector.

Facing the new situation in the future development of real estate, the
group will embrace change, embark on a new journey, and seek progress
through transformation. On the sales side, the group will continue to
strengthen sales collections, accelerate inventory turnover through
optimised and innovative sales strategies, and dedicate specialised efforts
to revitalise bulk asset projects to ensure operational cash flow and return
on investment. On the operational side, the company will enhance the
execution of quality improvement strategies, achieve a significant increase
in product and service quality, and use online and offline channels to
enhance the visibility of the project, while rigorously controlling various
costs and expenses to enhance cost-effectiveness and efficiency, ensuring
coordinated development. On the financing side, the Company will strive
to actively expand financing channels, improve maturity profile and
reduce financing cost and strengthen fund management. The Group will
continue to actively innovate its business model, expand its development
space, grasp the dividends of regional economic development, industrial
development and policies, and make steady progress.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY Bt &1 =

For the financial year ended 31 December

BZ12831ALTREE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
Results 4
Revenue A 2,602,700 3,530,521 3,168,080 5,570,884 3,737,158
Gross (loss)/profit E(E8) /78 (622,705) 21,156 (45,974) 735254 1,286,733
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (E1B),/ (1,574,995)  (1,026,708)  (1,916,618) (355,669) 725,883
Income tax PS5 (466,316) (178,907) 187,591 (89,441) (369,610)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),/FIHE (2,041,311) (1,205,615  (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273
Attributable to: AT & T RENG
Equity shareholders of the Company AR AIHEZERLER (1,834,586)  (1,214,747)  (1,571,832) (498,484) 360,696
Non-controlling interests i (206,725) 9,132 (157,195) 53,374 (4,423)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EER),/FE (2,041,311) (1,205,615  (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY Bt 7481 =

As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Financial position B AR
Non-current assets FRBERE 1,636,082 2035073 2,708,667 3,650,383 4,252,906
Current assets REVEE 11,021,786 16,186,827 19,998,734 20,222,582 14,724,095
Current liabilities REIEE 7,803,175 11,604,980 14,311,628 12,490,269 11,986,892
Net current assets MBEETE 3,218,611 4,581,847  5687,106 7,732,313 2,737,203
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDER 4,854,693 6,616,920 8395773 11,382,696 6,990,109
Non-current liabilities FRBEFE 4,754,486 4,372,487 4,881,168 5725569 1,131,745
Net assets BETE 100,207  2,244433 3514605  5657,127 5858364
Share capital AR 69,581 36,598 36,598 36,598 36,598
Reserves G 319,545 2,202,057 3384945 5051474 5555799
Total equity attributable to equity RN FIRERAR R B

shareholders of the Company REmiEE 389,126 2,238,655 3,421,543 5088072 5,592,397
Non-controlling interests RS (288,919) 5,778 93,062 569,055 265,967
Total Equity RmiEE 100,207  2,244433 3514605  5657,127 5858364
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The Board hereby present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group mainly comprise property
development and sale. The Group focuses on the development of urban
renewal projects and high- end housing projects in the Greater Bay
Area. Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on page 6 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability
and complying with PRC environmental protection laws and regulations.
These include regulations on air and noise pollution and discharge of
waste and water. The Group has taken various compliance procedures to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. In accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, as set
out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), details of the
Group'’s environmental policies are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had or would have a significant impact on the Company
during FY2024.

RESULTS

The Group'’s results for FY2024 are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of this annual report.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the total
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2024) during the year ended
31 December 2024. The Group from time to time is exploring investment
opportunities that would benefit the shareholders of the Company as
a whole. Except for those disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the
Group does not have any concrete plans for material investments and
capital assets.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2024 (FY2023: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
FY2024 are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during FY2024 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 33 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, details of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Cayman Companies Law are set out in note 33 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2024 are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROJECTS

Details of the principal projects held by the Group for investment, sale and
development purposes are shown on page 280.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Revenue attributable to the Group’s single largest customer and five
largest customers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 2.7% and 5.0% of the Group’s
revenue respectively in FY2024.
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The aggregate purchases from the Group's single largest supplier and
five largest suppliers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 1.12% and 3.29% respectively, of
the Group’s total purchases for FY2024.

None of the Directors or any of their associates, or any shareholders who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital has any interests in the Group'’s five largest suppliers
or customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

DONATIONS

During FY2024, the Company had no charitable contributions or other
donations (FY2023: Nil).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024
are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 May 2019. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to recognise the contribution of the employees of the members
of the Group and Directors who have contributed to the Group (the
“Qualified Participants”) by granting share options to them as incentive
and/or reward.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme is 40,148,440 shares, representing approximately
8.85% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
report, and is subject to the refreshment of the 10% limit by the approval
of the shareholders at general meeting and the limit as set out in Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options granted
under this Share Option Scheme to any Qualified Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options), in any 12-month period up
to and including the date on which an offer for the grant of an option is
made by the Board (the “Offer Date”), shall not exceed 1% of the number
of shares in issue on the Offer Date. Each grant of options to a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, under this Share Option Scheme must comply with
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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An option is accepted by the grantee when a signed offer letter together
with a remittance of RMB1.00 by way of consideration for the grant is
received by the Company. The remittance of RMB1.00 shall be received by
the Company no later than 7 days from the Offer Date.

The Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 30 May 2019, after which no further options shall be
offered under this Share Option Scheme but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in full force to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted under this Share Option Scheme
prior to 30 May 2029. As at 31 December 2024, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately four years and five months.

On 27 September 2022, the Share Consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued existing shares of the Company be consolidated
into one consolidated share became effective.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, as at 31 December 2024,
the total number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme was 1,282,500 shares,
representing approximately 0.16% of the weighted average number of
shares in issue of the Company for FY2024 and the exercise price per share
for the outstanding share options is HK$4.6784. The exercise price of share
options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, and shall be
at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date;
(ii) the average of the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five (5) trading
days immediately preceding the grant date; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share of the Company (that is HK$0.1) (taking into account the Share
Consolidation).

The number of share options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme were 11,208,440 and 11,208,440 as at 1 January 2024
and 31 December 2024, respectively (taking into account the Share
Consolidation).

With the effectiveness of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with
effect from 1 January 2023, the Company shall comply with the relevant
rules of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules under the transitional
arrangements before the Share Option Scheme is amended to comply
with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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No options or award was granted during FY2024. As of 31 December R2024 B E B - AR A EE R E S IEE)
2024, the total number of outstanding shares involved in the Share R o R2024F12A318 © BIRERTEI T E R
Option Scheme was 1,282,500 shares (taking into account the Share 771 B0 B8 A% 42 851,282,500 % (5T R & 15 & HF
Consolidation), representing approximately 0.16% of the shares in issue of %) R RFIE BTN £0.16% o IRIRFEARE
the Company. Particulars of the outstanding share options granted under FHEIE BRI RITEBREFBEHYIT

the Share Option Scheme are set out below:

Fair value of
share options
(Closing price granted at the
of shares date of grant
immediately before the
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled At heforethedate  Exercise price Share
1 January during during during during 31December  Date of grant of ofgrant of share options  Consolidation
Grantees 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 share options (HKS pershare)  (HKS pershare)  (HKS per share)
(Note) (Note)
BERER
Ritada
RERRH RHBAN
A2024E &R AER AER KER RouE Bl BfmchmE  BRETER AYEE
HEA 1A1H &7 i XM i 12A38  ERERH (BkEn)  (BREn)  (BRER)
(hiit) (Kiit)
Directors
3
Mr.He Fei 2,100,000 - - 900,000 - 1282500 26June 2022 25 46784 -
IRz 20025672680
Total 2,100,000 - - 900000 - 182,500
a5t
Notes: Bt -

(1) The outstanding share options granted on 26 June 2022 shall vest and M E@ZOZ_ZE%H 26 B H A BRI IR IR LA NI R 57
exercise according to the following schedule: B RATE

Percentage of shares under

Respective Vesting Date an option that shall be vested Exercise Period

EREAHY ERBEREETHRAESLE TED

1 April 2023 30% From 1 April 2023 to 1 July 2023
20234710 20234 518 £20235%7H1H
1 April 2024 30% From 1 April 2024 to 1 July 2024
202454710 120244 H1HZE2024F7H1H
1 April 2025 40% From 1 April 2025 to 1 July 2025
20254 71H 20254 418 £202567H1H

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 32 to the BRABRESNE —THFBENY BHRRME
financial statements. 320
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman)

Mr. He Fei (CEO)

Ms. Wei Haiyan

Mr. Wong Choi Hing (resigned as executive director and
co-Chairman and be appointed as the honorary chairman
on 21 January 2025)

Mr. Cai Hongwen (resigned as executive director and
co-Chairman on 21 January 2025)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhen Yunshu (resigned as non-executive director on 21 January 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei
Mr. Han Qinchun
Mr. Chen Yangsheng

The Board has recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company'’s circular contains detailed information of the
Directors standing for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Each of the Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract/
appointment letter with the Company for a period of three years. None of
the Directors of the Company proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION
OR ARRANGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors has or had material beneficial interests, whether
directly or indirectly, in any significant contract, transaction or
arrangement in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during FY2024.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION OR ARRANGEMENT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries (if applicable)
has or had material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any contract,
transaction or arrangement of significance, whether for the provision of
services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during FY2024.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The biographical information of Directors and Senior Management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

ENFORCEMENT OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Non-Competition Deed”) was entered
into by Mr. Zeng YunShu, Mr. Cai Hongwen, Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited
(“RXHD Holdings”), Hakka Park International Group Co Ltd. (“Hakka
Park”), Guang Yitong Technology Limited (“Guang Yitong”) and China
Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (“China
Greater Bay Area Holdings”), (collectively, the “Covenantors”) with the
Company. Each of the Covenantors has unconditionally and irrevocably
undertaken to the Company that he/it would not, and would procure
that his/its associates (other than any members of the Group) would
not, during the restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/its
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or
company, enterprise or organisation, to carry on, develop, be engaged in,
operate, participate in, or interest in or render any services to or otherwise
be involved in (in each case whether as a shareholder, director, agent,
partner, employee or otherwise) any business which is in competition with
the business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted Business”), save
for the existing business which is currently or already owned, operated,
participated, being invested in or carried on by the Covenantors as of the
date of the Deed.
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The Covenantors have further undertaken to procure that, during the
restricted period, any business investment or commercial opportunity
which competes with the Restricted Business (the “New Opportunities”)
identified or offered to him/it or any of his/its associates (other than
through the Group) (the “Offeror”) is first referred to the Company in the
following manner: (a) each of our Covenantors is required to, refer, or to
procure the referral of, the New Opportunities to the Company, and shall
give written notice to the Company of any New Opportunities containing
such information necessary for the Company (the “Offer Notice”); and
(b) the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the New Opportunities only if (i)
the Offeror has received a notice from the Company declining the New
Opportunities and confirming that such New Opportunities would not
constitute competition with core business of the Company, or (ii) the
Offeror has not received such notice from the Company within 60 days
from the Company'’s receipt of the Offer Notice. Upon receipt of the Offer
Notice, the Company shall seek opinions from the independent non-
executive Directors who do not have material interests in the matter.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that it had fully
complied with the terms of the Non-Competition Deed during FY2024 for
disclosure in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest paid individuals
for FY2024 are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements and the
emolument policy of the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during
FY2024.

LR O — R - ERGIIMEER - REMD
TREMML, THBMEA(MTERBEE)([E
WE ) BB ERFAERER X BT
BEREXBEHES ((HRE])  ZUATHRE
TENERR  @BNRZY T ARAEN K
g HREEFARFDENFHEE - BEFAAFHEL
EEBEM  R{EMIRMTEETIRENER
(T2HBEA]  ROENERBEATERTS
BRESRHMOKE  )BOECKRERRNE
MEEREMN  YTHREEHTRSTISENRZ
DRBBRBET 2B AR ZHBAZH
H0RR - BHERBEWBIRRZFBA » —
BRFELBA - AREEKEARBEANE
FRERRBMIFAITESTNER -

R4 B AR A RREEN 20240 HEFLE B
FRPEERE LA BARE -

EFFMRLaESTMAL

BRAARRAR024MBFENEEFTM R AR
S MALTFBERMHERERM TSR - MAR
B MBCR RIS R A F R DR E GRS -

B E = 102024 5 BUF [ IR SR BRE T Fr
B -

GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED B &&= iR AR A 7



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Report Period, the following Directors were considered to
have interests in the following businesses, which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (a former non-executive Director who resigned on 21
January 2025) is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment Co.,
Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning
Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd..

Mr. Cai Hongwen (a former executive Director who resigned on 21 January
2025) is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment Co., Ltd. and
Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd.. He also directly holds
50% interests in Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited.

The principal business activities of Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited,
Heyuan Guangrun Investment Co., Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd. are real
estate development. The Board considers that the business of aforesaid
companies may compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors, including Mr. Cai Hongwen and Mr. Zeng
Yunshu, has signed the Non-competition Deed which is in favour of the
Company. Each of the Covenantors also procures that his associates
would be subject to the Non-competition Deed. For details of the Non-
competition Deed, please refer to the paragraph headed “Enforcement of
the Deed of Non-competition” of this annual report. Further, when making
decisions on the business of the Group, the abovementioned Directors, in
the performance of his duty as a Director of the Company, shall fulfil his
fiduciary duties and act in the best commercial interest of the Group as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he/she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows (taking
into account the Share Consolidation):

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

EFENESFHES
R2024F12A31H - ARREERESITHAES
RAR B S EEA R EE (& R EHFRPEK
B[ H R EERH ) EXVIR) K% - 18REN D
MiEEREARERES LG EXVIE7 RS
DEAME AN E KRR ED AR (BIER
B RHEROINE BIE mE EskR BlE
MR MR R ) BB LR ARRIRIEZES L
BIEMES20GFEELMOEREAR - SR
B LEMABAMEN EMBEITAESETESRS
EIZZESTRI(H22ESF A ) ZBMe AN A7) KRB Fr
R MR R AT (B8 E BN & HH1&)

REXTRG RAEABRONETR

Approximate
Percentage of
the Company’s
Corporate Personal Share Family Total share total issued
Name of Directors Class of securities interest interest options interest capital share capital”
AR
BRTARAN
ESps #HER NEER AER BRE B BRE BRBIHY
Mr. Luo Jieping Ordinary shares 414,665,566? - - - 414,665,566 50.94%
BNTRAE LR
Mr.He Fei Share Options - - 1,282,500¢ - 1,282,500 0.16%
AR B
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Notes:

m

@

The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 814,103,100 Shares
issued as at 31 December 2024.

These Shares are held by China Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area
Holdings Limited (“China Greater Bay Area Holdings”), as at 31 December
2024, China GBA Holdings is owned as to 84% by Ruixinhaide Holdings
Limited (“RXHD Holdings"”), RXHD Holdings is owned as to 100% by Solid
Wealth Holdings Limited (“Solid Wealth”), and Solid Wealth is owned as
to 90% by Rich Grain Investments Limited (“Rich Grain”), which is in turn
wholly-owned by Ms. Zeng Yan. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Zeng
Yan is deemed to be interested in the Shares owned by China GBA Holdings
through RXHD Holdings, Solid Wealth and Rich Grain. Furthermore, the
spouse of Ms. Zeng Yan (Mr. Luo Jieping, an executive Director) is also
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Ms. Zeng Yan is interested in
under Part XV of the SFO. Ms. Zeng Yan and her spouse are deemed to be
interested in 414,665,566 Shares of the Company through China Greater Bay
Area Holdings, RXHD Holdings, Solid Wealth and Rich Grain representing
approximately 50.94% of the issued Shares of the Company.

This represents the share options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme (as defined below). Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report. The spouse
of Mr. He Fei is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. He Fei is
interested in under Part XV of the SFO. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, as at
31 December 2024, Mr. He Fei and his spouse are deemed to be interested in
1,282,500 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.16% of the
issued Shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge
of the Board, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); (ii) recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, according to the register of members kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known
to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the
following person/entity (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly and indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote on all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the

FERRER

20245124310 - REBEARAIZRES LT
ﬁ%%ﬁﬂ%ﬁf%%%ﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁ%%%ﬂ&
KR EEN A BT RETERER %é%&ﬁ
AIMEBITHRABSI  THAL BENAQF
&ﬁ*ﬁ BEB (TR REBEHFRAEKRDZE XV*B)%

- BB REHFFEEIRIEES KBS A
%xv%%zﬁsﬂ*wﬂwxbjﬁ$ A) M B R T
BEREmOSOAR - S EESEEEE TAERR
RWMEE—ER TEARRIRREA SR ER
F)EE5%8 A HHEES

RAERXARDREBERDNEFR

Company
Approximate
percentage of
Number of Shares the Company’s
RHHE total issued
Name Nature of interest Corporate interest Share option share capital®”
RN
ERTEREH
A EEME ARER R EEER A
China Greater Bay Area Holdings Beneficial owner? 414,665,566 - 50.94%
HREESERER EnEAA?
Ruixinhaide Holdings Interest in controlled corporation® 414,665,566 - 50.94%
iR R R EE R
Solid Wealth Interest in controlled corporation® 414,665,566 - 50.94%
B4 R AR R
Rich Grain Interest in controlled corporation® 414,665,566 - 50.94%
?IE;‘% %‘J/i.*&“w
Ms. Zeng Yan Interest in controlled corporation® 414,665,566 - 50.94%
L R EE R
Mr. Luo Jieping Interest of spouse® 414,665,566 - 50.94%
BNPEE FiEEse
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Notes:

(1) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 814,103,100 shares
issued as at 31 December 2024.

(2)  As at 31 December 2024, China GBA Holdings is owned as to 84% by RXHD
Holdings, RXHD Holdings is owned as to 100% by Solid Wealth, and Solid
Wealth is owned as to 90% by Rich Grain, which is in turn wholly-owned
by Ms. Zeng Yan. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, each of RXHD Holdings,
Solid Wealth, Rich Grain and Ms. Zeng Yan is deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by China Greater Bay Area Holdings. As at the date of this
annual report, each of China Greater Bay Area Holdings, RXHD Holdings,
Solid Wealth, Rich Grain and Ms. Zeng Yan is deemed to be interested in
414,665,566 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 50.94% of
the issued Shares of the Company.

(3) As at 31 December 2024, The spouse of Ms. Zeng Yan, Mr. Luo Jieping, is
deemed to be interested in the Shares which Ms. Zeng Yan is interested in
under Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the
Directors, no other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities”,
at no time during the fiscal year under review was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under 18
years of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Board confirmed that none of the related party transactions set out in
notes 21, 23 and 38 to these financial statements constituted non- exempt
connected transactions or non-exempt continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During FY2024, the Group had not entered into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are required to
be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Group
has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries have not purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company'’s shares (including treasury shares (as defined under
the Listing Rules), if any) during the year ended 31 December 2024. As
at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares (as
defined under the Listing Rules).

SUBSCRIPTION OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 13 May 2024 and 14 May 2024, the Company entered into eight
separate subscription agreements and supplemental agreements with
eight subscribers (the “Subscriber(s)”), each Subscriber is an independent
third party of and not connected with the Company (as defined in Listing
Rules), in respect of the subscription of an aggregate of 89,000,000 new
Shares, at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per Share pursuant to the
terms and conditions of the subscription agreements and supplemental
agreements (the “Subscriptions”).
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On 28 May 2024, all conditions precedent to the Subscriptions as set
forth in the subscription agreements and supplemental agreements
have been fulfilled. Accordingly, completion of the Subscriptions took
place on 28 May 2024. The Company issued 89,000,000 Shares under the
Subscriptions. The aggregate nominal value of the subscription Shares is
HK$8,900,000. The closing price per Share was HK$0.088 was quoted on
the Stock Exchange on the date of the subscription agreement.

There are eight subscribers in total, seven of which are individual
subscribers who are PRC residents and mainly engaged in the investments
business and one of which is a limited liability company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands and is ultimately beneficially owned by a Hong Kong
resident who engaged in the investments business.

The gross proceeds of the Subscriptions was HK$8,900,000. The net
proceeds from the Subscriptions (after deduction of related costs,
expenses and fees) was approximately HK$8,400,000 (the “Net Proceeds”).
The Company has used all of the Net Proceeds for the general working
capital of the Group as of 31 December 2024.

The Directors consider that it is in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders to replenish the Group’s general working capital for its
operations and a good opportunity to broaden the shareholders base
and capital base of the Company and to further improve its gearing ratio.
Details of the Subscriptions were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 13 May 2024, 14 May 2024 and 28 May 2024.
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RIGHTS ISSUE ON THE BASIS OF ONE (1) RIGHTS
SHARE FOR EVERY TWO (2) EXISTING SHARES HELD
ON THE RECORD DATE

References are made to (i) the announcements of the Company dated
2 September 2024 and 29 October 2024 (collectively, the “Rights Issue
Announcements”) and (ii) the prospectus of the Company dated 7
October 2024 (the “Rights Issue Prospectus”) in relation to, among other
things, the Rights Issue on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every two (2)
existing Shares held by the Qualifying Shareholders on the Record Date.
Unless otherwise specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall have
the same meanings as those defined in the Rights Issue Announcements
and the Rights Issue Prospectus.

On 2 September 2024, the Company (a) announced the proposed Rights
Issue on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every two (2) existing Shares
held by the Qualifying Shareholders on the Record Date, by issuing up to
271,367,700 Rights Shares at the Subscription Price of HK$0.23 per Rights
Share.

Rights Shares

The number of Rights Shares (i) represent 50.00% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date; and (ii)
approximately 33.33% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the Rights Shares.
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Ranking of the Rights Shares

The Rights Shares, being allotted, issued and fully paid, rank pari passu in
all respects among themselves and with the Shares in issue at the time.

Price of the Rights Shares

The Subscription Price of HK$0.23 per Rights Share represented, among
others, a discount of approximately 22.03% to the closing price of
HK$0.295 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 September
2024, being the Last Trading Day.

The net price per Rights Share was approximately HK$0.226. The
aggregate nominal value of the Rights Shares was approximately
HK$27,136,770.00.

Reasons for the Rights Issue

The Directors consider that fundraising activities by the Company are
strategically significant for the Group’s growth and development at all
material times and the Rights Issue, being pre-emptive in nature, allowed
the Qualifying Shareholders to participate in the future growth and
development of the Group and at the same time offered them to maintain
their respective proportional shareholdings in the Company. Furthermore,
the Directors are of the view that the Rights Issue, as a fundraising
method, is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole for the purposes of strengthening the capital base of the Company,
increasing the Group’s operational flexibility and in turn supporting the
Company'’s continuing development and business growth. Details of the
reasons for the Rights Issue were set out in the Rights Issue Prospectus.

The Rights Issue became unconditional on 28 October 2024.
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The gross proceeds raised from the Rights Issue are approximately
HK$62.41 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue after
deducting the estimated expenses in relation to the Rights Issue are
estimated to be approximately HK$61.30 million. As disclosed in the
Rights Issue Prospectus, the Company intends to apply the net proceeds
from the Rights Issue for general working capital purpose including the
payment of construction amount to ensure the property deliveries, the
payment of tax expenses, the payment of interests for bank loans, and
other daily operating expenses such as the staff cost, the rental expense
and other maintenance expense. The Company has utilised all of the
net proceeds from the Rights Issue in accordance with the intended use
as disclosed in the Rights Issue Prospectus as at the date of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2024 are set out in note 23 to the financial statements.

SENIOR NOTES

The Company has launched an exchange offer in relation to the
outstanding senior notes on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”),
and completed the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023. 100% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$75 million senior notes
due in May 2023 (the “May 2023 Senior Notes”), and approximately 94.8%
of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$303.62
million senior notes due in October 2023 (the “October 2023 Senior
Notes"”), have been validly tendered for exchange and accepted pursuant
to the Exchange Offer. In exchange of the validly tendered May 2023
Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior Notes, the Company has issued an
aggregate principal amount of US$413,578,609 of the new notes pursuant
to the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023 (the “New Notes”). The New Notes
bear interest at 7.0% per annum and will mature on 28 April 2026 pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the relevant indenture. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 17 April 2023, 26
April 2023, 28 April 2023 and 4 May 2023.
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On 11 October 2023, the Company had launched a consent solicitation
(“Consent Solicitation”) for the New Notes and completed the Consent
Solicitation on 25 October 2023 and the Company also made an upfront
payment of 0.1% of the outstanding principal of the New Notes. Following
the completion of Consent Solicitation and payment of the upfront
principal payment, (i) the outstanding principal amount of the New Notes
was US$439,097,982; (ii) the interest rate of the New Notes was reduced
from 7.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum; (iii) the interest shall be paid
annually; (iv) the New Notes shall bear no interest from (and including)
28 April 2023 to (but excluding) 28 April 2024; (v) the interest on the New
Notes shall be paid in PIK Interest from and including 28 April 2024 to (but
not including) 28 April 2025; (vi) the interest accrued from (and including)
28 April 2025 to the maturity date shall be paid in cash; and (vii) the
maturity of the New Notes was extended from 28 April 2026 to 28 April
2029. For further details of the Consent Solicitation, please refer to the
Company'’s announcements dated 11 October 2023, 23 October 2023 and
25 October 2023.

On 11 September 2024, the Company had launched a new consent
solicitation (“Second Consent Solicitation”) for the New Notes. If the
completion of Second Consent Solicitation is to be taken place, (i) the
definition of “Permitted Business” to provide the Company with more
flexibility in exploring business opportunities will be amended; (ii)
the definition of “Mandatory Redemption upon Specified Assets Sale”
covenant and all related definitions and covenants will be removed; (iii)
provisions or definitions relating to the Permitted Indebtedness, Permitted
Lien, Asset Sale and Permitted Investment to facilitate property delivery
or social stability will be amended; (iv) the requirement to deliver an
Officers’ Certificate with respect to the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio will
be removed; and (v) the events of default provision to carve out certain
indebtedness or events will be amended. For further details of the Second
Consent Solicitation, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated
11 September 2024, 18 September 2024, 30 September 2024, 31 October
2024 and 31 March 2025.

For the details of senior notes the Company, please refer to note 24 to the
financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Board is of the opinion that the Company had complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Year.
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued Shares has been held
in public hands) as required under the Listing Rules during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

It is announced in an announcement of the Company dated 28 January
2025, a share transfer agreement was entered into, pursuant to which the
Company conditionally agreed to dispose of the Target Interests and the
same constitutes a disposal amounting to a major transaction (as defined
under the Listing Rules), and subsequent to its completion, there will be a
financial assistance as a result of the Group's provision of collaterals for the
loan borrowings of the disposed Target Group. For details please refer to
the announcements of the Company dated 28 January 2025, 21 February
2025, 5 March 2025 and 17 March 2025, and the circular of the Company
dated 19 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there were no subsequent events between the
end of the reporting period and the date of this annual report that would
have a material impact on the Group.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 17 June
2025 to 20 June 2025 by the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity of
members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 16 June 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on pages 13 to 14 of the annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risks and uncertainties of the business of the Group are principally
associated with the property market in Mainland China, and the Group'’s
income in the future will be affected by such risks and uncertainties. The
property market in Mainland China is affected by a number of factors
which include, among others, economic environment, property supply
and demand, the PRC government’s fiscal and monetary policies, taxation
policies and austerity measures on the real estate sector, etc.. The financial
risk management policies of the Group are provided in note 35 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion of the likely future development of the Company’s business is
set out on page 12 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During FY2024, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2024.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, the Directors and
other officers of the Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a director or other officer of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted indemnity provisions
are currently in force and were in force during the year ended 31
December 2024.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code. The Audit Committee consists of three independent
non-executive Directors. The three Members are Mr. Han Qinchun, the
chairman of the Audit Committee and an independent non-executive
Director, Mr. Guan Huanfei, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr. Chen Yangsheng, an independent non-executive Director. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial information of
the Company, to oversee the financial reporting process, risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to oversee the audit process, to
make recommendation on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor and to perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

The Audit Committee has jointly reviewed with the management,
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Company and
discussed internal control and financial reporting matters (including the
review of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
FY2024) of the Group. The Audit Committee considered that the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group are in compliance with
the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and all other
application legal requirements. Accordingly, the Audit Committee
recommends the Board to approve the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for FY2024.
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AUDITORS

KPMG has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 1
August 2022. The Board has appointed REANDA LAU & AU YEUNG (HK)
CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 3 August
2022 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of KPMG and to
hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 4 December 2023. The Board has appointed
Elite Partners CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 13 December 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Elite Partners CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 21 November 2024. The Board has appointed Prism
Hong Kong Limited (“Prism”) as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 22 November 2024 to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Elite Partners CPA Limited and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Prism as the auditors of the Company
for FY2025 will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The consolidated
financial statements of the Company for FY2024 have been audited by
Prism.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the auditor of the
Company in any of the preceding three years.

For and on behalf of the Board
Luo Jieping

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

AR EHE

This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report AIRERAEEEMA2024FERE - HERE
for the year 2024 issued by the Group. Adhering to the principles of JR(TESG)E - FAEEM « AlE(k - FEER
materiality, quantitative, balance, and consistency, the company will focus —BUMRRE - R AR EE IR FR A S EEESGHY IR
on the disclosure of the Group’s ESG philosophy, important progress, 2 EZER RERKRKTESE HHBEEAR
achievements, and future plans covering the period from 1 January 2024 202491 F31H=2024%12 8318 ([REHRE D) -
to 31 December 2024 (“Reporting Period”).

Reporting Principle and Guideline

mBIR AR ES

Reporting Scope

BEEE

This report is prepared mainly under the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Code (“ESG Reporting Code”) set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. A complete index is appended in the last chapter hereof for reading the
Report in accordance with the ESG Reporting Code.

R EFELREBBM EMAMECQICGEER g REamETRD(ESGHRE
SR ETHRE - ARERR —EWNBTEBESIRS] - WEEBEIRESGHRETRIMER R
%: °

The Group sets its reporting boundary to cover the environmental and social performance
within the major business segments of the Group in China. Demonstrating the principle of
materiality, the Group identifies property development to be included in this ESG report since
this segment represents the majority part of the Group’s annual operations and revenue.
Unless otherwise specified, the scope of the ESG Report is consistent with that of our ESG
report published last year. The Group will continue in assessing the impacts of its business
on the major ESG aspects and to include in the Report. Unless otherwise specified, RMB is the
monetary unit in this report.
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Data Source

BER

Our Commitments

|EEH

Report Sign-off

mRRIE

Assessment and Feedback
to the Report

BN B AR E

The data and statistics presented in this ESG Report have been collected from reliable internal
and external sources. The Group ensures the accuracy and completeness of the information
disclosed by adhering to industry best practices and verification processes. Any estimations
or assumptions made in the absence of precise data are based on standard methodologies
and aligned with regulatory requirements. The intensity disclosed for the Reporting Period
was calculated by dividing the amount of the emission/waste/resources consumption by the
Group's revenue of approximately RMB2,602.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
RESGHRE 1 2 A EUE RARET BRI R B AT SER NP FIIMBAIR - REBBREITESE
ERNBEME - BERAREERNERIEL TR - ERZBHEEIENERT » EfHE
AIERRIIRBRETAER I HAEEER - REPEARBENTEHUFRBLESE
YEREREFEERARNEEEE2024F 12 A3 B IEFENRALNARK 2602788 T
HEMS -

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of corporate responsibility, transparency,
and sustainability. We continuously strive to improve our ESG performance, mitigate risks, and
create long-term value for stakeholders. This report reflects our dedication to aligning with
global ESG frameworks and fulfilling our responsibilities towards environmental conservation,
social well-being, and strong governance.

AEBBNRBRHSEENCEERT  BRERAFEER - HMTEHS HBEHMN
ESGKRI - BBRERR - ARMRBHHTEERAEE - ARERM T HRMBAONEZRIR
ESGIERRFF—B - BITRMAERERE LB RRPABHIEMNEE -

This report has been reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2025.
The information contained herein represents the Group’s efforts in ESG management and
sustainable development for the year 2024.
ARECHEFTGN2025F3 A28 A EH RALE - RIBEMFA BRI KRAREE 2024578
ESGEIE LA K AT FHE SR 7T HIPTMENSS 1) -

You can access to the electronic version of the report from the following websites:
www.hkexnews.hk and www.youngogroup.com. We welcome feedback from stakeholders
on our ESG practices and disclosures. Your insights are valuable in helping us enhance our
sustainability strategies and reporting transparency. Please feel free to share your comments
or inquiries through our corporate communication channels or ir@youngogroup.com.

AT DB A DA T A i R AN RS B h B B B 22 BT A9 b www.hkexnews.hk J2 A & 48 uh
www.youngogroup.com © FFIEI N AR 7T B R FIMESGE B R IFBEREHRERER - &
WERHRMIGAFTHERRE RBEEAEIITEEE - SEFBBRMNCEES
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CHAPTER 1: GHKGBA HOLDINGS IN 2024
Corporate Culture

The Group integrates the concept of sustainable development into
the Group’s corporate culture. The Group strives to create an industrial
ecosystem that fosters collaboration among stakeholders, including
customers, employees, enterprises, partners, the environment, and
communities. By doing so, the Group aims to ensure mutual growth and
long-term sustainability.

The company positions itself as a New Ecological Industry City Service
Provider, with a vision of empowering the future of cities for a better life.
At the core of its entrepreneurial philosophy is the belief that learning
ability determines competitiveness. The Group upholds values of
integrity, innovation, excellence, and win-win results, guiding its business
operations and corporate responsibility initiatives.

Board Statement on ESG Governance

To all stakeholders,

The Board of Directors hereby presents the Company’s 2024 ESG report,
which continues our commitment to sustainable development and
responsible corporate practices. This report marks the 9th ESG report
issued by the Group since our first report in 2016, demonstrating
our ongoing efforts in environmental, social, and governance (ESG)
management.

The Group remains primarily engaged in the development of residential
and urban renewal projects in the Greater Bay Area. We uphold our
vision of building an industrial ecosystem that creates long-term value
for customers, employees, enterprises, partners, the environment, and
communities. Our goal is to achieve sustainable development while
ensuring mutual benefits for all stakeholders.

In 2024, the Board has continued to lead ESG governance by refining our
sustainability framework and aligning ESG objectives with the Group’s
overall business strategy and macroeconomic conditions. As part of this,
we have updated our ESG policies based on:

. Stakeholder engagement findings from key investor and community
discussions.

. Materiality assessments, ensuring we address the most significant
ESG risks and opportunities.

. Regulatory updates, including adherence to HKEX Appendix C2
requirements.
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The ESG Working Group, established under the Board'’s guidance, plays a
vital role in executing these ESG policies. Comprising senior leaders and
department heads, the working group is responsible for:

. Implementing ESG initiatives aligned with corporate strategy.

. Formulating action plans and managing ESG affairs.

. Collecting and analyzing key ESG performance indicators.

. Regularly reporting ESG progress and goal attainment to the Board.
ESG considerations continue to be fully integrated into our business
decision-making process, allowing us to proactively manage risks,
enhance transparency, and contribute to a greener and more sustainable

future. We will remain steadfast in our commitment to sustainability and
work closely with our stakeholders to create a better future.

Board of Directors
28 March 2025
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CHAPTER 2: ESG GOVERNANCE —E ESGEA
ESG Governance ESGER

The Group has established a three-tier ESG governance structure that NEBEY T —RESGE AR - IRG I IFER
ensures the integration of sustainability principles into corporate strategy, BIRAA DS AR NREBES - ZEHE
decision-making, and business operations. It comprises of the Board of BEEZS « ESGI{E/ A MESGE Z BIFXAR -
Directors, ESG Working Group, and Operational ESG Teams.

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is charged with
leading on ESG, setting ESG governance
policies and objectives, and overseeing
ESG performance.

EEg
EZEHESCEEEERE - HIEESGE
AR ETABZE > BEEESGRIE ©

ESG
Governance Structure

ESG
BRI

Executive Body
It consists of the contact persons of various
functional centers. Under the management of
the ESG Working Group, it advances the
implementation of identified material ESG
issues at respective centers and across
functional centers. It keeps close contact with
internal and external stakeholders to ensure
their understanding of and participation in the

ESG Working Group
It is composed of the leaders in charge and
heads of all the functional centers of the
Group. Authorized by the Board of Directors, it
implements ESG policies, formulates action
plans, manages ESG affairs, and regularly
reports ESG performance to the
Board of Directors.

Company’s ESG affairs. ESGT{E/4
=] ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ AEERBEFLIEERERPLESTA

B 23 B A DMV A FEESGT AR EEBROEMT  BHATEC
pus Y g T et HIFT4TEIGT 8l BIRESGE
ENEREET - HEAI N ERESGHEE AR SR EBRESGE I -
EARDR B OBERHEERT - Bpsh ’ =
RS RIS RBBE - BRIEESEEY
BRT LB RNTESGEH
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The Board is committed to the Group’s sustainable development and leads
the Group's ESG efforts. The Board leads the establishment of the Group’s
ESG policies and objectives, strengthens the identification and evaluation
of materiality issues, and oversees the Group’s ESG performance to ensure
that the policies are being implemented and enforced in an accurate and
consistent manner. The Group regularly organizes ESG training and shares
ESG-related information to raise the Board members’ awareness of ESG.

The Group has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve a diversified
board by considering various factors, including gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnic group, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, and industry experience. Boasting technical competence
and industry experience in different professions, including economy,
architecture, management, and finance, the Group’s board members
enable sound and effective decisions and corporate governance in terms
of sustainable development. Meanwhile, one out of six board members is
female. The diversification of board members brings a variety of views to
the Group’s decision-making process and helps improve the Group’s ESG
governance.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors leads the Group’s ESG governance by setting
policies, objectives, and oversight mechanisms. It is responsible for
reviewing ESG risks, evaluating the materiality of sustainability issues,
and ensuring compliance with regulatory standards and international
sustainability frameworks.

ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group consists of senior executives and department
heads, reporting directly to the Board. This group is responsible for
implementing and monitoring ESG strategies and policies, ensuring
alignment with corporate sustainability objectives. It conducts risk and
impact assessments to ensure that ESG-related goals contribute to
business growth while mitigating potential risks. Additionally, the ESG
Working Group enhances stakeholder engagement and transparency,
fostering communication between the Group and its investors, regulators,
customers, and other relevant stakeholders. The ESG Working Group
consists of senior executives and department heads, and it reports directly
to the Board.

EXeRNESASENARERR  HAKH
ESGTFAERERE - EFREBFIEAKEN
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Operational ESG Teams

At the execution level, various operational teams within business units
implement ESG initiatives according to their respective functional areas.
These teams are responsible for conducting daily ESG management
activities, ensuring regulatory compliance and ESG data collection, and
supporting the ESG Working Group in reporting and monitoring progress.
Their role is crucial in embedding sustainability principles into day-to-day
business operations, maintaining accountability, and aligning corporate
performance with long-term ESG goals. At the execution level, various
operational teams within business units implement ESG initiatives in their
respective domains.

ESG Policies and Strategic Objectives

Based on the sustainable development concept and the corporate culture
framework, the Group defines the ESG strategic policies and objectives as
follows:

ESGEZFE

FEHITER  EBIPANSEELEERRES
BB RE LI EEESGRTE - ELEKAEFRER
FESGEEEE) - REE S RMESGEIE K E -
WS IFESG TR/ MRS FIESITH R © b PIfER ]
BEZEFRIBABEEREL  REMESIN
A EERERESGRERE— R HmEEE
BMEZMER - THRTEM - EHIPIANSE
BEEKES BB EEESGETE] ©
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Stakeholders Policies Objectives

HEA BE BiE

Customers Deliver quality products and services - Continuously optimize planning, design, construction, and
service quality.
Strengthen customer satisfaction initiatives.

=P RHEELNER LIRS TEBRILRE - RET - ERERBRE -
ReEFMERERH -

Employees Promote learning, well-being, and Conduct professional and ethical training.

inclusivity Enhance workplace safety programs.
8T RESE - Ruthest EITER NEEE

Environment

RIE WAOERIEN T E
Eal
Bl
Bl
Supply Chain Foster responsible sourcing practices
and Partners
HEERAIERH BEAEENREED

Communities

Al
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Reduce environmental impact

Enhance social contributions

pIIE=Tan=-g=1 )

R TSR 25t El -

Reduce waste to landfill by 5% by 2030.

Lower energy consumption intensity by 10% by 2030.
Cut greenhouse gas emissions by 10% by 2030.
Reduce water consumption by 10% by 2030.
3120305 KB EEZE MR A 5%

120305 B TR R FEZ Z [ 1K.10% °

120305 KR = RAEHE L E R A 10%
|20304F 5 7K &R 10% °

Ensure transparency in procurement.
Strengthen ESG criteria for supplier selection.
FEIRERBBIERA o

R BUE R HVESGIRZE o

Invest in public welfare initiatives such as education,
healthcare, and poverty alleviation.

45k doc
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Stakeholders Communication and Engagement

The Group respects the voices of its stakeholders, opens a variety
of communication channels, and maintains honest and friendly iR
communication with internal and external stakeholders on an ongoing

basis.

Stakeholders
TG BR

Stakeholder Representatives

HHE AR

Tz 1508 5 BB 2 5
AEBEEENERBEINERE  AREAZK
RiE - EASMBF AR ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁm

e
BB ©

Concerns of Stakeholders

HERE T BER

Communication and Response

BBk

Governments and
regulators

BT & B s

Shareholders and
investors

PRERE A

Customers

5P

. Governments and
competent authorities at
all levels

. BRBFREEEM

. Equity investors
. Bondinvestors
. Otherinvestors

. BHREREA
. BEFREA
. EMREA

. Property owners
. Consumers

. XX
. HEZE

. Compliance operation

. Protection of rights and
interests of stakeholders

. Product reliability

. Driving economic growth

. SEARMES

. REEBEER

. EDD —.I—glE

. EERERE

. Company business and
fundamentals

. Long-term development plans

. Corporate governance and risk
control

. Investor communication

. REIFRBEREARMH

. REIBRRE

. RRVRIRHERE R E R

. REANEB

. Product quality and cost
. Information security

. Customer service

. Protection of rights

. EmEERKAK

. 5R%®

. BPR®%

. EFRE

. Strengthen corporate compliance

. Participate in government
meetings

. Respond to national policies

. BILBEAR
. Z2EARFE®
. EEBEXRER

. Improve operating performance
. Enhance governance

. Disclose information

. Hold roadshows

. Communicate via email/phone

. MEEEEE
. }ﬂE’:ﬂ—/D

. EEEE

. BE

. B E:

. Conduct pre-sale communication
. Customer satisfaction surveys

. Set up service hotline

. Communicate via website

. SENER

. BPREERAE
. IRIGEMAR

. g%lﬁ/%
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Stakeholders Stakeholder Representatives Concerns of Stakeholders Communication and Response
HEEA S B HEH K& MHEE S BER BEEEE
Employees . Allemployees . Protection of rights . Organize training
. Employee development . Improve working conditions
. Health and safety . Establish trade union
. Company participation . Conduct employee activities
BT . EEET . ENRE . AEEEI
. BI%R . BETIERG
. BEZE . BIT®
. RA2H . AEEIES
Suppliers and . Suppliers . Fair selection process . Implement responsible supply
partners . Partners . Stable financial performance chain
. Long-term partnership . Conduct site reviews
. Transparent procurement
fEmhatlE ] . RTPHEERF . TEREEHERE
B . BERH . BEVBRE . B5EE

Communities

i

Environment

R

. The communities in the
cities where the Group and
projects operate

. SBEXNIARPIEMIT
o

. The environment of the
cities where the Group and
projects operate

. SENRIERFEMISR IR
%

. REIMAERE
. BRARE

. Community ecology
. Public welfare support
. Job opportunities

. HRAERE

R

. RftsiEme

. Protection of natural
environment

. Resource rationalization

. REBARE

. BENAZER
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. Launch rural revitalization
projects

. Community activities

. Social recruitment

. BBHHREIE B

. HEREED

. MEHE

. Construct green buildings
. Improve energy efficiency
. Reduce emissions

. TERERE

. RSRERMRE

. BB
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Materiality Analysis

We have established a corresponding procedure for the regular
identification of materiality issues to respond to stakeholders’ concerns in
a timely and effective manner. The Company determines materiality issues

through the following steps:

Identification and Determination of Materiality Issues

Issue Identification

Eo ¥l E ]

Issue Ranking

A

Develop a list of issues
based on the results of the
engagement by
stakeholders in the past
and present, the Group's
development strategy and
the practice of industrial
peers.

BRI E BRI 100
FREER  ALBEE
BE - WSERT T

2% BE=E 9o
FERAB R ©

The Group's internal centers
communicate with
stakeholders and gather
feedback to assess the
importance of each issue to
the company and its
stakeholders, and to rank
the issues in order of
importance.

SEAFZHOEEN S
MR R R REEE
R AR EREE AR
RASER T BRI
BHEBNEEMEHF -

EEMTH

BFE AR EETEE BN EHIER
il RREALKEARERBBLIRL - A2
A EZERENFTELEROT

BEEMEBENEEIENE
Issue Verification Issue Report

i mE B RE

Invite external experts to
review the materiality
issues and their ranking,
and to propose

corresponding suggestions.

Have the Board of Directors
review and approve the
material issues and their
ranking.

SNIFERHERMERERE R

PEFETTERRNEE &
SHERUEENEF

HETTERBMALAE

R

Disclosure of materiality
issues in the report on a
weighted basis in
accordance with the results
of the materiality analysis.

HUESERBATS
R EREFEITA
ST OB -
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Using the above steps, we arrive at a materiality matrix and a list of issues

of importance to the Company, as follows:

BB LT8R IR

RN FIRMT

Materiality Matrix of GHKGBA Holdings
ERgERERREEM

HFZSHEATNERY

Importance to Stakeholders

BEEEREEN

iv g
sl

Importance to the Company

v

HARMEEMY

The issues were ranked in the following order: HBE AT B -

Order Issues Scope

B e ] BETEEE

1 Product and service quality Social
EmikRBES Fan--y

2 Operating results Governance
BB =)

3 Risk management, prevention and control Governance
[ e T TR B 4 A

4 Anti-corruption and anti-bribery Governance
REITH & FHRE A

5 Employees’ health and safety Social
BTREREZS Tt
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Order Issues Scope

BEF o B B

6 Protection of customer privacy and information security Social
REZEPELLEERZR e

7 Talent attraction and retention Social
AT RANERRR 1 e

8 Employment compliance Social
BRIER e

9 Employee salary and welfare Social
8 THr B 7 tHe

10 Customers’ health and safety Social
BEFRERRZE Tt

1 Employee development and training Social
8 T 3R By e

12 Product innovation Social
EmEIH o=

13 Responsible supply chain management Social
BEEHERERE e

14 Employee diversification and equal opportunity Social
BIZthFEKS e

15 Improvement of customer opinions and satisfaction surveys Social
TETFPERMMEERE P

16 Green buildings Environmental
S QYE £ RIR

17 Climate change and response capability Environmental
SRS R R 4L T B

18 Energy efficiency and greenhouse gas emissions Environmental
BEIRA S PR ER BB HEN RN

19 Waste management Environmental
BEEYE IR R

20 Water resource utilization Environmental
IKETRHA R

21 Public welfare and charity Social
INGTEE- e

22 Biodiversity Environmental
Ex/E2F4kd RIR
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Corporate Governance
Risk Management

A complete risk management system is of vital importance to the steady
growth and sustainable development of our business. We are committed
to minimizing risks to the Group, and managing and preventing risks
to achieve our business objectives. Our risk management and internal
monitoring system is as follows:

. Board: Responsible for the Group’s risk management, internal
monitoring systems, and review of results.

. Audit Committee: Conducts an annual review on the Group’s
risk management, internal monitoring systems, and judges the
effectiveness of relevant systems.

. Legal Department: Offers legal opinions for the Group’s business
decision-making and responds to external risks through legal
examination.

. Audit and Supervision Center: Reviews and assesses the compliance
of the internal control system, organization structure, rules and
regulations, and internal policies.

The Group reduces risks and losses through proactive and systematic
identification, evaluation, and monitoring of project risks throughout the
entire process. As for financial risks, we take into account risk and debt
affordability and make scientific decisions on total financing to ensure a
healthy and safe capital structure.

In terms of investment, we have centralized our investment development
business to the Group headquarters for unified prejudgment and post-
investment project risk control. The Group has established a full set of
project investment risk judgment criteria, covering the impacts of the
projects on communities and the environment. Precise and effective
supervision is exercised based on project risk identification.

The Group carried out a comprehensive audit and urged the rectification
of problems discovered in the audit. A complete closed-loop management
system was established. The annual audit covered 13 items, including
engineering settlement review, regular audit, special audit, off-office audit,
etc.. By optimizing and innovating the audit mechanism, carrying out pre-
audit self-examination, and timely rectifying the problems discovered in
self-examination, we have successfully improved the efficiency of audit
and supervision.
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Anti-Corruption and Commercial Bribery

The Group has issued Practical Guidelines for Reporting Misconduct,
Practical Guidelines for the Prevention and Investigation of Misconduct,
Code of Ethics for Audit and Supervisory Personnel, and Code of Integrity
for GHKGBA Holdings Employees. These policies explicitly set out the
procedures for investigating and handling corruption, the prevention of
commercial bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering, and clearly
define the roles and responsibilities of employees.

We manage and control risks through three processes: beforehand
education, in-process supervision and control, and subsequent
investigation and punishment. Responding to the strategy of “complete
coverage of audit and supervision”, we extend our anti-corruption work
to cover the whole business to minimize commercial risks caused by
business misconduct.

To further implement the audit and supervision principles of the Board,
“Complete Coverage with No Exclusion Zone and Zero Tolerance”, the
Group has launched integrity campaigns in diversified forms, such as
publishing integrity posters, anti-corruption information of the industry,
and special audit announcements, providing integrity training, and
releasing special audit announcements.

During the Reporting Period, we conducted an anti-corruption and anti-
bribery training for the Company management and employees. It has
also launched an integrity awareness program for all new employees to
ensure they regularly receive the latest news and understanding on anti-
corruption and anti-bribery. The integrity training focuses on introducing
anti-corruption measures at home and abroad, anti-corruption trends in
the industry, the latest revised regulations, the internal anti-corruption
management policy, etc..

During the Reporting Period, one of our employees has been sentenced
by a local court for duty encroachment. The Group will further strengthen
special internal audits of its subsidiaries. In the process of selecting and
appointing project leaders, the investigation of their professional ethics,
work experience and integrity record should be strengthened, and the
personnel with both virtue and ability should be selected as the project
leaders.
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REBERABCREEZRLTRBRIERES]) - (FEY
MEREXERLRITRIERIESD  (BRERAR
BEEmEl) (BEREEREBB TRETR
ZRDEHIE - AERBRASEEREF - B
X - BR - BGF - REFTREL - BWE

HFIRESAMERES FPEEILERERS
SREX=ZBRRELERE BRI ETER2E
EIBE 2EEEXRY  RARERERESTE
BRI GEE

MESTERTERA AEERRTAZEOR
REFERE  BRTHBREARZE®R TERE
EEREREFAE  FARETIRERESEI
BMBEREFA LSS -

RI|BEHRE - RA/LREEERE TRHRE
Mgl MEtH2RMARBE IHEFRZANEE
& HREITHERWEIIREBHR RESFHEH
MBS BREEIEMR - REFIANBTIBSR
BASNRBRNGE - TEARZFEEFHE - KHE
FIHYER N ABRBRERSESETH -

R EHRE - B E TEBB RIS ENE
HoERE HIERHIET NS B & E — N5k H S
RAMETANBERET  AERARANERIER
BIET - REBIRER - TEEE - B0
TENER  BRETREOABETIERER
A o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

51



52

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 1818 « 2 N EBMRE

Reporting and Whistleblower Protection

The Group has issued Operational Guidelines for Reporting Misconduct and
established the case reporting response mechanism. A complete reported
case acceptance process has been set up, which comprises 5 steps:
preliminary due diligence, material consulting, investigation, hearing,
and final report development. We will promptly handle the complaint
and provide feedback to the whistleblower. We have in place multiple
whistleblowing channels, both online and offline, including hotline, email,
and WeChat. We also encourage employees and business partners to
report any suspicious or improper behaviors to the Company.

In addition, the whistleblower protection mechanism has been built based
on which personal information of whistleblowers will be kept confidential,
and any threat against whistleblowers will be dealt with seriously.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

The Group attaches great importance to protecting intellectual property
rights (IPRs). In strict accordance with the laws and regulations, including
the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of
China, and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China,
we are committed to improving the management of IPRs, the registration
and maintenance of IPRs, protecting the legitimate rights and interests
according to law, as well as fully respecting the IPRs of other companies to
avoid conflict and oppose unfair competition.

To better promote IPR protection, the Group has established multiple
policies, including the Trademark Management Policy, with various
departments working together.

CHAPTER 3:'CUSTOMER FOREMOST' PRINCIPLE AND
QUALITY SERVICE

Creating Choice Projects with Elaborate Design

The Group pays close attention to every detail of its projects, from
conceptual design to final implementation. Aiming to design products
that embody people’s aspirations for a better life into reality, we are
committed to bringing products and functions to life and visualizing
the homecoming experience in detail, creating a humanistic residential
community that meets the quality of life requirements of the new
generation.

Delivery of Project

As a representative of the Group’s high-quality delivering projects, the
Dahu Project is located in Dongguan. North to Tangkeng Reservoir, it
boasts superior landscape resources.
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During the planning and design phase, the layout of the building was
optimized to take into account the shape of the plot and the surrounding
environment. The staggered layout of the building was used to improve
the building’s sight distance and create a building that is the center of
attention.

In facade design, we maximized the use of facade windows to create
modern facade decorations, allowing residents to not only enjoy the
comfort of the internal living space but also appreciate the beauty of the
building’s exterior.

In outdoor landscape design, the emphasis was on creating a distinctive
entrance image, bringing life to the outdoor scene, and materializing
everyday life scenarios to make living more warm and welcoming.

Guarantee Product Quality and Safety
Product Quality Control

To deliver healthy, safe, and quality products to our customers, the
Group has established a life-cycle quality control system from design to
construction to usage.

The Company designs products in accordance with the Construction Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Unified Standards for Civil Building Design,
and other administrative rules and regulations. The Company executes
construction strictly, complying with relevant laws and regulations,
construction techniques, technical standards, and engineering standards
and promotes the popularization of new technologies such as aluminum
mold climbing scaffold, high-precision blocks, and thin plastering.

The Group has strictly controlled product safety and quality, building
quality, and environmental performance of projects such as the Huahai
Project. Based on the four exquisite technology systems, namely:

. Aluminum mold climbing scaffold system;

. Exterior wall made with cast-in-situ concrete;

. Mingyuan intelligent management system; and

. BIM information processing.

The Group has completed this quality project in the Greater Bay Area and
has offered the quality residential community for people in Dongguan.

In the meantime, the Group also provides specific requirements for
common processes to guarantee stable product quality.
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Safe and Civilized Construction

Upholding the standards of “safety first, prevention focus, civilized
construction, comprehensive governance”, the Group requires
construction units to comply with relevant laws and regulations and
safety management systems and conducts self-examination and self-
correction in multiple ways, including monthly quantitative inspection,
weekly self-examination on special items, and daily patrol inspection,
thereby enhancing employees’ awareness of safe production and ability
to prevent risks.

While guaranteeing safe production, we also emphasize civilized
construction and strive to create green and environmentally friendly
projects. We integrate the concept of safe and civilized construction in our
management of the whole project by preparing special programs for safe
and civilized construction, dust control, and equipping sound flushing
equipment.

Our Humen Project and Huahai Project were commended as
“Demonstration Construction Site for Safe Production and Civilized
Construction in Dongguan”.

Improve Customer Experience and Services

Diversified Channels of Communication and Interaction with
Customers

We attach great importance to communication with customers, as we can
understand customers’ demands through communication and provide
them with more considerate services accordingly. Good communication
also contributes to the brand image of the Group .

We organize activities such as community picnics, reading events,
parenting workshops, charity marketing, concerts, and festival activities in
the communities where projects operate, promoting the green, healthy,
environmentally friendly, and low-carbon lifestyle, advocating loving
reading, yearning for a better life, and holding a positive life attitude.
Also, customers can relax and enjoy themselves in these recreational and
entertainment activities.

We inform property owners of the project progress and construction
results through Construction Site Open Days, electronic brochures, paper
brochures, and other means. On major holidays and customers’ birthdays,
we extend our best regards to customers via electronic greeting cards,
short messages, and small gifts. The information on major activities and
matters related to the project will be sent to the property owners through
the public official account of the project.
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Improve Customer Satisfaction, Actively Respond to Customer Appeals

Customer satisfaction is the core driving force of our development.
Covering the Company’s history, classical project cases, and founders
charity efforts, this training aimed to introduce the Company’s history
and corporate culture to marketing staff and call on them to respond
to the core of the Company’s corporate culture and practice codes for
responsibility, professionalism, and customer orientation.

’

The Group also made customer satisfaction a performance assessment
indicator for marketing management to educate marketing managers
on their awareness of customer satisfaction based on performance
assessment and cultivate the customer-foremost values in the marketing
team.

During the Reporting Period, the Company received 132 products and
service related complaints from the customers and they were all dealt
with utmost care and quickness.

Responsible Marketing
Managing the Entire Marketing Process

To achieve compliance and standardization of the Group’s marketing
management, we have formulated relevant professional standardized
processes for different stages, including pre-sale, sale, and after-
sale activities. All marketing staff are aware of the Group’s regulatory
requirements, ensuring that all activities, including marketing, advertising,
and sales content, follow strict rules, standards, and laws.

Before the Sale

1. Design Training: Architects train sales representatives on design
concepts, styles, product parameters, and other project information
to strengthen their understanding of the product.

2. Legal Training: Lawyers provide training on compliance with
Advertisement Law to ensure that advertising materials are
compliant and truthful.

3. Customer Relationship Management (CRM) Training: Supervisors
train representatives on customer interaction standards.

4.  Engineering Training: Project engineers train sales representatives
on technical aspects of projects.
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During the Sale

Any question raised by customers about the project that the sales
representative cannot answer is sent to the specialized department via
email by the Marketing Management Center.

After the Sale

The Group will conduct three stages of telephone callbacks: post-contract,
pre-occupancy, and post-occupancy, to track customer satisfaction.

Protection of Customer Privacy

The Group follows a strict confidentiality policy regarding customer data,
implementing a multilevel authorization system to safeguard information.
Specialized IT staff are assigned to maintain network security and protect
against cyber threats. Additionally, the Group conducts specialized
customer information management training for all marketing staff,
reinforcing data protection protocols and ethical handling of customer
information.

CHAPTER 4: EMPLOYEE AND TALENT DEVELOPMENT
Protection of Employees’ Rights and Interests
Diversification and Equal Treatment

The Group strictly complies with the Civil Code of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and other laws and regulations.
We are committed to establishing a diverse and equal employment
relationship and to respecting and embracing the differences of our
employees.

Furthermore, the Company complies with the existing Equal Opportunity
and Diversity Policy to create an equal, inclusive, and supportive work
environment for all employees, and practically protect employees’
legal rights and interests in employment, job transfer, cultivation, and
development.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 194 employees
with female workforce representing approximately 39.7%. Within the
management tier, there were 14 female employees. The employee

structure is as follows:

Total Workforce by Gender, Employment Type, Age Group and

BHE2024F 127318 - AEBESBEEAE194A -
H & BB 4939.7% - BB ML MES H14

%o REBBWT

BME - EIREE - FleAE 5 R EE T 1 E

Geographical Region =Fk

Total Number of Workers Unit

ETHAR By 2024
By gender

gz E-b)

Male workers Person 117
SMET A

Female workers Person 77
ZHEET A

By employment type

REEELE S

Full-time Person 194
o A

Part-time Person =
FREL A

By age group

RERERE D

Under 30 years old Person 14
<30 E L A

30-50 years old Person 159
30-50p% 8 T A

Over 50 years old Person 21
>50 BT A

By educational background

REBREE S

Doctoral Person 1
Br2E A

Master Person 8
E+E2FE A

Bachelor Person 100
RSB i A

Other educational background Person 85
H th ZBJFE A

By position

RIEREMED

Management staff Person 55
EREET A

Execution staff Person 139
HITHET A
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Total Number of Workers Unit

BIRAH B 2024
By geographical region

RiLEE S

Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan Person 3
ERE A

Chinese mainland Person 191
EEpN =5 A

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s employee turnover rate
(calculated by dividing the number of departed employee by the average
number of employees in the specified category) is as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate by Gender, Age Group and Geographical

Region

Unit
B

RmEHE  ARENRE R X (ZBERES
ABFRARFEARIRFHIREABPAAE)WT

BIF - FERAAPIR M ES T 1 IES A LE

2024

Total Turnover Rate of Employee

BRmALE =R

By gender

RERIE D

Male workers

SHET

Female workers
ZHET

By age group
RERARE D

Under 30 years old
<30 BT

30-50 years old
30-505% 8 L

Over 50 years old
>50 8 T

By geographical region
RLEE S

Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
BRAE

Chinese mainland
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Talent Acquisition and Assessment

Adhering to the people-oriented principle, the Group has made
continuous efforts to attract and cultivate excellent talents in the
industry. The Company manages the talent recruitment process strictly
in accordance with the Operating Instructions for Annual Human Resources
Planning and Operating Instructions for Recruitment and Admission
Management. At least three candidates are nominated for each position,
and the selected candidates undergo qualification and information
verification to ensure a transparent, open, and fair recruitment process.

The Company also strictly observes the existing Child Labor and Forced
Labor Prevention Policy. We prohibit the employment of illegal and
forced labor in any form; in our business activities, we strictly verify the
identity information of candidates as a preventive measure. If we find
any violations, we will deal with them in strict accordance with the laws
and regulations. We also require our suppliers to comply with relevant
laws and regulations. The Group is not aware of any incident of non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to anti-child and
anti-forced labor practices at all operating regions during the Reporting
Period.

The Group complies with Performance Appraisal Management Policy and
Operating Instructions for Employee Rewards and Punishment Management
and guarantees open and equal opportunities in employee assessment,
rewards, punishments, and promotion.

Employee Communication and Complaints

Being deeply aware of the importance of efficient communication at
work, the Group has developed its own office system and established
a transparent, open, flexible, and convenient platform for internal
communication by means of email, WeChat, etc..

We also maintain the effective operation of the internal complaint
mechanism and channels, by which employees can timely report their
problems. In this way, we can timely respond to their appeals and protect
their legal rights and interests.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group has established a comprehensive and systematic safe
production management system strictly according to the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety and other relevant laws and
regulations. We are dedicated to creating a healthy and safe environment
for all employees and persons associated with the Company’s business.
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At the construction sites of projects, the project companies ensure the
safe and civilized construction of projects and employee safety from six
dimensions including safety consciousness, fire protection management,
and equipment management, pursuant to the management requirements
provided in the GHKGBA Holdings Safety and Civilization Visualization
Management Standards 1.0 and measures such as project self-inspection,
patrol inspection by the Group, mandatory ranking of the inspection
results, and internal public notification. The Group did not have any
serious work-related injuries and lost day due to work injury during the
Reporting Period. There was no record of work-related fatality in the past
three reporting years.

Employee Training and Development
Training and Capacity Building

In addition to onboarding training for new employees, the Group
organized various training sessions during the Reporting Period, covering
business, industry policies and regulations, project management, and
marketing strategy. Employees have improved their professional skills and
comprehensive strength and achieved personal development through
these training programs.

Moreover, the Company carried out fire drills regularly to provide
employees with safety protection training, establish an emergency
response mechanism, and improve its ability to cope with risks.

During the Reporting Period, a total of 2,450 hours of training was
received by the Group’s employees. The average number of training hours
that each employee received was approximately 8.69 hours.

EEABTIHES  FHEEQARBRRRE(E /7%/“
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Number of Percentage of Average training
employees trained employees trained hours per employee
FZIAR ZIEEES EEFIHZINRH
Person-times % Hour
AR % /N
By gender RUERIEl D

Male workers B8 213 100 8.75
Female workers ZHEET 69 90 8.49

By position RIERMED
Management employees EEEET 48 87 4.00
Execution employees BITEET 234 100 9.65
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Employee Benefits and Care
Employee Benefits

Abiding by Operating Instructions for Remuneration Management and
Operating Instructions for Employee Benefits Management and relevant
benefits policies, the Group emphasizes employee benefits, increases
investments in employee resources, and enforces a benefit management
system consisting of both statutory benefits and supplementary benefits
to enhance employees’ sense of happiness and belonging.

During the Reporting Period, the Group provided the staff with paid
leave (annual leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave,
paternity leave, and family planning leave), communication subsidies,
meal allowances, or canteen meals.

Employee Care

The Group is committed to the concept of working happily and living
healthily to create a harmonious and intimate working atmosphere
for employees. During the Reporting Period, the Company launched
a number of group activities such as International Women'’s Day DIY
activities and winter solstice dumpling sharing. In addition, the Company
also gave out gifts on Father's Day and Mid-Autumn Festival. By these
means, we enhanced employees’ sense of belonging and happiness and
promoted employees’ physical and mental health.

CHAPTER 5: ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION AND
CLIMATE CHANGE

Green Operations

The Group attaches great importance to its impact on the environment
and climate and practices the concept of green operations. Complying with
the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, we
formulated and implemented internal standards, measures, and process
instructions to ensure continuous improvement in our environmental
performance throughout the life cycle of our operations.

Moreover, by developing the Environmental Protection Policy and Climate
Change Policy, the Company has established its environmental protection
policy system to contribute to the Company’s green development.
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made the following efforts in RERERME - ARESEERERE - BFEARBUE

energy conservation, low-carbon emission, cost reduction, and efficiency FEFEMTUATIE:
improvement:
Emission Calculation BB E

The Company has started calculating the emissions from this year onwards RAREARFRERRIGTTEYNE - RIEHE
to take the responsibility of its operations. The scope 1 and scope 2 EEMT - #MEN REE 2P E A S EFT AR
emissions were accounted for along with the pollutants — Nitrogen oxides EERSEY—RETNO,) « HEAL(S0) K&
(NO,), Sulphur oxides (SO,) and particulate matter (PM) from the fuel used R (PM)— [RFI B °

by the Group.
Indicators Unit
BE B 2024
SCOPE 1 TCO,e 73.48
#HE1 WE—SULIRE S
- Emissions from stationary sources TCO,e 5.85
— EERBENE WE—SUtiRE 2
- Emissions from mobile sources TCO,e 67.63
— BEREEME MR — S LR E 2
SCOPE 2 TCO,e 6,912.08
#E2 WE—SULIRE S
Total Emission (Scope 1 and Scope 2) TCO,e 6,985.56
ke (EE REE2) WE_SUbiRE 2
Energy Utilization BER A

By 2030, the Company aims to reduce energy consumption intensity by F2030%F - AR EIH BIRELA2021F B ERESF -
10%, using 2021 as the base year. To achieve this target, the Company has 1S e R BFEREREK10% - BEIRE—BIR - K
implemented various energy-saving measures across office spaces and NEVER RIS FGRE T E S EE LB E o
construction sites. Heat insulation films have been installed on office glass ERNERR ERERME - NN EFRE
to minimize heat absorption during summer, reducing the need for air ~ #MFEH Z=RHOFR - ERIBAFFHBERLT
conditioning. When temperatures permit, air-conditioners are switched RAFAZE - SETFFIE B ARE - fEFH K&
off, and natural ventilation is encouraged by opening doors and windows. MErERERBIRTRE - [ TIHEFBEAER Rz
Awareness campaigns, including warm reminder signs such as “Please A SR {LETREE R o

turn off the lights and air-conditioners after work”, have been placed near

switches and doors to reinforce energy-conscious behaviour.

62  GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED & /& &1 iR AR A 7



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IR1E - 2R ERXRHRE

In addition, the Company actively adopts advanced energy-saving
and emission-reduction technologies, such as LED lighting systems, to
enhance efficiency. The use of new energy-powered sprinkler trucks
and patrol vehicles further minimizes gasoline and diesel consumption.
Furthermore, a paperless office initiative is being promoted to significantly
reduce paper usage. To ensure compliance with these energy-saving
practices, designated personnel conduct regular inspections, reinforcing
the Company’s commitment to sustainability and efficient resource
management.

ESN - R B FEMRER A S A B0 B BE R R £ AT - 4P
LEDEREA R4t - AR AREK - EAFRERIEEN R
IKE R E - — U R SR B RERE =
1K o tbsh - BHETT T B AKEHE - AKIRR
PHRRERE - RERETHEEERR - 5E
ABEHETIRE - LINRA R BH B R
RBBEREIRHAGH ©

Energy Consumption Unit

BERH#E By 2024
Purchased electricity KWh 10,472,841.60
SNBE S FEE

Solar power generation KWh 196,256.00
AIGELEE TR

Total Electricity Consumed KWh 10,669,097.60
BFEEE TR

Water Resource Utilization

The Group has enhanced project water resource management by
continuously upgrading its water resource management system,
incorporating improvements in equipment, technology, and efficiency to
optimize water utilization. Water is sourced directly from the municipal
supply for general operational needs, while bottled and barrelled water is
procured externally to ensure safe drinking water for employees.

To further promote water conservation, the Group has implemented
various water-saving initiatives, including optimizing water usage in
operations, installing water-efficient fixtures, and raising awareness
among employees about responsible water consumption.

The following table shows the water consumption details:

KEIRFH
REEBBTHAREKEREERS 25K
&~ BT RRE - BeKERFIAE - J1s8IEH
KERERE - AEBEBEMETBREKZFZERUK -
LU R — BB TSk - RIFFIEINIP R BB E K
EK - UERE THRAKEE -

RAE—SRERK  NEEER T ZREKE
M- BIEEBEERK - REFGKEE RS 8
THASTRAKORHE -

TRIIBIIAKEFS -

Indicators Unit

EBE By 2024
Office water consumption m?3 86,060.80
WARKE SR

Production water (construction site) m3 41,070.10
HERKCGERETM) SR

Total water consumption m?3 127,130.90
BWHEKE AV PN

Water intensity m3/million revenue in RMB 48.85

K=

MR AR E ST
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Waste Management

The Group improved the waste management system to ensure effective
waste generation, recycling, and reuse during project construction.
Measures such as economic utilization, unified recovery, and recycling
were taken to minimize waste generation in daily operations.

For hazardous waste, the Company has classified collection and storage,
and it entrusts qualified hazardous waste transportation companies to
transport. For non-hazardous waste, it aims to reduce the amount of waste
generated at the source, followed by classified recycling and reuse.

The Company has offered canteen services to all employees since last
two years at the head office. Employees could enjoy meals based on
personal preferences, which enhanced employees’ sense of happiness
and belonging while significantly reducing food waste and the use of
disposable food containers.

Following is the bifurcation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group:

BRYEE

FEBETETEEWERGE - RRERER
BIZFEEYNAREL - MREBMA - £H
FEZP  RREENA - - BERAA
S5 BERDERMNEL -

48

INBERRY  ARRETOBEREREE
RAAEENBERREYERARIETER - B
REEEZRY - RERE DR BEEYNES
B NRETORRKR R BAE -

‘HE

BEMER  ARBIEEBSABEEIRHRE
R#% - ETAIMREBEEAZSHZRER - EER
TEINERRELEER  FAFEAXRS TR
YIRE N —RIERMBRREER o

TRAAKEEEMNAEERMREZERZDH

DERER

Hazardous Waste Unit

BEBEY By 2024
Waste tubes, bulbs, batteries, and other products Tonnes 0.035
EERE - B8 M REMER 7

Discard toner cartridge, ink cartridge, etc. Tonnes 0.066
FEEME - BRE A

Total Hazardous Waste Tonnes 0.101
BEREEDHESE g

Non-hazardous Waste Unit

BEBREY By 2024
Earthwork waste (sent to landfills) Tonnes 1,100.00
75 TREREY CAENIERES) Mg

Earthwork waste (backfill) Tonnes 520.00
T TiRREZEY (EE) TA

Kitchen waste Tonnes 2.74
B = R ]

General office waste (recyclable) Tonnes 1.20
—MR I A REZEY) (R E1H) i

General office waste (not recyclable) Tonnes 3.88
—MPREEZEY (A=) 1A

Total Non-hazardous Waste Tonnes 1,627.82
EEEEVRS A
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Natural Ecosystem and Biodiversity Protection

The Company conducted environmental impact assessments before
starting projects to ensure that project plans align with local ecological
conditions. This practice helps to reduce impacts on the natural ecosystem
and biodiversity, promoting ecosystem restoration after project
completion.

Response to Climate Change

Climate change may lead to physical risks and risks associated with the
transition to a low-carbon economy. The Group identifies and manages
the physical and transition risks caused by climate change. We integrate
ecological considerations, green practices, and climate change risk
management into our projects.

The Group implements green controls throughout the project lifecycle,
from project management and design to development and operations,
ensuring an adaptive and comprehensive response to climate change.

Mitigating Climate Change

The Company actively works on energy conservation by:

. Integrating energy efficiency considerations into design,
construction, and operation.

. Factoring energy efficiency into the procurement process.

. Exploring renewable energy utilization where economically feasible
and desirable.

. Encouraging employees, suppliers, and customers to minimize their
carbon emissions in daily activities.

Improving Adaptation and Response to Climate Change

. Incorporating climate-related risks into risk management and
internal control systems.

. Evaluating climate-related physical and transition risks that could
affect business operations.

. Conducting climate resilience assessments of properties and
promoting low-carbon and climate-resilient building practices.
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Green Project Construction
Green Design

During the investment stage of projects, the Company places great
importance on sustainable project design. We conduct discussions with
designers on:

. Green building design;

. Environmental compliance;

. Protection of biodiversity;

. Nature-friendly design; and

. Community environmental impact.

The aim is to ensure that projects do not harm surrounding ecosystems
while supporting sustainable investment and development.

Green Bidding and Procurement

. Partnering with suppliers to enhance sustainability in production
and operations.

. Implementing supplier management measures to assess
performance in pollutant control, water use, energy use, and waste
reduction.

. Using environmentally friendly materials and green products.

The Group has adopted NEA insulation leveling gel as an environmentally
efficient building material that has received the Green Building Materials
Logo and 3-Star Certification for energy-saving performance.

Green Construction

During the construction process, the Group implements measures
to conserve energy, land, water, and materials while minimizing
environmental impact through appropriate technologies and scientific
management.
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Resource Conservation

Water Conservation: The Group efficiently manages water resources
in development projects by installing water conservation signs to
promote awareness.

Energy Conservation: Energy-saving technologies include LED
lighting, electronic ballast for gas discharge lamps, new energy
sprinklers, and patrol cars to reduce fuel consumption. The Group
also promotes paperless office practices to minimize paper use.

Material Conservation: The Company uses aluminum formwork, all-
steel climbing scaffolds, and reusable construction materials, along
with GRC and GLC lightweight partition boards and high-precision
blocks.

Pollutant Control

Waste Disposal: Separating domestic, hazardous, and non-
hazardous construction waste for proper recycling and disposal.

Sewage Treatment: Installing drainage ditches, sedimentation tanks,
grease traps, and septic tanks at construction sites to treat sewage
and meet environmental standards before discharge. Treated
effluent is recycled for landscape watering, dust control, and flushing
facilities.

Dust Control: The Group monitors dust levels in real-time and applies
dust control measures such as anti-dust trucks, dust settling spray
equipment, and wet operation techniques to reduce atmospheric
pollution.

Noise Management: Noise monitoring systems are installed at
construction sites to ensure compliance with noise pollution control
regulations. Temporary mobile noise barriers are used in noisy
construction areas, and the use of horns is prohibited at sites.

Green Building

With the official implementation of the Green Building Evaluation Standard
(GB50378-2019), along with the Guangdong Green Building Design
Standards (DBJ/T15-201-2020) and Guangdong Public Building Energy
Saving Design Standards (DBJ/T15-51-2020), the Group complies with the
latest green building regulations.

The Company will proactively promote new projects in line with green

building standards, aiming to achieve various green building certifications.
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CHAPTER 6: WIN-WIN SITUATION: PARTNER
COLLABORATIONS

Improve Supply Chain Management

The Group enforces a full life-cycle supply chain ecosystem management
process, from the introduction of suppliers to daily evaluations and their
exit from the supply chain. The Group has advanced the development
of a responsible supply chain by strengthening institutional frameworks
and standardizing procurement procedures. The Group performs midyear
and year-end supplier performance evaluation, after-sales maintenance
assessment, and the admission process for general contractors and
subcontractors.

With the support of the Qigitong supplier management platform, the
Group has streamlined business management processes, shortened
supplier onboarding cycles, reduced procurement costs, and improved
overall cash flow management. This has led to the establishment of a more
efficient and intelligent supply chain. Before introducing new suppliers,
the Company conducts a rigorous pre-qualification process, verifying
key credentials such as the Business License, Construction Enterprise
Qualification Certificate, Safe Production Permit, and ISO Certification
System. Once verified, suppliers proceed through an inspection and
onboarding process.

To maintain supplier accountability, the Company tracks supplier
qualifications, compliance certifications, and other key information. If
a supplier undergoes significant business changes, such as a change in
legal representation, adjustments in business scope, or modifications in
qualification grading, the bidding and procurement department initiates
a re-evaluation process. Suppliers must pass these inspections before
being allowed to participate in bidding processes. Newly registered
suppliers undergo a thorough qualification assessment, with relevant
departments summarizing and reviewing their compliance. Any supplier
found to have maliciously violated contract terms, causing significant
losses or operational risks, is subject to blacklisting. During the Reporting
Period, the Group implemented targeted supplier engagement measures
to ensure continued efficiency and compliance within its existing supplier
network.
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Classification and Evaluation of Suppliers and Communication

The Group employs a classified and stratified approach to supplier
management. Suppliers that have successfully completed contracts are
categorized based on performance, and newly registered suppliers are
assigned to specific classifications. This allows for an organized selection
of suppliers for bidding, ensuring a fair and impartial quotation process.
Quality suppliers are identified through this structured evaluation system.

The supplier assessment process involves several stages, including
grading, elimination, and performance management. Suppliers are
assigned a rating based on qualification validity, contract fulfillment,
and business continuity. Expiring qualifications or inactive suppliers
are flagged to minimize procurement risks. If performance issues arise,
the results of supplier evaluations are applied to determine necessary
corrective actions, including rating adjustments or termination of
contracts.

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted two performance
evaluations — one at midyear and another at year-end. Suppliers were
rated as A, B, C, or Unqualified based on criteria such as environmental
responsibility, construction quality, project timelines, adherence to
safety and labor standards, and overall business management. Based on
these evaluations, suppliers with A or B ratings received cash rewards
and incentives. Unqualified suppliers, or those consistently failing to
meet expectations, were blacklisted and excluded from future bidding
processes.

For after-sales maintenance, the bidding and procurement department
worked with relevant property teams to evaluate supplier services
post-contract. These evaluations were conducted by at least three
representatives from different departments to ensure objectivity. Suppliers
receiving below a Grade C rating were disqualified from receiving after-
sales maintenance payments. The final results were compiled and
reported to the procurement department for further decision-making.
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Following is the number of suppliers the Gorup deals with divided by
geographical region:

Geographical Region

AT RiEEomEREEEXBERNHRE
EHE -

b33 2024
Eastern China 82
HEE MG

South China 221
iR

Central China 25
&

North China 4
bbb

Northwest China 4
Gisplgzl

Southwest China 20
icfeapal

Total 356
Mt

Supplier Risk Management REFREREE

The Group actively identifies and controls environmental, social, and REEEHRBWIEHHERANNIRE gk
governance (ESG) risks within its supply chain. By mitigating these risks, EVR(ESG) A o BB EZER R - ARBRE

the Company ensures the operational resilience of its supply network. The
Group has cultivated multiple supplier channels across different regions
to reduce dependency on a single supplier and to avoid disruptions that
may arise due to operational failures or supply chain bottlenecks. Instead
of relying solely on one supplier for critical materials or products, the
Group has implemented a diversified supplier strategy to ensure stability
in procurement and reduce exposure to ESG-related risks.

To further secure supply chain operations, the Company evaluates
geographical risks in procurement. This measure helps prevent crises
that could arise from disruptions in raw material supply, such as regional
instability or force majeure events. If a specific supply region is impacted,
the Group ensures that alternative suppliers are in place to maintain
operational continuity.
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Establishing Sincere Partnerships in the Supply Chain

Building strong supplier partnerships plays a crucial role in reducing
structural costs within the supply chain and improving overall operational
efficiency. The Company places great emphasis on fostering long-
term relationships with key suppliers by enhancing contract terms and
strengthening collaboration mechanisms. These agreements not only
provide stability in procurement processes but also encourage mutual
growth and cooperation.

All bidding documents issued by the Group include an Integrity
Agreement, which mandates that all bidders comply with national
procurement laws and regulations, including the Government
Procurement Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Laws of the
People’s Republic of China on Tenders and Bids, and the Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China. The Group strictly adheres to ethical
business practices, ensuring that all procurement activities are conducted
transparently and without violation of legal or regulatory frameworks.

Conveying a Sense of Responsibility

The Group actively communicates its commitment to sustainable
development to its suppliers and expects them to uphold the highest
standards of ethics, integrity, and fairness. By fostering responsible
business practices, the Group ensures that suppliers align with corporate
social responsibility objectives, including employee welfare, customer
protection, and broader societal benefits. The Company actively integrates
social responsibility into its business operations by promoting supplier
initiatives that contribute to local communities and facilitate shared
progress between businesses and society.

Promoting Industry Communication

The Group is committed to fostering long-term cooperation with its
partners through transparent communication and joint development
initiatives. Regular industry meetings and knowledge-sharing sessions are
conducted to enhance supplier engagement and build stronger business
relationships. Through these efforts, the Group facilitates discussions
on corporate culture, business strategies, customer service models,
supplier management frameworks, employee training programs, and
environmental sustainability.

This collaborative approach enables suppliers to gain deeper insights into
the Group’s operational requirements and quality standards. As a result,
the efficiency of supplier partnerships improves, leading to more seamless
cooperation and mutual business growth.
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CHAPTER 7: SOCIAL INITIATIVES
Strengthening the Bond with Communities
Practice Public Welfare and Charity

We actively fulfill our corporate social responsibilities and obligations
and are continuously committed to public welfare undertakings. In order
to further optimize the management of public welfare and charity, we
have established Charity Policy ( ¥ & B 3 ) ). This policy clarifies our
spirit and purpose in promoting public welfare and charity projects, and
standardizes the approval process for charity and public welfare programs.

Moreover, it ensures the strict supervision over relevant plans and
decisions by relevant departments and the management, and matches our
community investment with the needs and interests of the community to
exert positive influence on the society.

Support the Community

We are always concerned about the needs of the community, striving to
understand the needs of community residents through various channels.
As we are committed to the harmony with the community and the
development of the community, we encourage our employees to take
part in diversified volunteer activities and give back to the society.
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIEE B 202484 2023845
A. Environment
AJRIE
A1.1  Emission types and relevant emission data
BERU RS S AR B B
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) Tonnes 0.02 0.04
REYINO,) Mg
Sulfur oxides (SO,) Tonnes 0.0005 0.001
mEc(S0,) WA
Particulate matter (PM) Tonnes 0.002 0.003
FERIP(PM) ]
A1.2  Greenhouse gas emission
BERBEBEN
Scope I: Direct greenhouse gas emission’ Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 7348 1,193.14
#HE—  EERERBYR WE—bIRE S
Scope II: Indirect greenhouse gas emission? Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 6,912.08 5,270.57
#HE= - FAEREREHR WE—_SUbiRE 2
Total greenhouse gas emission? Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 6,985.56 6,463.72
mERBINEE WE—SUtIRE S
Scope I: Intensity of Direct greenhouse gas Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 0.03 0.34
emission million revenue in RMB
HE—  ERREREENEE WM_ftiEE  ARERET
Was
Scope II: Intensity of Indirect greenhouse gas Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 2.66 1.49
emission million revenue in RMB
HE_ - FARAERBIENEE WM_ftiEe  AREBET
Was
A1.3 Total hazardous wastes* Tonnes 0.101 1.33
BEEEEYRE Mg
Among them: Dyestuff, paint waste Tonnes - 0.96
Hrp o 28 2REEDS A
Other hazardous construction waste Tonnes - 0.20
HW A EEELEEYD A
Waste tubes, bulbs, batteries and other products  Tonnes 0.035 0.05
BEEEE B8 BHEEM A
Discard toner cartridge, ink cartridge, etc. Tonnes 0.066 0.12
REFEM - RRF A
Intensity of hazardous wastes Tonnes/million revenue in RMB 0.00004 0.0004
BEREYNTE Mg, AR¥EBETHE
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIER B 2024515 202315
A1.4 Total non-hazardous wastes Tonnes 1,627.82 1,730.33
BEERVEE A
Among them: Earthwork waste (sent to landfills)  Tonnes 1,100.00 1,120.00
Hep - + 7R GETEER) 7]
Earthwork waste (backfill) Tonnes 520.00 600.00
T RERH(EHR) 7
Kitchen waste Tonnes 2.74 5.46
BI SRS ]
General office waste (recyclable) Tonnes 1.20 1.75
—RRIF A REEY) (AT WA AR ) U7
General office waste (not recyclable) Tonnes 3.88 3.12
— AR REZE ) (AT W R ) U7
Intensity of non-hazardous wastes Tonnes/million revenue in RMB 0.63 0.49
BEBRRYTE me, AR¥EBEBETHE
A2.1  Energy consumption® KWh 11,003,152.25  9,856,827.85
LIRSS TE B
Among them: Direct energy consumption KWh 530,310.65 615,073.44
Heh : gERERERE TR
Indirect energy consumption KWh 10,472,841.60  9,241,754.41
EZRERERSE FEE
Gasoline® Liter 31,199.30 45,727.90
bk 7t
Liquefied petroleum gas Kilograms 1,416.00 1,467.00
AR TR
Natural gas Cubic meters 1,023.00 1,530.00
RIAR AVAY N
Purchased electricity KWh 10,472,841.60  9,241,754.41
HNEBRAE TR
Solar power generation KWh 196,256.00 134,500.00
PN L s TR
Intensity of energy consumption KWh/million revenue in RMB 4,227.6 2,791.91
RLRERETE TR/ AREBETHR
A2.2  Total water consumption m3 127,130.90 194,208.39
BFEKE AV PN
Among them: Production water m?3 41,070.10 140,084.00
(for construction site)
He: £EAK(IHAEK) SR
Office water consumption’ m3 86,060.80 54,124.39
YNEY S K
Intensity of water consumption m3/million revenue in RMB 48.85 55.01
RKEE SRR AREBE TS
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIEHE B 20248 202384
B. Society

BAE

Employment

BTIHR

B1.1  Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region

RIER - RERE - FiERN bR E SR

EEHEE
Total number of workers® Person 194 241
BTN A
By gender
RERIE D
Male workers Person 117 151
EMBET A
Female workers Person 77 920
ZHET A
By employment type
RERENES
Full-time Person 194 241
T A
Part-time Person 0 0
FRAk A
By age group
REFERESD
Under 30 years old Person 14 28
<30mE L A
30-50 years old Person 159 192
30-505% 8 L A
Over 50 years old Person 21 21
>50 8 T A
By educational background
RERE S
Doctoral Person 1 0
==l A
Master Person 8 10
H+ 2 A
Bachelor Person 100 108
IRIEE A
Other educational background Person 85 123
Hth B2 F A
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIEIE B 20248 202384
By position
RIEENVES
Management staff Person 55 51
ERMET A
Execution staff Person 139 190
MITHET A
By geographical region
Rib @B 5
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan Person 3 3
ERE A
Chinese mainland Person 191 238
EEIpN =5 A

B1.2  Employee turnover rate by gender, age group,
and geographical region

IR SR RibR B D H B BRI R

Total turnover rate of employee % 36 57
b N =S %

By gender

RUBIB S HEER AL Z

Male workers % 39 53
SHET %

Female workers % 31 64
ZMET %

By age group

RERAREDNERRKLLE

Under 30 years old % 76 93
<30mE L %

30-50 years old % 32 51
30-50p% 8 T %

Over 50 years old % 24 71
>505% 8 T %

By geographical region
Rt BE S HEERALLE

Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan % 0 2
BRE %
Chinese mainland % 36 136
B ARE %
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIE1E B 20248035 2023835

Health and Safety

RERZE

B2.1  Number of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years, including the
reporting year

BE=ZF(BRERFRE)RATTHOARK

In 2024 Person 0 0
2024F A
In 2023 Person 0 0
20234 A
In 2022 Person 0 0
20224F A

Rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years, including the reporting

year
BEZF(REERFE)AITHRALE
In 2024 % 0 0
20245 %
In 2023 % 0 0
20234 %
In 2022 % 0 0
20224 %

B2.2  Lost days due to work injury Day 0 0
HIBEEIIERHE X

Development and Training

2R EIE D

B3.1  The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category

BRI MEEERBIDXIEEBDL

Percentage of total employees who took partin =~ % 100 100
training

XIEBEAREERAD L %

By gender

RRIE D ZINAR

Male employees Person-time 213 504

SHET AR

Female employees Person-time 69 248

ZHET AR

By position

RIS ZIAR

Management employees Person-time 48 113

BIEEET AR

Execution employees Person-time 234 639

WITEET AR
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIER B 2024515 202315
By gender
RupESZIREET DL
Male workers % 76 67
SHET %
Female employees % 24 33
ZHEET %
By position
RIfERuE S ZIEER DL
Management employees % 17 15
EEEET %
Execution employees % 83 85
HITEET %

B3.2  The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category

BRI R REERIE D - BREE KN

FHH
All employees Hour/person 8.69 7.80
2EET AN VPN
By gender
g edalE o
Male employees Hour/person 8.75 8.20
EMET INEE A
Female employees Hour/person 8.49 7.20
ZHEBT NN
By position
RIS
Management employees Hour/person 4.00 5.80
EREET ANSVON
Execution employees Hour/person 9.65 8.30
WITEET NS PPN

Supply Chain Management

ad Agd

B5.1  Total number of suppliers Numbers 356 356
HEmaE EN

Number of suppliers by geographical region

iR B MR EREE

Eastern China Numbers 82 82
FERHER ER
South China Numbers 221 221
iR ER
Central China Numbers 25 25
FER R ER
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ESG Indicators Unit 2024 Data 2023 Data
ESGIEIE B 2024515 202315
North China Numbers 4 4
b [& x
Northwest China Numbers 4 4
padbih e ER
Southwest China Numbers 20 20
PR =
Product Responsibility
EmEF
B6.1  Percentage of total products sold or shipped % 0 0
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
EEACERERBHTERBEZFEIEHT %
ARIKE B DL
B6.2  Number of products and service related
complaints received
BB Em M RGN IRFEE
Domestic users Times 132 152
NAP R
Anti-corruption
RES
B7.1  Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases
REERIFAE 1T ASHESR LW D FED
B RARMHEE KGR
The Group Case 0 0
REE =
Employees Case 1 0
8T =
Community Investment
B8.2  Resources contributed to the focus area
ERTHEAEBHAER
Volunteering Hour 0 77
V) /NEF
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Note(s):

Greenhouse gases in scope 1 are come from stationary combustion sources
(including coal gas, natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas and burning oil),
mobile combustion sources (including gasoline and diesel) and refrigerant
consumption.

Greenhouse gases in scope 2 refer primarily to are carbon dioxide produced
by purchased electricity consumed during operations. The accounting
method is based on the grid emission factor 0.5703 tCO,/MWh recommended
in the “Notice on Carrying out Work in Reporting and Management of
Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Enterprises in the Power Generation Industry
from 2023 to 2025" issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment in
2023.

Greenhouse gas emissions include only carbon dioxide.

Hazardous waste shall refer to the National Hazardous Waste List (2021
Edition).

Total energy consumption comes from diesel, gasoline, liquefied petroleum
gas, natural gas, purchased electricity and solar power. The Energy conversion
coefficient is in accordance with the Energy Statistics Manual (Appendix
3, units and equivalent conversion) issued by the International Energy
Agency. Diesel: 45.66 Gigajoule/ton, gasoline: 47.1 Gigajoule/ton, LPG: 50.08
Gigajoule/ton, Natural gas: 40 Gigajoule/m?, Fuel oil: 44.4 Gigajoule/ton, 1
Gigajoule = 277.778 kWh.

Gasoline data is sourced from the gasoline consumption of the Group’s
owned vehicles.

The data of office water consumption come from commercial and office
water, including bottled water purchased by the Group.

Total number of employees refers to the number of employees of the Group as
at 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 1818 « 2 N EBMRE

BT

HBEEERBIORNREER(BEHER - XA
R ARBRIER - BREERFRE) BBIR(E2
YU~ SO ) MBUS BDEFEE £ R — ALK -

HEREABRRREERAFMERENINES
NFREBEN SR - 2023 FEZEFAKERR
A RBIR 35 62023 4 T 9 B PR i1 47 2023-2025 F
BETELERAEREHMREEEBEIIEN
BANF ZFEMERBEREA T0.5703 tCO,/MWh ©

BEREBHNESE ALk -

BEEEEYN2R(BEKBRAEZEY A (20214
RO DARTE °

R IRLE R - ABRIER - KA
RNBEN - KBEEETE - e RE L RBKE
B X B2 JR 2B B 1) 82 JR 21U T (Energy Statistics
Manual) (P& =B Mg g £) - HpLh -
4566 TIKEE IR « Jd - 471 FKEE W8 - A
HRAEE + 5008 FIKEEE IE - RAR : 400k %:
B SIHK - R - 444TKEE MR - 1Tk
FEH=277778 T FLE ©

FURMBIR RN AL B B A TERTHBE ©
FIFNESES 28 PG SEITEE NS NV N
RIS OB KRR K -

ETHAHARERN2024F12A3BHERS
T&o
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ESG REPORTING GUIDELINES INDEX OF THE HONG

KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

The following table aligns the 2024 ESG Report with the Appendix C2
requirements of the HKEX ESG Reporting Code:

AR FRESGIESIRSI

TR #2024 FESGHR &5 B H B X P FTESGHR & F
BB $RC2H ESKHETT T L -

ESG Indicators Description Where to Find

ESGIERZ Eipa BRENE

A. Environmental

A RIE

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : B9

General Disclosure Information on: Chapter 2
(@) the policies; and Chapter 5
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

—RBEE B - =
@ BX: Rk FRE
(b) ETAEBEERBROIHER o

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Chapter 5

RS AE RUETRATLT HERCIE SR AR A BE R B - ELE

KPIA1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Chapter 5
emissions (in tonnes).

RASRAEREIRA.2 EE(EEN) kg REZE (BE2)RAEREHNE (AN E) o ERE

KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes). Chapter 5

BASRAEIEIRAL3 FELEEREEYEE (ANETH) ERE

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[BEA2 : EREH

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water, and Chapter 5
other raw materials.

—ARBEER BREAER(BIEER - KEEM R EL) BB - ERE

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type. Chapter 5

RS AE IR IRA2.1 REAE S ERE R REEER ERE

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Chapter 5

RSB MUIEIRA2.2 BRKERTE - ERE
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find

ESGIER it BEVE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHA3 : RERRARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the Chapter 5
environment and natural resources.

—RBEE BIEETAHRERAAREREKNERNZENBR - ERE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment. Chapter 5

AR AE IEIRAS.T MM EB R RENEATLE - FRE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[ETHAS @ RIZEL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related Chapter 5
issues.

—RRIREE AR EH B X RIZAEEEERBUR ELE

KPI A4.1 Description of significant climate-related issues which have impacted. Chapter 5

RS E1RAL M EETENSERRIREHEEE - ERE

Aspect B1: Employment

FEEB : {EE

General Disclosure Information on employment policies, diversity, working hours, and Chapter 4
other benéefits.

— MR BEAMERR - Zult - TIERRREMTBENER FEmE

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type. Chapter 4

RSB IR IR ®ItR - EERAEIDNES A FEmE

KPI1B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group, and geographical Chapter 4
region.

RSB IE1EB1.2 RIER - FERAR K@ DB ERKLE FEME

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

[EHEB2 : REEZZ

General Disclosure Information on occupational health and safety measures adopted. Chapter 4

—ARIRER BRI B ERRE R R 2B RN ER - FEME

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Chapter 4
three years.

RSB R 1RB2.1 BE-FEFRITHMHABRLE - FHE

KPI1B2.2 Lost days due to work injuries. Chapter 4

RASR AR IR 1RB2.2 EIBEATIERE - FME
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find

ESGIER b BEVE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[ETEB3 : R RIE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging Chapter 4
duties at work.

—REE BRARTE S BIT LR E & A R AE BV BUR - FmE

KPIB3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Chapter 4
category.

RIS AR RUIETEB3. RERKEERBIBSNXIEER DL ENE

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[ETEB4 : 8 T#RI

General Disclosure Policies on preventing child and forced labour. Chapter 4

—RRIREE BRAD) 1EE Takaa |55 THBGR - ENE

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child ~ Chapter 4
and forced labour.

RAR A R E1RBA R SRR IR AR S E T REHIST FmE

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate child and forced labour when Chapter 4
discovered.

RAR A IR 1RB4.2 F i B IRE T N 5830 S5 B A P ERER A BIRS HE 3t o EHE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EmEBs @ fiERERE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Chapter 6
chain.

—ARIREE EIRHEENRE R S RRBR - BERE

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Chapter 6

RASRAE 1R B5.1 i@ E o HHERRA - FERE

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers and how they Chapter 6
are implemented.

RASR 4R IR 1RB5.2 f BRI R EEMIED - LARMBBIMITIE o ERE
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER it BEVE
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmBe : EMEIE
General Disclosure Information on product safety, advertising, and privacy matters. Chapter 3
— R FE BEHRERLTE BERMLEBEENER - FE=E
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Not applicable as the
safety and health reasons. Group delivers services
RS AE 515861 EENCEXERAHT AR BEREHMADMKN B DL TER  ARSEEREMH
AR5
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and how Chapter 3
they are dealt with.
RA A X513 B6.2 RN E fn M RGHIREFB B AR BE % - BE=-E
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
fEEB7 : RE’S
General Disclosure Information on anti-corruption policies and compliance measures. Chapter 2
—MRIEE BBRRESHRLARERNER - FE
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices. Chapter 2
BB AE IR IEBRT.1 EEENETHARMEHEE - FEE
KPI1B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures. Chapter 2
RASR 4R IR 1EBT7.2 Fi i By 54 bt S BRIRAZ - © F-B
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EmEBS : HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand local needs. Chapter 7
—ARIREE BRANHRZEABERR TREMTR - FtLE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g., education, environmental concerns,  Chapter 7
health, culture).
RASRAE HE13BS. FIEREE(HE BIREE @K - k) - FtE
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g., money or time) to the focus area. Chapter 7
RASR 4R A5 17B8.2 EEIHREMPAER(NEELEME) - e

This table ensures complete compliance with HKEX Appendix C2 and
provides transparency on the ESG disclosure requirements covered in the

2024 ESG Report.

B o
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The Board hereby present this corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company for FY2024.

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. The Company has developed
and implemented sound governance policies and measures to preserve
our value and business model over the longer term as described in this
annual report and achieve our objectives. These policies and measures
include but not limited to the applicable principles and code provisions
as set out in the CG Code, and the Board is responsible for performing
such corporate governance duties. The Board is also committed to the
principles and code provisions of the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Corporate Governance” in this annual report, the
Directors are of the opinion that the Company has complied with the
principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report. The Company will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice to ensure compliance with
the CG Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors, including
three executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
Brief details of the Directors are set out in the sections headed “Directors
and Directors’ Service Contracts” and “Biographical Details of the Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report. The overall management
and supervision of the Company’s operation, the function of formulating
overall business strategies and aligning the Company’s culture with its
purpose, value and strategy are vested in the Board.

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Corporate Governance” of
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report, during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, the Board has complied with
the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director having appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the requirement that independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

FEESENNARR024T BFEFRAZHIA
ﬁ?%%fui&% ©

ARRBHIEVRSEEERFREUNERBEE
ARRMETNEEREENE  XEHEKIL
Bif - ARRIEHIEREITRENERHERER
i NEEAFERSPAANRMANEE
REEEATERRMNER - GLEBRREEE
BREETRNEREATR R ERANRA LT A
X WHEFERENTREFLEERRE -
EEQMAGEETREEETRIZRAI R ST AE
X o BEAFEREICEELRITAEEN &
FR/ARAAEEREEAFHRTERHDE
SR EEVA ST RIFTEA R A K 57 AN - AR E]
REERZ MR R B EERTT RARERES D
EeEaTal -

EEE

EEENE

RABER  EFGHAREFAN =%
HITESM=RBUFNTES - FRESHF
BERANFHRNESREFRHEOIRIEER
BREEEEE G  cEFSARBBEENME
BARANEE I EBEEBRRNALERA
RAENLEERE - BEBNRE % -

BT AFRNDEE RREICEE R —EFHE
BN RAFEMEEAFERTIEAE 252
BT ETRRE3I0R3I0AKEBEL R T =
BB IENTEEREP L BB UIERNITE
EABAEEE RN AN EEREE
MEREZANBLIIENTEERIEESTE =D
Z—HIRE °
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The Company has received annual confirmation from each independent
non- executive Director pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that each of the independent non-executive
Directors is independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
as set out in the Listing Rules. All the Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”).

The CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the Company, the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved.
The Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company
in a timely manner.

Role and Function and Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the business of the Company. It delegates day-to-day
management of the Company to executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company within the control and the authority
framework set by the Board. The delegated functions and responsibilities
are periodically reviewed by the Board.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors may seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult the Company’s senior management
independently.

In addition, the Board has also delegated to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. Further
details of these committees are set out on pages 91 to 94 of this annual
report.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

ARBERELTRAUNKRE  ZEERE LI
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The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors in respect of legal actions against them.

Relationship between Directors

Save that Mr. Luo Jieping (executive Director and the Chairman) is the
son-in-law of Mr. Zeng Yunshu (a former non-executive Director who
resigned on 21 January 2025), there are no financial, business, family or
other material relationships among members.

Independent Views

The company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views are available to the Board, including, amongst others, measures
ensuring the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and adequacy of resources to the Board when needed. The Board has
conducted annual review on the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanism and is satisfied with the results.

Changes in Information of Directors and the Chief Executive

The changes of the information of the Directors and the chief executive
since the date of 2023 annual report of the Company and up to the date
of this annual report are set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules:

Name of Director/Chief Executive Changes

EE BETBRABHS BE

ARFBELREEEERRE  ARHEEEN
AR F R HRE -

E=CENER

BRBNFREBTESREIE) BGERATEE
JEHITESE » 2025F1 B21HEHE) I RIESN - &
EZgRE ZEMENE £ KBEKEMEKR
BE -

BB

ARRBCELHS]  AEREESEINERFEL
MER  HERSRERELIFATESHNELIE
MERZESEFSRERHERNER -ESF
SOHZEFINERMEREETTFEES
W HERRBEHE -

EEREETHAEBEESE
BARFRZFFRAMEERAFRAPNES
RESITBRABEMEER ETHRAIFE13518(1)
fErEHI T

Mr. Wong Choi Hing

THELE

Mr. Cai Hongwen

FER/XEE

Mr. Zeng Yunshu

BT

Mr. Wong Choi Hing has resigned as an executive Director of the Company and a
co-Chairman of the Board on 21 January 2025, and be appointed as the honorary
chairman of the Company.
FTHEEER2025FIANNBFERARARMTEERESTSHE LT - WEZERAK
NEBREIE -

Mr. Cai Hongwen has resigned as an executive Director of the Company and a
co-chairman of the Board on 21 January 2025.

FRIEAER2025F 1 AN BB EARAMTEZRESTEMFELF -

Mr. Zeng Yunshu has resigned as the non-executive Director of the Company on 21
January 2025.
IR LN 2025F1 A2V BRI ARAIIENITES -

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company (Mr. Luo Jieping) and the CEO (Mr. He Fei)
have segregated and clearly defined roles. The Chairman of the Company
provides leadership for the Board. The CEO has responsibility for the
Group's overall business development and daily management generally.

FRRTHAR

ARRBEE (BN FRE) RAR(MREL) 2B
RRCHRATHRE Y ARFTIERESSELT
REAG RBAEEAEEZERBEBER N
—REEEHE -
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During FY2024, the Chairman of the Board has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business as well as his responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also provides
periodic legal updates and developments on the Listing Rules, the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, news updates from the Stock Exchange and
the Securities & Futures Commission of Hong Kong and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements to all of the Directors, as well as regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the Year. Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
inside information in relation to the Company or its shares are prohibited
from dealing in the shares of the Company during the black-out period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company had complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules during the Year.

Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules

According to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
must include at least three independent non-executive Directors and
the Company must appoint independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board, respectively. In addition, Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules requires, among others, an audit committee to
comprise a minimum of three members and that the committee must
be chaired by an independent non-executive director. Rule 3.27 of the
Listing Rules provides that the nomination committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director and comprise a majority of
independent non-executive director.
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Paragraph E (d)(i) of the Part 1 of the CG Code under Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules states that an issuer shall provide details of non-compliance
with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and an explanation of the remedial
steps taken to address non-compliance with establishment of an audit
committee.

The Company has fully complied with the requirements under
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into service contract or letter
of appointment with the Company, which may be terminated in
accordance with the respective terms of the service contracts or letters
of appointment. For details, please refer to the section headed “Directors
and Directors’ Service Contracts” of this annual report.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

In accordance with Articles 16.2 and 16.3 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board or by an ordinary resolution either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board, shall hold office only until the
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. In accordance with Articles 16.18
of the Articles, at every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and chief executive officer.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals pursuant to
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code. Notice of not less than fourteen days
are given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend, and include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting pursuant to code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code.
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All Directors are provided with the meeting agenda and relevant
information related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They
have access to the senior management and the company secretary of the
Company at all time and may, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Minutes of the meetings are kept by the company secretary of the
Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information and
records. Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings
record sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after the date on which the meeting was held. Minutes of board meetings
are open for inspection for the Directors.

10 Board meetings and 2 general meetings were held during the Year.
Individual attendance of the Directors is as follows:
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No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings held*

HEERRE BHEERE

Board General
meetings meetings
Directors = EESER BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman) BN FREFERE) 10/10 2/2
Mr. Wong Choi Hing (former Co-Chairman) THELE (G EERE) 7/10 1/2
(resigned on 21 January 2025) (7202551 A21BEHE)
Mr. Cai Hongwen (former Co-Chairman) RN A (I R L) 3/10 1/2
(resigned on 21 January 2025) (7202551 21 HEHE)
Mr. He Fei (CEO) IR (4E3) 10/10 2/2
Ms. Wei Haiyan gt 10/10 2/2
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Zeng Yunshu (resigned on 21 January 2025) & EAE 54 (74202551 A21 B EHE) 10/10 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIAEHITES
Mr. Guan Huanfei BRI A 10/10 2/2
Mr. Han Qinchun BRELE 10/10 2/2
Mr. Chen Yangsheng FRRSFH o & 10/10 2/2
*  The number of meetings held were calculated in respect of the specific term * BHRER M ARESUESNEETHMmM:TE -

of each Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee, to handle
particular responsibilities of the Board and certain affairs of the Company.
All board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference which have been uploaded to the website
of the Stock Exchange and that of the Company, and are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 27 September 2013
in compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and the
roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board. The revised terms of reference have been adopted by the Board
on 27 December 2018. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review the financial information of the Company, to oversee the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to make recommendation on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor and to
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The Group has an internal audit function and has formulated and adopted
risk management policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating
and managing significant risks. The management identifies risks that
would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for
those risks considered to be significant. Risk management report and
internal control report are submitted to the Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and will perform annual review
on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, including but not limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its
business transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and internal
control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board of Directors in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and
their related implications; and status of compliance with the Listing Rules.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Han
Qinchun, the chairman of the Audit Committee and an independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Guan Huanfei, an independent non-executive
Director, and Mr. Chen Yangsheng, an independent non-executive
Director. During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held
to, among other matters, (1) review and recommend the half-yearly and
annual results to the Board for approval; (2) review the Group’s financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems; (3) review the
Group's financial and accounting policies and practices; (4) review and
consider the whistleblowing policy and system; (5) change of auditor
and review the external auditor’s independence and the objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process; and (6) review the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee. For the details in respect of compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Corporate Governance” in this Corporate Governance Report.

The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as
follows:

202451231 H - BEREESH BB IIEHR
TERMEK - —RKE A BEEELE(FEREE
CEFERBUENTES) BRIFLEECCELIE
WITER) RREH L ECBYIFRNITES) - KA
FERN BITTIRNEZRZEGSE  UW(EHPE
FINEZEFERFEEE TE2EXEZoH
M QBRAEEMISEE - RISEE R R AE
EEGE  QBFERASENMBRETBRERE
% OBZEEEEAREERGE  G)EBRZEHK
M REZINEZYMELB I REZRERDR
BAW: RO BHEZZESNRIEEE - BN
BRAET ETARAB2UENFE S8 E
ERMENIEERI—F -

ExhEERZZEeEENBERNT

Number of Attendance

Directors ) HERE
Mr. Han Qinchun (Committee Chairman) BRELRE(ZESEE) 3/3
Mr. Guan Huanfei B RIESE 3/3
Mr. Chen Yangsheng BRES 504 3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 27 September
2013 in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director. The
three members are Mr. Guan Huanfei, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and an independent non-executive Director, Ms. Wei Haiyan,
an executive Director, and Mr. Han Qinchun, an independent non-
executive Director. During the Year, three Remuneration Committee
meetings were held to, among other matters, (1) make recommendations
to the Board on the policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration; (2) assess the performance of executive
Directors; and (3) make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors, non-executive
Directors, independent non-executive Directors and members.

The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration Committee meetings
was as follows:

202451243180 - FNEZE S HMB B ILIEHR
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Number of Attendance
Directors ) HERE
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Committee Chairman) FRIERE(ZEEEE) 3/3
Ms. Wei Haiyan e 3/3
Mr. Han Qinchun BRELE 3/3

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance.
The remuneration package includes basic salary, performance and/or
discretional bonus, participation in the Share Option Scheme, other share
option scheme (if any) and other benefits. Remuneration of the non-
executive Director includes mainly the Director’s fee, which is a matter for
the Board to decide by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the
non-executive Director. Remuneration of the independent non-executive
Directors includes the Director’s fee which is determined by the Board
based on the duties and responsibilities of independent non-executive
Directors and their participation in the Share Option Scheme or other
share option scheme (if any).
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 27 September
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the requirements
of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated
to the Nomination Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of Directors. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including candidates’
reputation, integrity, accomplishment, experience and professional and
educational background.

As at 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director. The
three members are Mr. Chen Yangsheng, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Luo Jieping,
an executive Director, and Mr. Han Qinchun, an independent non-
executive Director. During the Year, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held to, among other matters, (1) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to review the diversity policy of the Board;
(2) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
(3) review, consider and approve the nomination policy; and (4) make
recommendations to the Board on the candidates of the re-appointment
of Directors. The Nomination Committee has adopted the nomination
criteria and procedures as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report
when making recommendations on the candidates of new Directors.

The attendance of the directors at the Nomination Committee meetings
was as follows:
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Number of Attendance

Directors 2= HE R
Mr. Chen Yangsheng (Committee Chairman) RIS E(ZESEE) 2/2
Mr. Luo Jieping BNTE 2/2
Mr. Han Qinchun BRERE 2/2
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CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision
and strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the
following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values
and business strategies are aligned to it.

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are explicitly set
out in the Group's integrity code of conduct, the anti-corruption policy
and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Appraisals are conducted
from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics
and integrity.

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability
is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong,
productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent
and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s strategy
in the business development and management are to achieve long-term,
steady and sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with effect from 24 March
2014 and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the
policy. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board with a view to enhancing its effectiveness and achieving
a high standard of corporate governance. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), talents, skills, knowledge, length
of service and other qualities of Directors. The ultimate decision of all
Board appointments should be based on meritocracy and the likely
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policy in the
Year. During the Year, the Company’s existing composition of the Board as
well as its senior management team are highly diverse in age, educational
background and professional experience. Brief biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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Pursuant to the amended Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules (effective from 1
January 2022), the Stock Exchange will not regard a single gender board
of directors as achieving member diversity. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and six male Directors, which is
in compliance with the requirement of appointing at least a director of a
different gender. The Board is of the opinion that Board diversity (including
gender diversity) has been achieved with reference to the current
circumstances of the Company, and the present structure of the Board can
ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board ratified and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders of the Company on 27 December
2018. In accordance with the Articles of the Company and subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, cash flow situation, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders, restrictions
on payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board may consider
relevant. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any
unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

CRITERIA FOR NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

. Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strateqgy;

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;
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Requirement for the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender and
cultural diversity;

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company;

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning.

NOMINATION PROCEDURES OF DIRECTORS

Appointment of New Directors

May select candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents;

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and
the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

Re-election of Directors

Should review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
relation to its compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the implementation of the
shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its effectiveness,
and to make recommendation to the Board where appropriate to
enhance shareholders’ relationship with the Company; and

(f)  toreview the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the CG Code).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which were prepared
in accordance with statutory requirement and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the publication of the financial
statements of the Group is in a timely manner.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. A defined management structure with specified
limits of authority and responsibilities is developed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publications and the compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform monthly
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions to
the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal audit
department ensure risk management and internal control measures are in
place and function properly as intended.

The results of the internal audit and reviews are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board at least once a year, who carried out annual
review on the internal control and risk management systems for the Year,
and they were satisfied with the effectiveness and the adequacy of such
systems of the Group during the Year.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest standards of integrity
and ethical behavior in conducting business. The anti-corruption policy
sets out the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel
and customers, suppliers and business partners must follow to combat
corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice of
ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws
and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with
this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group’s practices,
the anti-corruption policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group
employees and third parties dealing with the Group. The anti-corruption
policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with the applicable
laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

The Board also adopted a whistleblowing policy to foster a culture of
compliance ethical behavior and good corporate governance across the
Group and promote the importance of ethical behaviour and encourages
the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior. The nature,
status and the results of the complaints received under the whistleblowing
policy are reported to the head of the risk management center of the
Group. No incident of fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the
Group's financial statements or overall operations for the year ended 31
December 2024 has been discovered.
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An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information
being maintained until consistent and timely disclosure is made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

. Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

. Designated persons and departments determining further disclosure
as required; and

. Designated persons being authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than Directors) by bands for
FY2024 is set out below:

i E0

Emolument Bands

AEEBEMBENE  BREZEEEAR
HBXMARE - BEER ETHRANEL —BAE
RV REE R LE - ZHERE T AR B MEIE K
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- BREREE  BTREESELAEE
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- EEALRBPIRFEAETE-—FTERES
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5

. BEALREEA - EEINRESR -

SREEERMNME
RIEFRNESCEENSE - e RERERE (EEkK
AN FR20245 B F B R B EEE S A0 T

Number of Individuals

AB

Nil to RMB 1,000,000

ZTx= AR#1,000,0007T 5

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Elite Partners CPA Limited rendered its resignation as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 21 November 2024 and Prism has been
appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 22
November 2024. For FY2024, the remuneration paid and payable by the
Group to the independent auditors in respect of audit and non-audit
services provided by them were as follows:

BB

L EEe T MEBERAREIHEAQRK
HEMBLTS - B2024FE 1M AN HELER - ARQAFE
ZAEEEAA R R F LA - 52024511 A
22BEAER o P04 BEFE - AEEEIBLIZE
B BL1 SRR B RIEERE RIS BN RER K
BEmT

RMB’000

AREEFIT

Audit services” ERZ ARG 1,800
Review services =R 650

Note:

(1) Including fees for audit of annual financial statements and review of interim
financial report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liang Lina is the company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Liang Lina (REE#), aged 42, has been the Company Secretary since
July 2020. Ms. Liang has extensive experience in auditing, financial
management, offshore financing, investor relations, and corporate
governance. Ms. Liang is currently the independent non-executive director
of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1152.HK) and Sun Kong Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8631.HK), respectively. Ms. Liang holds a bachelor degree in
Accounting from the Central University of Finance and Economics, and a
master degree in Finance from Peking University. Ms. Liang is currently a
member of each of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

During the Year, Ms. Liang Lina has undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
and other investment community is essential. The Company has developed
a shareholders’ communication policy. The policy aims to promote
effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders,
encourage shareholders to engage actively with the Company, and enable
shareholders to exercise their rights as shareholders effectively. The Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the communication
policy for the Year, and was satisfied with the results. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly
in the following ways: (i) the holding of Shareholders’ meetings which
provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Board. The Directors and the chief financial officer/Company Secretary
of the Group will attend Shareholders’ meetings to answer the questions
raised by Shareholders; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;
(iii) the availability of published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news of the Group on the Company’s website
at http://www.youngogroup.com/; (iv) the holding of briefings from time
to time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participating in investor road shows and sector conferences.
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During the Year, the executive Directors, the chief financial officer and the
head of investor relations of the Group held regular briefings, attended
investor forums and participated in roadshows and conducted meetings
with institutional investors and financial analysts in China, Hong Kong
and overseas countries to keep them abreast of the Group’s business and
development. Investors can also communicate with the Company through
email at ir@youngogroup.com.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection
practices to achieve diversity at workforce level, including taking into
considerations a diverse range of candidates and factors such as the
capabilities, qualifications, duties and responsibilities and gender diversity
when recruiting staff members. During FY2024, the Board was not aware
of any constraints or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management) more challenging or
less relevant. As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) is 60.3% (male): 39.7% (female), and the
Group considers that the current circumstances of gender diversity are
satisfactory. For further details of gender ratio together with the relevant
data, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this Report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting

Besides the request of the Board, the extraordinary general meeting shall
also be convened through the following measures:

(@) on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders who hold
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on
a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company (and
the foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda), as at the date of deposit of the requisition of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such principal
office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by such Shareholders; or
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(b) on the written requisition of any one Shareholder of the Company
which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) who holds
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company as at
the date of deposit deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the Shareholder.

Putting Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting in accordance with the applicable laws and the Articles. If a
Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general
meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention to propose
a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
stating his or her willingness to be so elected, commencing no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company in Shenzhen at Level 32, Block A, Hong Long Century Plaza,
Luohu District, Shenzhen, the PRC (email address: ir@youngogroup.com).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Jieping (#& 7 ), aged 43, has been appointed as an executive
Director and Chairman of the Company since July 2023. Mr. Luo graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law with a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics in June 2003, and obtained his Master of Laws degree from
Wuhan University in June 2011. Mr. Luo joined the Communist Party of
China in December 2000. Mr. Luo has been the vice general manager
and the party member of Shenzhen Smart City Technology Development
Group Co., Ltd. (RIINTTE B R R E B AR A R) since May 2021.
Mr. Luo served as the director of the Office of Shenzhen Finance Bureau
(Comprehensive Approval Department) from July 2019 to May 2021, and
as the director of Shenzhen Finance Bureau Treasury Payment Center
from November 2018 to July 2019. Mr. Luo had been the director of the
Electronic Tax Management Center of Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
from February 2018 to November 2018, and served as the deputy director
of the Electronic Tax Management Center of Shenzhen Local Taxation
Bureau from July 2015 to February 2018. Mr. Luo successively served as a
staff member, deputy chief staff member and chief staff member of the
Office of Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau from September 2005 to July
2015, and served as a staff member of the Comprehensive Department of
Shenzhen Finance Bureau and a staff member of the Office of Shenzhen
Finance Bureau from July 2003 to September 2005.

Mr. Luo is the spouse of Ms. Zeng Yan, who is the controlling shareholder
of the Company.
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Mr. He Fei (i1 7’ ), aged 53. Mr. He has been appointed as an executive
Director and CEO of the Company since June 2022. During the period
from May 2020 to April 2021, Mr. He served as a director and the chief
executive officer of Myhome Real Estate Development Group Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (the “SZSE"), stock
code: 000667.SZ) (the “Myhome Real Estate”). He had been the co-chief
executive officer of the Myhome Real Estate from November 2019 to May
2020. During the period from January 2018 to November 2019, Mr. He
served as a vice-president and regional general manager of Shenzhen
in CIFl Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0884.HK). During the period from April
2004 to December 2017, Mr. He had worked at China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the SZSE, stock
code: 001979.5Z) (the “Merchants Shekou”), and had successively served
as the general manager of Foshan Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. and
Guangzhou Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd., a deputy general manager of
Guangzhou management headquarter of Merchants Shekou, assistant to
the general manager, the general manager of the operation management
centre and a deputy general manager of the Merchants Shekou. Mr. He
had served as a deputy director and project manager of Shenzhen No.
1 Construction Engineering Company from July 1993 to April 2004. Mr.
He obtained a Master degree of Engineering Management from the
Southeast University in 2004.

Ms. Wei Haiyan ( B /& #& ), aged 49. Ms. Wei has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company since June 2022. Ms. Wei has been
the chairman of the board of the Ruixin Haide Group Co,. Ltd. from
December 2010 to June 2022. She is involved in the overall planning and
development strategy decisions and is responsible for the management
of investment, administration and human resources. Ms. Wei has been
the vice president of Suncity Group Holdings Limited (previously known
as Hong Long Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) from September 2000 to
February 2011, and has extensive experience in internal management of
corporations. Ms. Wei graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences in 1998. She completed the advanced seminar
on information management at Tsinghua University in 2006 and was
awarded as an information analyst. Ms. Wei was appointed as a member
of the fifth and sixth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Meizhou, Guangdong Province.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guan Huanfei (B8’ JE), aged 67. Mr. Guan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since June 2022.
Mr. Guan obtained a Doctor degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan
University and was a postdoctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics
with Fudan University from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Guan has been a part-time
researcher of the Insurance Research Centre of Fudan University since
2004. He has been appointed as a part-time lecturer of professional degree
of Fudan University since 2013. Mr. Guan has been appointed as a visiting
professor of Jilin University of Finance and Economics since August 2019.
He has been appointed as the off-campus tutor for master students of the
University of International Business and Economics since September 2022.
Mr. Guan has been an economic and technical consultant of People’s
Government of Jilin Province for years. Mr. Guan has extensive experience
in finance and insurance industry in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China. He held various senior managerial positions in the People’s
Insurance Company of China (Jilin Branch), the business department of
Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China Insurance Group, China
Taiping Insurance (HK) Company Limited and China Pacific Insurance
Co., (H.K)) Limited. He also held offices at the Bank of Communications,
including the deputy chairman of the risk asset management committee,
the deputy chairman of credit asset management committee, the
chairman of loan verification committee, the deputy general manager
of the Bank of Communications Hong Kong Branch, a director of Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, the chairman and chief executive of
China BOCOM Insurance Company Limited and an executive director and
general manager of BoCommlLife Insurance Company Limited.

Mr. Guan is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
China Nonferrous Mining Corporation Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1258.HK), Shandong Hi-
Speed Holdings Group Limited (previously known as China Shandong Hi-
Speed Financial Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 412.HK), XinKong International Capital
Holdings Limited (formerly known as Huarong International Financial
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 993.HK), Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 188.HK), and DevGreat Group Limited (formerly known as Shanghai
Zendai Property Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 755.HK).
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During the period from December 2017 to June 2018, Mr. Guan served as
a non-executive director of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 231.
HK). Mr. Guan had been the chairman emeritus of Culturecom Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 343.HK) and the chairman of the board of directors of UCAN.
COM Group Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings Limited from
July 2013 to March 2016. Mr. Guan was an independent non- executive
director of Solis Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2227.HK) from August 2019 to September
2020. Mr. Guan was also an independent non-executive director of China
Wood International Holding Co., Limited (formerly known as HongDa
Financial Holding Limited) (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1822.HK) during the period from June 2018 to
May 2020. Mr. Guan was an executive director and chairman of the board
of directors of Enterprise Development Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1808.HK) from
June 2020 to May 2021.
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Mr. Han Qinchun (8 & %), aged 67. Mr. Han has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since June 2022.
Mr. Han has extensive experience in investment, financial management
and management of listed companies. Mr. Han has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2007.HK) since March 2024. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01771.HK) since 18 May 2023. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Xinda Investment Holdings Limited (previously known as
LongiTech Smart Energy Holding Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1281.HK) since April 2015. Mr.
Han has been appointed as the founder and chairman of a Hong Kong
fintech company - Hong Kong Private Markets Limited since November
2014. Mr Han was an independent non-executive director of Lingbao
Gold Group Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3330.HK) from March 2012 to July 2021.
In addition to the performance of his supervisory responsibilities as an
independent non-executive director, Mr. Han uses his own experience,
knowledge and resources to provide financial management related advice
and support to the listed companies’ development strategy, particularly in
the area of capital market operation. Mr. Han was appointed as a director
and distinguished professor of the Real Estate Centre at Peking University
HSBC Business School from 2011 to 2015. He was a chief executive
director of Straits Development Holding Company Limited since August
2012 to November 2014, where he was responsible for the company’s
development strategy, capital market operation, financial management
and investment and financing management. He was appointed as vice
chairman and co-chief executive director of Suncity Group Holdings
Limited (previously known as Hong Long Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) since
March 2006 to February 2010. From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Han served as a
supervisor at a number of leading Hong Kong investment banks, including
Shun Hing China Investment Limited (Hong Kong), BOCI Securities Limited
(Hong Kong), China Everbright Securities International (HK) Limited and
ABC International Holdings Limited (Hong Kong) before moving on to real
estate company to take on leadership position, where he has accumulated
extensive cross-border experience, resources and perspectives. Mr. Han
worked as a planner for the government agencies of the Ministry of
Chemical Industry and the Ministry of Forestry of the People’s Republic of
China in Beijing from 1982 to 1993.

Mr. Han obtained a Bachelor degree in Planning in 1982 from Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology and a Master of Science in
Real Estate in 1995 from The University of Hong Kong, and then obtained
a doctor degree in Real Estate Economics and Management from The
University of Hong Kong in 1998.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS EEERF

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (BRE3 Ft), aged 61. Mr. Chen has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since July 2023.
He has more than 40 years of experience in financial management and
extensive experience in business management and real estate market in
China. Mr. Chen has been a non-independent director of the Shenzhen
Urban Transport Planning Center Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed
on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (the “SZSE"), stock code:
301091.5Z) from December 2022 to July 2023. He was a director, the
chief financial officer and a member of the Committee of the Communist
Party of China of Shenzhen Smart City Technology Development Group
Co., Ltd. from June 2021 to May 2023. From January 2017 to June 2021,
Mr. Chen had held positions as a director, chief financial officer and a
member of the Committee of the Communist Party of China of Shenzhen
Tefa Group Co., Ltd.. He was a supervisor of Shenzhen Tefa Land Property
Co., Ltd. from March 2018 to March 2022 and Shenzhen Tellus Holding
Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock
code: 000025.5Z) from May 2017 to September 2021. Mr. Chen was a
supervisor of Shenzhen Tagen Group Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock code: 000090.SZ) from May 2006
to November 2017. From April 2011 to April 2017, he was a director and
the chief financial officer of Shenzhen Agricultural Power Group Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Shenzhen Agricultural Power Co., Ltd., the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock code: 000061.5Z). From
March 2005 to January 2011, he was a director and chief financial officer
of Shenzhen State-owned Duty Free Commodity (Group) Co., Ltd.. From
March 2008 to March 2009, he was the chief financial officer of Shenzhen
Nongke Group Co. Ltd (formerly known as Shenzhen Nongke Group
Company). From July 2000 to March 2005, he was the chief financial
officer of the Shenzhen Aokangde Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Shenzhen Aokangde Group Ltd. and Shenzhen Aokangde Petroleum
Trading Group Company). From February 1988 to July 2000, Mr. Chen
worked in the Finance Department of the Shenzhen Industrial Products
Group Company, with his last position being the head of the department.
He worked as an accounting clerk in the Finance and Accounting Office of
Shenzhen Commercial General Company from August 1982 to February
1988. Mr. Chen obtained a master degree in Economics from Party School
of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
in September 2001 and a college degree in Economic Management from
Guangdong Radio and TV University (now known as Guangdong Open
University) in July 1987. Mr. Chen obtained the qualification of Senior
Accountant from the Department of Personnel of Guangdong Province
(now known as Human Resources and Social Security Department of
Guangdong Province) in December 2002.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M & E B3R &

%@ Prism

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 120 to 276, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements
which states that, the Group incurred a loss of RMB2,041,311,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current assets of RMB3,218,611,000, and the Group's current portion of
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to RMB890,076,000 and
senior notes due in 2023 (“October 2023 Senior Notes”) amounted
to RMB113,584,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted to
RMB13,057,000 only. Moreover, certain holders of October 2023 Senior
Notes were, for their own reason, not practical to tender for exchange
and accept the exchange offer launched by the Company on 17 April
2023 (the “Exchange Offer”) and the Group was not practical to repay
the principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately
US$15,801,000 and US$5,471,000 (equivalent to RMB113,584,000
and RMB39,328,000), respectively, as such holders of October 2023
Senior Notes cannot be effectively communicated. As at 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report, the Group is not practical to
effectively communicate with such holders of October 2023 Senior
Notes to negotiate for settlement or repayment, and no redemption
notice received in respect of the October 2023 Senior Notes. Such non-
payment of the principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes
may cause an event of default, and may lead to demand for immediate
repayment. Besides, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
bank borrowings of approximately RMB788 million will be due within 12
months. Further, in view of the current condition of the property market,
coupled with the limited source of financing from the capital market, the
Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from the sale
of its inventories and have/or the cash from external financing to meet its
loan repayment obligations. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course
of business. Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis on the
assumption that the Group is able to operate as a going concern for the
foreseeable future. The Group has been undertaking various measures
and arrangements to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position
as set out in note 2(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
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determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHMEEEN TR FE

BRHE OIS IRA N 17 Rt 2(n)8) 5T E

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 2(n).

The key audit matter
HRBEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ELRIOAEERRETEE

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregate carrying value of the
Group’s leasehold land held for future development, properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
(together as “inventories”) totalled RMB8,146,891,000. These
principally comprise wholesale trading market units and other
commercial and residential units in Dongguan, Mianyang,
Xingning, Lanzhou, Jining and Yantai.
720245128310 » ERENAKRSGHEEE L £
%%&%%EEI%¥(M;LMH¥EJ)E’J,DEEETE HRA
E’ﬁ%8,146 891,0007C - ZEFETEBRENRE - #5 -
CBN BENEANBURSRTRET REAMEESK
E%Eﬁm °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The calculation of the net realisable value for each
property development project at the financial reporting date is
performed by the management.
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Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
inventories included the following:

BAFHEF SR A 2R FERRNBZIEF 21

. assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the preparation
and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts
of construction and other costs for each property
development project;

- AMARGRELERSEVEFREEENAEER B
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EEAEE_ LB

. conducting site visits to property development sites, on
a sample basis, and discussing with management the
progress of each property development project and the
development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for
each property development project;
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. evaluating the valuation methodologies and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including expected future selling prices,
by comparing expected future selling prices to, where
available, recently transacted prices for similar properties
and the prices of comparable properties located in the
nearby vicinity of each development;
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHEEEN TR FE

Refer to note 17 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 2(n).

BRRE ORI IRE M 17 RITiE2(n) B & 5T

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBRE N EEERESH

The calculation of the net realisable value of inventories
involves significant management judgement and estimation
in preparing the updated estimations of the costs to complete
each property development project for leasehold land held
for future development and properties under development as
well as in assessing the expected future selling prices for each
property development project (with reference to recent sales
transactions in nearby locations and the rates of new property
sales) and the estimated future selling costs (including price
discounts which may be required to stimulate sales).
REARRGREEELH RERYEREYEMBIEE LT
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We identified assessing the net realisable value of inventories
of the Group as a key audit matter because of the inherent
significant judgements and estimations made by the
management involved in estimating net realisable values,
particularly in light of the current economic circumstances
and various property market measures implemented by local
governments in various cities across Mainland China.
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. for properties under development, discussing with
management, on a sample basis, the development
progress and challenging management’s development
budgets with reference to signed construction contracts
and/or unit construction costs of recently completed
projects developed by the Group;

- HRERYER ERMEOERLE - BEEENmRN
MERER  Uk2E BEEEREMHKIESA
BIMBEEEOR B EERA - BEEER

FEIEEAELLE

. assessing the sensitivity analyses prepared by
management to determine the extent of changes in key
estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, adopted in assessing net realisable value,
may result in material misstatements in inventories and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in those
key estimates and assumptions arising and the potential
for management bias in their selection.
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Valuation of investment properties

BREWMENEE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 2(i).

BRHE GRS IREZaT12 R 20) 89 B 71 B °

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBRE N EEERESH

As at 31 December 2024, the Group held a portfolio of
investment properties located in Jiangxi, Guangxi, Shandong
and Guangdong provinces in Mainland China with an
aggregate fair value of RMB1,307,232,000 which accounted for
10% of the Group's total assets at that date. The investment
properties principally comprise commercial trade logistics
centers.

R2024512 4310 EXEEFHALNFTEAMIAE -
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The net fair value loss of investment properties recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss represented 5% of the
Group's loss before taxation for the year ended 31 December
2024.
REHBERRFAEEHNRENEAABEFEREER &
SEEE2024F12 431 B IFFE 2 RTATEIR 2 5%

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

B FHEREMENEERROBZEF 21

. obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared
by the external property valuers engaged by the
management and on which the directors’ assessment of
the fair values of investment properties was based;

- BBUkREHEBEZENIMNIMELEMMERE
EREFHREMEN R EELFTHOHEENHKE

WE

. assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued
and considering their objectivity and independence;
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Valuation of investment properties

BREWMENGE

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 2(i).

BRHE GRS 12 R 20) 89 B 71 BUR °

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RMRBRE N EEERESH

The fair values of the investment properties as at 31 December
2024 were assessed by the directors based on independent
valuations prepared by a firm of qualified external property
valuers. The determination of these fair values involves
significant judgement and estimation, particularly in relation
to selecting the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average market price of
the comparable properties.
BREMHEN2024F12ANBNRABERESFEN —HEE
TRONER Y AL E R AR BB A E ML - BZEAAER
HEE P R ERHE R - FRIEEREENMERE &
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We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because of the valuations of investment
properties, involved significant judgements and estimations
made by the management.

BB L REMENEEERBREZEE - AARMFR
BYENMES RERNEERE B -

discussing with the external property valuers their
valuation methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in their valuations;

BRHNER ) 3 ik B BT & SR A P B0 (i (B 75 VR A R il (B 5%
ME B ARE

challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including
yield rates, prevailing market rents and comparable
market transactions) adopted in the valuations, on a
sample basis, by comparison with available market data;
BEEBEMSEBRETHE  ERAETRANE
EfFTMEBR(BFEKEEX - BITHHESMALERT
BR5)

comparing tenancy information, including committed
rents and occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the
external property valuers with underlying contracts and
related documentation, on a sample basis; and
BRMEOATRA & BEEBEIRMHGINEDELER
MEEREE  EEARNEEMAEE  HEXRER
AMAERESITETTHILL © &

involving independent valuation specialists to conduct
a rigorous evaluation of the methodologies, critical
estimates and underlying assumptions adopted.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who express an
unqualified opinion on those statements on 28 March 2024.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company (“directors”) are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M ¥ BlET R &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB TS o R R ENRE

BAMWBE  RYHAHMBRREBES NI FE
RN IRGEF R M B MM ERHERBURRG A2
& YHABEREMEROZBEIRS - &
PIRIEE B & BRI £ 405 15 K T B 10 E 1R R E
m AT (ERBE)WE @ Rt 2SR E I E
HipBH) - RPIBETIRARENAT - HHEME
MALTBEHAEEREE

ERAFRDRFHNRE - BTERERKES
BREADEITNER AR -BERBRRAFE
B REZEIR o SHARERAL AT A F RRF SR ARSI AE -
IMREEBHEMERTUEBLEKRAETESH
BT RRAE B KR F R A1 h B R EOR
E - RIBREEYEE SRR A AT AR EEEK

ERB(EBBEZERDETERNBES - 3
ERTEEAR - RIS T ERBEREE o AT

A Bl AN R A B PO R RF Sl #E AR 1T B BLA R 75
BREFEERFERRANER - ReT AT
EZIRFF ATRS G LR B - A KR JEEGE R M
HENEZRE  (FREMAEANER - H
REFERIBE S R BER - B - E2ER - &
fRERAR - SOEBRAEMESIZ £ - FIREE
HH A SR EARFERBA RS
RARBEHIRA R M BB E X RRAA
R o

TRREEZABORES - ARFHEED

BIZIEFF - BEMLIFY BEREREES
MBMMEERER

AEEEMRASTRRNREELELS
FHERT AR BN A RIE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

117



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M & E B3R &

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purpose of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M ¥ BlET R &

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lee Kwok Lun.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS & f}fi8 = &

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2024 2023
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
b ARET ARETTT
Revenue WA 4 2,602,700 3,530,521
Cost of sales BHE AR (3,225,405) (3,509,365)
Gross (loss)/profit E(8), A (622,705) 21,156
Other net (loss)/gain HF (k) e 5 (248,031) 208,923
Selling and distribution costs SHE A5 SHA AR (66,157) (115,769)
Administrative expenses TR (79,065) (161,935)
Impairment loss on financial assets measured at RHHEKAT ENEREE
amortised cost BEEE 6(c) (417,159) (292,436)
Loss from operations before fair value loss on REVERAAREFEALE
investment properties Eia (1,433,117) (340,061)
Fair value loss on investment properties HEMEAAESE 12 (72,558) (419,200)
Loss from operation after fair value loss on BREYENARBFREBLEE
investment properties B (1,505,675) (759,261)
Fair value (loss)/gain on other investment HihE B AnE(ER),/
Wz 14(a) (5,512) 8,247
Share of loss of an associate DMEEE D EBE 14(c) (274) (1,832)
Finance incomes B 6(a) 4,501 19,328
Finance costs BhE KA 6(a) (68,035) (293,190)
Loss before taxation FRELRIET 1B (1,574,995) (1,026,708)
Income tax expense TSz 7 (466,316) (178,907)
Loss for the year FREE (2,041,311) (1,205,615)
Attributable to: AT &R :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAREHRR (1,834,586) (1,214,747)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR S (206,725) 9,132
Loss for the year FAEE (2,041,311) (1,205,615)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EARALEE(ARED) 10 (331.9) (267.7)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME & 6f 2 H U A &

for the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12A3BILEE

(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBZITR)

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FrE®| (_2_1(_)_4_1_1_3_1_1)_ | (1 ,2(_)5,61 _5) i
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year EREMEE(EE), WA (EHIE
(after tax and reclassification adjustments) LREHIERAER)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HergeE o A2 BRrIER -
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation of financial —BREPEBRINLIE A TR
statements of subsidiaries outside the WEME N E5E
Mainland China (28,292) 23,425
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to HigtesfoERianmIER ¢
profit or loss:
— (Loss)/gain on revaluation of property, plant — % BMENKREBELREYE
and equipment upon transfer to investment &l (&518),/Wax
property (1,647) 17,639
- Deferred tax liabilities on reversal/(recognition) of —#¥% - E RREE AR EME
revaluation of property, plant and equipment R EfhEE0 (R ) MIRE
upon transfer to investment properties HMIEaE 412 (4,410)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year ExHMEEER), A (9,527) 36,654
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEEBARE (2,070,838) (1,168,961)
Attributable to: L&A :
Equity shareholders of the Company R EIRERIR (1,864,113) (1,175,998)
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR R A (206,725) 7,037
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREZHEHEBARE (2,070,838) (1,168,961)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & $f B & AR R =

at 31 December 2024
M2024F12A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2024 2023
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
b ARET ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment eI 11 2,267 5,927
Investment properties WA 12 1,307,232 1,660,100
Intangible assets mLEE 13 6,506 9,697
Interests in a joint venture RE SR ERNER 14(b) - -
Interests in an associate RESE RS 14(c) 4,702 4,682
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 15(b) 315,375 354,667
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEELE 1,636,082 2,035,073
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs FTERHEAME LKA 17 8,146,891 11,694,419
Other investment HEigE 14(a) 146,721 150,888
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E A EUGRIA 18 2,028,481 3,468,927
Prepaid tax SEENEREE] 15(a) 336,732 278,237
Pledged and restricted cash EEAREREIES 19 193,548 568,400
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEY 20 13,057 25,956
10,865,430 16,186,827
Assets of disposal group classified as held forsale  Z|0 A EFEHARIEE 34 156,356 -
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS MEEELRE 11,021,786 16,186,827
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERRIE 21 2,928,501 3,894,300
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 3,042,758 4,360,714
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMES 23 890,076 1,760,095
Senior notes BEEE 24 113,584 111,914
Lease liabilities HERE 26 477 529
Current tax liabilities ENEAR IR A tE 15(a) 431,064 799,562
Deferred income EIEYA 27 175,113 182,135
Financial guarantee contract SRIBERE LY 28 4,020 7,833
Other current liabilities HEfnsasE 29 - 329,039
Other financial liabilities Hih 2 rtBE 30 - 158,859
7,585,593 11,604,980
Liabilities of disposal group classified as held for o AFBEFEHEAE
sale 34 217,582 -
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES REBELE 7,803,175 11,604,980
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & 3t Bt #& AR 5 3=

at 31 December 2024
2024512 A31H
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Pt ARBT T ARETT

NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFE 3,218,611 4,581,847
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES HEERRBAE 4,854,693 6,616,920
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkRBERE

Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMEE 23 1,470,508 1,235,423
Senior notes BERER 24 3,253,866 3,109,999
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 = 204
Deferred tax liabilities FIEFIARE 15(b) 30,112 26,861
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEEEEE 4,754,486 4,372,487
NET ASSETS EESE 100,207 2,244,433
Capital and reserves BRAR S

Share capital [N 33 69,581 36,598
Reserves 1 319,545 2,202,057

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders ARATERRREMN

of the Company XA 389,126 2,238,655
Non-controlling interests IEPERR S (288,919) 5,778
TOTAL EQUITY AR 100,207 2,244,433
The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in Fit & OFEATEAR 2K e R BE PP R — GFBIRE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on page 120 to 123 were approved E120E123 BN A HF I I HRkER 270202553 H28H
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025 and BEZgERRETE  dUATESRARE
were signed on its behalf by :

Luo Jieping He Fei
BN GE
Executive Director Executive Director
HiTEF HiTEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY &8 il 8 8%

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ALRRERRESL
Reserve - Equity
transaction  settled

PRC withnon- share-based ~ Capital Property Non-
Share Share statutory  Capital controlling  payment redemption Exchange revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve interests  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve profits Total interests equity
NEREE
fE-8 LRGTR
HE R REBK -0 HIES FER
ke ROEE iERE  EREE BENRS fiff BERE EXRE EMERE REWE Eh B BEAE
B 3B 3B 33V 33 33(d)iv) 33(d)fii)

Note ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMB000  RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBO0O  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBO000  RMB00  RMBI000
i ARRTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTZ ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR

Balanceat 1 January 2024 142024518104
fe 36598 1,188276 655823 1435617 (117,765 523 120 (33244) 29685  (956,978) 2,238,655 5778 2,44433

Changesinequityfor 2024 2045 BHEEH
Loss for the year ERigk - - - - - - - - - (1,834586) (1,834,586) (206,725) (2,041,311)
Other comprehensive income E2EUNA - - - - - - - (2829 - - (2829 - (28292)
Adjustment upon transferof A2 E RIS FE

previously selfoccupied  BRENFL

property toinvestment {4

property, net of tax effect - - - - - - - - (1,235) - (1,235) - (1,235)

Total comprehensiveincome  2E4 AL - - - - - - - (28290 (1235 (1,834586) (1864113 (206,725) (2070,838)

Equity settled share-based ~ IEEEERRN

transactions 2% )] - - - - - 188 - - - - 188 - 188
Lapsed share options BIRELK - - - - - (203) - - - 203 - - -
Shares issued BRIk 33() 3983 28829 - - - - - - - - 618M - 6181

Acquisition of partialinterests £ 3HZREREA
of subsidiaries fromnon- B LARIES
controlling interests s 16 - - - - (47416) - - - - - (47me) 47416 -
Disposal of subsiciaries ~ HEMEAR  20(e) = g > - - - - - - - - (135388 (135389

Balanceat31 December 72045127318
2024 gfe 69,581 1,217,105 655,823 1435617  (165181) 508 120 (61,536) 28450 (2,791,361) 389,126  (288919) 100,207
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY & i 8 8%

for the year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARKETIR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
LN 2
Reserve - Equity
transaction settled
PRC withnon- share-based  Capital Property Non-
Share Share  statutory  Capital controling  payment redemption  Exchange revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve  interests reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
IEREE
BE-2 HRAA
hE FER RERH g% VES SR
B BhEE EERE  ERRE ERORS BE BORE EXRE ZRERE RENE &t B BREE
B B B 3B 3B 33(d)v) 33(c)ii)
Note ~ RMBOO0 ~ RMBO00  RMB0O0  RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0  RMBOO0 ~ RMB000  RMBO0  RMBO00  RMB000  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMB000
i ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETH ARETT ARETT ARETIL
Balanceat 1 January 203 1203515 188)
&5 36598 1188276 636437 1435617 (110428 5552 120 (8764) 16456 271679 3421543 93062 3514605
Changesinequityfor 203 2035 E5EE
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - - (1.214747) (114747) 9132 (1,205615)
Other comprehensive income £ 2 M - - - - - - - 550 - - 550 (2005 23425
Adjustment upon transfer of - EERI S FE
previouslyselfoccupied  BRENELZ
property to investment AR
property, net of tax effect - - - - - - - - 13229 - 13229 - 13229
Total comprehensive income - 24 A\ 23 - - - - - - - B50 13229 (1214747) (1175998) 7037 (1,168961)
Equity settled share-based ~ MVEZEZMIRN
transactions X% E)) - - - - - 848 - - - - 848 - 848
Lapsed share options BIRELK - - - - - B! - - - 58T - - -
Acquisition of partialinterests 5 321 A
of subsidiaries fromnon- ~~ HEAFHH
controlling interests iy - - - - (1337) - - - - - (7337) @14 (1479
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEHBAT - - (401) - - - - - - - (o) (90179 (90580)
Appropriation to PRC ERETEER
statutory reserve E4 33(d)ii - - 19787 - - - - - - (19787) - - -
Balanceat31 December  2023F 12318
2023 fEs 36598 1188276 655823 1435617  (117765) 53 120 (33,244 29685 (956978) 2,238,655 5718 2244433
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS &R &

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

B R

2024 2023
Note RMB’'000 RMB’'000
b AR¥T T ARETTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REF
Cash generated from operating activities KEEBFBES 20(b) 974,420 1,433,837
PRC tax (paid)/refunded (B, RiETBEFIE (32,399) 16,718
Net cash generated from operating activities RETHMBRSTFE 942,021 (1,450,555
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZED
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from disposal of HEMBATMNFRESR
subsidiaries (H) /A 20(e) (41,393) 8,520
Payment for loans to third parties XBE=ZFER (7,668) (26,071)
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets & A2 B8 B TS 3R - 2,009
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEIRE YT IE 6,539 -
Interest received EUCRE 4,501 12,144
Payment for purchase of property, plant and BEWE - WEREETR
equipment (976) (23)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and N EW% B N EAERS
equipment A 39 1,728
Acquisition of interests of subsidiaries without Wﬁ%jﬁﬁ%%? HIRERI P B
loss of control NGIL = (5,605)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFTARESFE (38,958) (7,298)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 83t RER

for the year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBZITR)

2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B R ARBT T ARETT

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from new bank loans and other

BEED
FIBRITERREMER

borrowings FriSs08 64,450 367,065
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings BEBRTERREMEE (378,876) (582,445)
Advances from controlling shareholders PEAR AR R R - 29,703
Repayment of advances from controlling PERRAR R B R E IR EE

shareholders (189,670) -
Proceeds from discounted bills B AR EIBATIS R - 359,039
Repayment of discounted bills BEEMRER (326,053) (1,022,614)
Repayment of advances from non-controlling EIRFEE IR AR R B K

interests = (105,532)
Advances from third parties FE=FER 12,040 18,719
Repayment of advances from third parties BEE=FBX (27,325) (122,764)
Repayment of parking lots financing arrangements B2 B gh & L HE = (1,881)
Repayment of other financial liabilities and interest  EEHMSRIBENTIE = (210,164)
Net proceeds from disposal of debt securities R EEBIE S S FI8 558 61,812 -
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BB REMEERA (133,717) (235,244)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEEHRSH iéfZL‘ﬁBA (256) (3.629)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSHOREE (21) (46)
Net cash used in financing activities MEETBFTARSFEE (917,616) (1,509,793)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReERBSESENMRFHE (14,552) (66,536)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January MA1ENREREESSEY 20 25,956 76,113
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEERESBHTE 1,653 16,379
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R1I2A3ENBESRRESE

(=5 20 13,057 25,956
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Hydoo International Holding Limited before
14 July 2020, the “Company” or “GHKGBA Holdings”) is listed on
the main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
01396.HK) on 31 October 2013. The registered office address of the
Company is PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located at Unit 916, 9/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun
Tak Centre,168-200 Connaught Road, Central, Hong Kong.

The immediate holding company of the Company is China
Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company is Ms. Zeng Yan.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 16(a).

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(@) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”), and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Significant accounting policies adopted
by the company and its subsidiaries(the “Group”) are disclosed
below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

LFEEH
BEEERAR AR (20206714871
RERBEEAEZERERAR - [RATF I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements

Going concern consideration

The Group incurred a loss of RMB2,041,311,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, the
Group had net current assets of RMB3,218,611,000, and the
Group's current portion of bank loans and other borrowings
amounted to RMB890,076,000 and senior notes due in
2023 October (“October 2023 Senior Notes”) amounted to
RMB113,584,000, while its cash and cash equivalents amounted
to RMB13,057,000 only. Moreover, certain holders of October
2023 Senior Notes were, for their own reason, not practical to
tender for exchange and accept the exchange offer launched
by the Company on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”) and
the Group was not practical to repay the principal and interest
on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately US$15,801,000
and US$5,471,000 (equivalent to RMB113,584,000 and
RMB39,328,000), respectively, as such holders of October
2023 Senior Notes cannot be effectively communicated. As at
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group is not practical to effectively communicate with
such holders of October 2023 Senior Notes to negotiate for
settlement or repayment, and no redemption notice received in
respect of the October 2023 Senior Notes. Such non-payment
of the principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes
may cause an event of default, and may lead to demand for
immediate repayment. Besides, subsequent to the end of
the reporting period, the bank borrowings of approximately
RMB788 million will be due within 12 months. Further, in view
of the current condition of the property market, coupled with
the limited source of financing from the capital market, the
Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from
the sale of its inventories and/or have the cash from external
financing to meet its loan repayment obligations.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. EEGHBR(E)
(b) EHFMBHRERNVBEREE(FE)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial

statements (Cont’d)
Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group'’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
conditions, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that the
Group is able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. The Group can meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due within the next twelve months, after taking
into consideration of the measures and arrangements made by
the Group as detailed below:

i.  The Group has successfully obtained support from most of
the senior notes holders in restructuring during 2023.

The Company has launched an Exchange Offer on 17 April
2023, and pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 26 April 2023, US$75,000,000, representing 100.0%
of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
senior notes due in May 2023, and US$287,819,000,
representing approximately 94.8% of the total aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding senior notes due in
October 2023, have been validly tendered for exchange
and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. The
Company also launched a consent solicitation (“Consent
Solicitation”) for the new senior note due in 2029 (“New
Notes”) on 11 October 2023, and successfully completed
the Consent Solicitation on 25 October 2023. Details refer
to announcements of the Company dated 17 April 2023,
26 April 2023, 28 April 2023, 4 May 2023, 11 October 2023,
23 October 2023, and 25 October 2023.

If the Company was unable to repay its maturing senior
notes through internal funds in 2023, it will be required
to secure loans from banking institutions or third-party
entities to fulfill its debt obligations. This recourse would
subject the Company to heightened financial obligations
in 2024 and subsequent years, encompassing both
principal repayments and interest-bearing liabilities.

130 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED Ei#&&2 iR AR A 7

HEREHEZE (H)

R AKEREE SN NIBRERE
B Hilt > ARERREEIELREE

B LG - AHMBEREEERR
SEER ERE M RRESERFELZE
CEELNFELEER RN - &£
ERAS B EREE LA T e M % BE
% AEEAERE T —EARETE
HIR B 53875 -

i AEER2023FKINEF KIS E
EREFEABESEHENFR -

RRAFIR2023F4 417 B E# 8 —
BERXBREL  BEAQRE A H
B2023F 426N E A&
48 %8 100.0% H 2023 £ 5 A EI| HA
75,000,000 LB EHE LA S 42
FH 4994.8% 192023 F 10 A B Hi K9
287,819,000 TELZEERER
REBLHBBIRREIRWEE 4N -
BARNAR2023F10 11 BHEH R
2029 F R AR 215 ([ TR #B ) 3
BTREECK(TEARER] - TR
2023F10 25 AN 5ERK T R BB
Ko FIERLMARF HEA2023
F4H178 20235482608 -
202394 H28H - 2023F5H4H -
2023108118 ~ 2023410 A 23
H K%2023510 H25 B A% -

EARQREER 2023 FLAREPE
SEEIAMELRE - AIZERIRTT
WRESNE =T ERBESERARETT
HERKED - ZBREBEARAR
E2024 FRZIEMNFEREES
MEIBEL  BRASERERTE
afE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Cont’d)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

(Cont'd)

The success of the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation
result and enable the Company to effectively extend the
maturity profile of most of its offshore indebtedness due
from April 2023 to April 2029 with lower interest, and
significantly ease the pressure on cash flow. The Company
will continue to actively communicate with the remaining
holders of October 2023 Senior Notes, and urges such
holders of October 2023 Senior Notes to exchange the
remaining October 2023 Senior Notes for the New Notes.

The Group has good track records and relationship
with banks which would enhance the Group’s ability on
extension and renewal of its bank borrowing or facilities.
Besides, the Group will continue to monitor its compliance
of financial covenants of the Group’s bank borrowings and
with the support of recent national and local government
policies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), it is
confident that sufficient financing can be arranged from
the refinancing or renewal of bank borrowings upon or
before the maturity date.

During the 2024 and subsequent to the reporting period,
the Group has obtained continuous financial support from
the controlling shareholder. The controlling shareholder
has confirmed that it will not demand the Group for
repayment of the shareholder loan within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period should
the Group not be in the financial position to make such
repayment.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Cont’d)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

iv.

vi.

Vii.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up
to the date of approval of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group have further received deposits
or advanced sales proceed from property purchasers of
approximately RMB99,897,000 from sales of properties in
the normal course of business.

In September 2023, the executive meeting of the State
Council of the PRC deliberated and approved the
“Special Action Plan for Clearing Accounts in Arrears
of Enterprises”, aiming to solve the problem of arrears
owed by the local government. With the support of this
government policy and action plan, the Group has actively
communicated and negotiated with local governments to
settle the receivables.

The Group will continue to take measures to accelerate
the sales of its completed properties held for sale and to
speed up the collection of sales proceeds.

The Group is considering various proposals, including
but not limited to pledges of the Group’s properties for
sales (included in inventory) and investment properties,
in order to raising new borrowing facilities or seeking
for sales in the market to improve liquidity and to obtain
additional funds to support the Group’s working capital
needs. As of 31 December 2024, the properties for sale
(included in inventory) and the investment properties of
the Group amounted to approximately RMB3 billion and
RMB1.3 billion, respectively.

2. EEGHBR(E)
(b) EHFMBHRERNVBEREE(FE)

HEREHEZE (H)
iv. WMERRMEEMAERSHIBER

Vi.

Vii.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Cont’d)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

viii. The Group will continue to take proactive measures
to control selling and distribution expenses and
administrative expenses.

Taking into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next 12 months from 31 December
2024. Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as
to whether sufficient financing can be arranged from the
refinancing or renewal of bank borrowings and operating
cash flows generated from the sales of properties depending
on the market condition. Should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, adjustments might have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively, or to make provision for any contractual
commitments that have become onerous, where appropriate.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2. EERHBR(E)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial (b) EOtEIERRNERELE(E)

statements (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 comprise the financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) rounded to the nearest thousand. The
measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is the historical cost basis except that the
following assets and liabilities are stated at their fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below:

- equity investments other than investments in subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures (see note 2(g));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see note
2(9));

- derivative financial instruments (see note 2(h));

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold
land and buildings held as investment properties where
the Group is the registered owner of the property interest

(see note 2(i)); and

- other financial liabilities (see note 2(v)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRSs that have significant effect on the consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 3.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2. EERHBR(E)
(0 EFBEWNES

(c) Changes in accounting policies

i.  New and amended IFRSs that are effective for annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time, the following amendments to IFRS issued by the
ISAB, which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning on 1 January 2024:

Amendments to IFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

(the “2022 Amendments”)

Amendments to |IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and IFRS 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

i

New and amended IFRSs that are effective for annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024 (Cont’d)

The nature and impact of the revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(i)

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the 2020 Amendments”);
and Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity
complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

Upon adoption of the amendments, the Group
has reassessed the terms and conditions of its loan
arrangements. The application of the amendments
has no material impact on the classification of the
Group's liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

i.  New and amended IFRSs that are effective for annual
period beginning on 1 January 2024 (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions
that satisfy the requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for
as a sale. The amendments require a seller-lessee
to determine “lease payments” or “revised lease
payments” such that the seller-lessee would not
recognize a gain or loss that relates to the right of use
retained by the seller-lessee.

Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transaction, the application of the amendments had
no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The amendments clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional
disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to
assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on
an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

ii.

Issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to IFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7
Instruments?

Annual Improvements to IFRS
Accounting Standards -

Amendments to
IFRS 1, IFRS 7, IFRS 9,

IFRS 10 and IAS 7 Volume 112

Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

Amendments to IFRS 9
and IFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature-
dependent Electricity?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

()

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)
ii.  Issued but not yet effective (Cont’d)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms
with the holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.

2. EREHBR(E)

()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans
from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position in
accordance with notes 2(q) or (r) depending on the nature of
the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 2(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate and joint venture
(see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
2(m)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (see
note 2(z)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over
its management, including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (see note 2(z)).
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group'’s share of the
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct
investment into the associate or joint venture that forms part
of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating
to the investment (see notes 2(f) and (m)(iii)). Any acquisition-
date excess over cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition,
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses
for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition
post-tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income
is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group'’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 2(m)(i)).

2. EREHBR(E)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group'’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 2(g)).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(m)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(9)

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 35(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

(i)  Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified
into one of the following measurement categories:

- amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 2(w)(vii)).

- fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

2. EREHBR(E)

(9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(9)

(h)

Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Cont’d)

(i)  Investments other than equity investments (Cont'd)

- fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

(ii)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy set out
in note 2(w)(vi).

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(i)

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 2(l)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are
still in the course of construction or development at the end
of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in note
2(w)(ii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property
interest under an operating lease and used the property to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could
elect on a property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any such property
interest which had been classified as an investment property
was accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 2(l)), and the same accounting policies were applied to
that interest as were applied to other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments were accounted
for as described in note 2(l).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 2(m)(iii)).

- interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note
2(1)); and

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest.

2. EREHBR(E)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

()

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 2(y)).

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when it is ready for its intended use. No
depreciation is provided against construction in progress.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(k)
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(m)(iii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use and their estimated/contracted useful lives are as
follows:
Software 5-10 years
Franchises granted 15 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
() Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(j) and 2(m)(iii)), except for
the following types of right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 2(i); and

- right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold
land where the interest in the land is held as
inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with note 2(n).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

U]

Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the group has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.

2. EEGHBR(E)
HEEE(E)

U]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2. EERHBR(E)
() Leased assets (Cont’d) (y HEEEGE)
(i) fEBHFEA

(i) Asalessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 2(w)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(I)(i),
then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including restricted and pledged cash, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
including loans to the third parties, which are held
for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest);
and

- lease receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity investments measured at FVTPL, amounts due from
an associate, wealth management products and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

2. EREHBR(E)
(m) EREEREERE(E)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d)

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the
date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

2. EREHBR(E)
(m) EREEREERE(E)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk (Cont’d)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in debt investments
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. EREHBR(E)
(m) EREEREERE(E)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(w)
(vii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

(i)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset and lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees contracts

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised in respect
of the financial guarantee provided by the Group to
the banks for property purchasers. Financial guarantee
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After initial
recognition, such liabilities are measured at the higher of
the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation and the amount
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation of
fees recognised. Financial guarantee liabilities are
derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired.

2. EE®

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

RHCR (48)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2. EEOHIRGE)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) (m) ERABBEREEREE)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (iii) B I 7B EE A
AEBEEESRERAREZAITR
SNRERE - UBRIREAETRABT
THNEE (BREESN) AT RE R E
SR ERNBEBRETHEE
A BEEIR D

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets (other than property carried at revalued
amounts);

intangible assets;

interests in joint ventures and associates;

goodwill; and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(n) Inventories and other contract costs

(i)

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the

ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

2. EREHBR(E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d) (n)
(i) Inventories (Cont’d)

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follows:

- Property development

Cost and net realisable values are determined as
follows:

- Leasehold land held for future development

The cost of leasehold land, which is held
for development, represents the cost of
acquisition and the premium, if any, payable
to the relevant government authorities. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to
management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.

The cost of properties under development
comprises specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of development,
materials and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see
note 2(y)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

- Completed properties held for sale

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 2. EERHBR(E)

(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d) (n) FEREMENRA(E)
(i)  Inventories (Cont'd) (i) FE(#&E)
- Property development (Cont’d) - YFEFHZ(E)
- Completed properties held for sale (Cont'd) - BESEETIE
(%)
In the case of completed properties developed WETIMERELSE

by the Group which comprise of multiple units
which are sold individually, the cost of each
unit is determined by apportionment of the
total development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square metre basis,
unless another basis is more representative of

ERMEEZEERD
EWEN - B G EER
MR AR ZERIER S
BRENAIRIEE T
KEEDRESEEML
MEE - BRIFERBEE

the cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value BRI B X
represents the estimated selling price less costs o AR FE AR
to be incurred in selling the property. EEBRAELYMEME
R ARIER) B o
Other inventories - EBEMFE

Other inventories include low-value consumption
goods and goods for sale. They are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(n)

Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d)

(i)

Inventories (Cont’d)
- Other inventories (Cont’d)

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

(i)  Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory (see note 2(n)(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained (e.g. an incremental sales commission).
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

2. EREHBR(E)

(n)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(n)

(o)

Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d)
(iij) Other contract costs (Cont’d)

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the net
of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services
to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 2(w).

Contracts liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(w)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note
2(p)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 2(w)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

2. EE®
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(p)

Trade and other receivables (Cont’d)

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All Receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(m)(i)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in
accordance with note 2(v)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs (see note 2(y)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in note 2(m)(i).

2. EREHBR(E)

(p)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(t) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Obligation for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans pursuant to the relevant labour rules
and regulations in the PRC are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred, except to the extent that they
are included in properties for sale not yet recognised as an
expense.

Equity settled share-based payment

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the equity settled share-based payment
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of the options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

2. EE®

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(t)

(u)

Employee benefits (Cont’d)
(i)  Equity settled share-based payment (Cont’d)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity settled share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity settled share-based payment reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the equity settled
share-based payment reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

2. EREHBR(E)

(t)

(u)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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(u)

FRri&% (&)
BRAETARMIMERIN - FIBELRIA
BEMABRELERAEEEAN BRI
BRERBRAERAAKHER R EERFE
R AXFHEARE TR EREER
FRERIREER B RERTANE &
EZEREBORAERAREFEER
% BREEEARMARMEKENE
FERMERAR - WIAHNER AN
R B I R R — B SR B IR
TRE B R TR B 18 A 3 Sk A 48 O A
RO - A ERAERRANEREZEE
BXFERE RS ANIAEE MR RE
RN IR E ER R A ARRE
B i 3% 5 A M 22 BR B AR R A A5 A B
HRAERNEEAR - LFRHNAER
HIAEESR A R ARE - AlgEE
EREERIREE °

EREETREERBENERIIIMG
AR TR LIRS B ROHRA R E - T
EeitXERVANENEELRENT]
FHER(AREMFATEREEESHDN
—HWO)FEEANEREER  UAREA
BREMBARNEREZR(NEBE
AR ZE BR A] DA R AN SR [ | S Bl B ]
i BAER] T8 R8RSR A R] e (| ey =
B B AR ERR - BIERNIRRA
BEFEARREBRIMZER)

RIEEWE 2 R ERM 20 E
SETBRATE - RIETEH AR AR
RilE B2 EE D ERREERHRER
RE - RRIERMESANERN - AHFHE
REBEERN - HBE N EEERHEAE
BHREE LRI ENAA LR
@ MAREBHE - EFFEEMEBER
T EHERNETEHRARARERLE
BEENMBEREENT N AHREH
REBMHBAEBELECBEMNHRFE - B
ERIBEE R BEWARIE

7

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3R

167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

2. EREHBR(E)

(u)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(v) Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combination

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised and the amount
that would be determined in accordance with note 2(v)(i).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. EREHBR(E)
(w) W REMBA

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

170 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 27542 i& /5 [R A 7

ERAE B R —BBR T RHIRS
SEMATRIBEEOERAEENEE
EEWER > ARESKADBERK
EEMRIRBONIEHIREBEER P 0K
HABREREER  ZAKEKERE
RENFGERESERERA NS - 8%
RERFE =TT WERAFR - Waa T EIEE
BERFEMBEER - DENRENES
40 -

MEXNEEREPRHBERNER2
EAMBERD - WasiZBUFIRRNER
B E - RABREZPHNERERER
S RBREAEIR FE TR - A S U
ARPBZ BN EXREBER - WE O
BRAEERHTEARERNOHE B
7 AIRBAOERNKAEEREE
M ERA DA BRENNEM -
REEFHEBYH RS ERF 1558
3R AIITHREE » W THBERE
HEAREASZATERTEARE
DIEMFENRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed
for sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised
when the property is delivered to customers, which is
the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are included in the statement of
financial position under contract liabilities (see note 2(0)).

For contracts where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised property
exceeds one year, the transaction price and the amount
of revenue from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing component. If the
advance payments by the customer are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of time value
of money will be accrued by the Group during the period
between the payment date and the date of delivery
of property. This accrual increases the balance of the
contract liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under IAS 23, Borrowing costs,
in accordance with the policies set out in note 2(y).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Service fee income

Service fee income in relation to property management
service, advertising service and other ancillary services are
recognised when such services are provided to customers.

Income from trading business

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
assets. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the assets (see
note 2(m)(i)).

2. EREHBR(E)
(w) sk HAWA ()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(x)

(vii) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of assets are initially recognised as deferred income and
subsequently deducted from the carrying amount of
assets and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss when the inventories are sold or transferred
to investment properties upon meeting the relevant
conditions, if any, attaching to them.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies (Cont’d)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets
to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction.

2. EREHBR(E)

(x)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(2)

Non-current assets held for sale (Cont’d)

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above criteria
for classification as held for sale are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary
after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-
date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and
until disposal, the non-current assets or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is
classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.

(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

3. ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 2(b), 12, 14 and 35 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
valuation of investment property, impairment of interests in joint
ventures and an associate and fair value of financial instruments.
Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)  Valuation of investment properties

As described in Note 12, investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuation performed by an independent
firm of professional valuers.

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
valuers have based on a method of valuation which involves,
inter alia, certain estimates including current market rents and
market price for similar properties in the same location, and
condition, appropriate discount rates and expected future
market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

(i) Impairment for interests in joint ventures and an associate

As explained in note 2(m)(iii), the Group determines that
investment in joint ventures and an associate is impaired
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the recoverable amount below its cost. Management
assesses the differences between the carrying amount and
recoverable amount and makes provision for impairment loss.
Any change in the assumptions adopted in calculating the
recoverable amount would increase or decrease the provision
for impairment loss and affect the Group’s financial position. In
determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by
the assets are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to items such as level of discount
rates and the expected long-term growth rate. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount that
is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of items such as revenue, amount of operating
costs.
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3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Recognition of government grants

Government grants are initially recognised by the Group as
a deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position when an amount is received and are subsequently
recognised or amortised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the specific conditions attached to the government
grants. The Group is required to fulfil the requirements agreed
with the local governments when conducting the related
infrastructure construction and the Group assesses whether the
conditions attached to the government grants are met based
on management'’s best estimates, particularly in interpreting
the fulfilment of conditions which are not clearly stated in the
respective agreements.

Provision for PRC land appreciation tax(“LAT”)

As explained in note 7(a), the Group has estimated, made
and included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the
property development projects and the tax authorities might
disagree with the basis on which the provision for PRC LAT is
calculated. Significant judgment is required in determining
the level of provision, as the calculation of which depends on
the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties of the
calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the
income tax provision in the period in which such determination
is made.

Determining the write-down for inventories

As explained in note 2(n), the Group’s leasehold land held
for future development, properties under development and
completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group’s recent
experience and the nature of the subject property, the Group
makes estimates of the selling price, the costs of completion
in case for properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

3.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Determining the write-down for inventories (Cont’d)

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, write-down for completed properties held
for sale, properties held for future development and under
development may be resulted. Such provision requires the use
of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value and write-down
for properties in the periods in which such estimate is changed
will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the
distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes
in terms of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the write-down would affect profit or loss in future
years.

Impairment for trade and other receivables

The Group expected credit losses (ECL) for trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers to
make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on
the aging of the trade and other receivable balance, customer
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate, actual
provisions would be higher than estimated.

Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable
profits are estimated which involves a number of assumptions
relating to the operating environment of the Group and require
a significant level of judgment exercised by the directors. Any
change in such assumptions and judgment would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.

3.

B EHFIER R (b5t (#8)

et AHEE B 3 A9 3R (48)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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3.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 3. BHHIERR AETH(4E)
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

A TRERZENRIR(E)
(viii) BEEREYE .2 EEFHE

(viii) Determining the deferred taxation on investment properties

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties
to third parties whereby the directors consider that such
arrangement is not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group
has decided to treat those properties as investment properties
(and reclassifying them from completed properties held for sale
to investment properties) because it is the Group’s intention
to hold these properties in long-term for rental income and/or
capital appreciation.

Under IAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the
manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying
amount of the assets in question. In this regard, IAS 12 has a
rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of investment
property carried at fair value under IAS 40, Investment property,
will be recovered through sale. This presumption is rebutted
on a property-by-property basis if the investment property in
question is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment
property portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that
as at 31 December 2024, the Group has determined that each
of these properties are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time and
consequently the presumption in IAS 12 is rebutted for these
properties. As a result, the Group has continued to measure the
deferred tax relating to these other properties using the tax rate
that would apply as a result of recovering their value through
use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The principal activities of the Group are development, sales and
operation of residential properties, commercial trade and logistics
centers, and trading business in the Mainland China.

Revenue represents income from sales of properties, property
management services income, rental income and invoiced value of
goods sold, net of sales related taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
major products or service lines is as follows:

4.

AR5 ERER S

AREME T EEBAEDEAREITEEY
EURBBIRDOOME - HEREE
AR 55T

WATEMEHERA - MEEERBEA -
HEWALEmHEERFRE - HP ks
HEMRBENIA IR BT

(a) WA
BEFAHNBAREIEERIREHEE D
NN

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT

Revenue from contracts with customers BRET ISR XERISE 155K E5E
within the scope of IFRS 15 ANEFSHBA
Continuing operations HEREER
- Sales of properties —WIEEE 2,577,714 1,562,939
- Property management services —MEERRE 8,015 82,476
- Others —EAfh 2,556 4,620
2,588,285 1,650,035
Discontinued operation HIEREER
- Trading business —EFEK - 1,859,852
2,588,285 3,509,887
Revenue from other sources H 2R A
Rental income A2WA 14,415 20,634
2,602,700 3,530,521
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR%F T ARETTT
Sale of properties by type of properties RYED WY EHE
- Residential units — =B 2,275,362 1,168,234
— Commercial units — P EEN 302,352 394,705
2,577,714 1,562,939

Included in the sale of properties, approximately
RMB2,368,973,000 (2023: RMB1,427,289,000) was recognised
from completion of pre-sale units.

FFABEBEWESY O HARE
2,368,973,000 7T ( 2023 £ : A R ¥
1,427,289,0007T ) 2K B SEAX TAE HEE T ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(a)

Disaggregation of revenue (Cont’'d)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

4. WARSEBEHE ()

(a)

WA 7 (&)
TEEFZEH

BRAAEBZIKA10%HIA FHNEFE
BT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Customer A' EEA - 1,019,422
Customer B’ % FB' - 387,201
Note: B3

1. Revenue from trading business 1. REEZHEBHUA

Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of business lines (products and
services). In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has identified two
reportable segments. In the current year an operating segment
regarding the trading business was discontinued due to
disposal of subsidiaries.

- Property development and related services: this segment
mainly provides revenue arising from the sale of
properties developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business. It also provides value-added business such as
property management services and rental services.

- Trading business: this segment mainly operates trading of
non-ferrous metals and chemical products.

7R E

AEERMPIEEREER - ELaBfih
EisiR (Em IR ) )R A MR - IR
AASERSTREREANPRSEL
NEITERD MBI A —
MR AEEDEEMERN 2R
2B MAFE ARNHENBLRR - B
BESEBHNEED BRI

— DERBNAABERY  Z0EE
RHUHERFXRBBRTHREAR
HERMEMHERA - FIREHE
MEREERGMAERGFRER
& o

- BEEH &

HUEBERAES
B TESS

p=1113
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

4.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

No operating segment has been aggregated in arriving at the
reporting segments of the Group as identified by the chief
operating decision makers. For the purposes of assessing
segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets directly managed by the segment, with the
exception of deferred tax assets, other financial assets and
prepaid tax. Segment liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to controlling shareholders, other
financial liabilities, deferred income, contract liabilities and
lease liabilities attributable to the sales activities of the
individual segments and senior notes and bank loans, other
financial liabilities and other borrowings managed directly
by the segments. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(the “EBITDA")", where “depreciation and amortisation” is
regarded as including impairment losses on non-current assets.
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s earnings are further
adjusted for items which are non-recurring or not specifically
attributed to individual segments, such as other income,
impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost,
fair value gain on investment properties and share of profits
less losses of joint ventures.

4.

WA B 53 BBERE ()
(b) 7B E ()
BEBEERREHD  EREAEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the period is set out below.

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

4. WARSEBHEE(E)

(b) 7B E ()
RABERMTEEAS HEEM AR
SERRTHRERBRHNTETSE
FIEYURA - 3R & E R A YA LA K
BALET2ESBNELNS AW

T o

Continuing Discontinued
operations operations
EREXEK IR
Property development
and related services Trading business Total
VIESEE ST BEA%K st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARKTT ARMTR ARBTT ARSI ARETET
Reportable segmentrevenue A2 KA 2,602,700 1,670,669 - 1859852 2,602,700 3,530,521
Reportable segment(loss)/profit 7] 24K 8 (E548) /
(adjusted (LBITDA)/EBITDA) B (EREEHA
(&518) /@) (761,878) (250,458) (1,527) 9577 (763,405) (240,881)
Finance incomes BBRA 4,227 9,027 274 10,301 4,501 19,328
Finance costs BEARA (64794  (276,841) (3,241) (16,349) (68,035)  (293,190)
Depreciation and amortisation & ATE % 54
for the year (4,452) (15,402) (70) (265) (4,522) (15,667)
Impairment (loss)/reverse on BB AT EN
financial assets measured at SREERE
amortisation costs (B518) /& (425942)  (274,674) 8,783 (17,762 (417,159)  (292,436)
Fair value loss on investment REMENRAE
properties B (72,558)  (419,200) - - (72,558)  (419,200)
As at 31 December M2A31H
Reportable segment assets 2RI PEE 11,854,338 15,031,007 - 2530165 11,854,338 17,561,172
Reportable segment liabilites ~ AI2HHDEE 12,096,485 13,146,361 - 2132429 12,096,485 15,278,790
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 4. BARSEBERE ()
(c) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, loss, () AIZ2FHBWA - EiE - EERE
assets and liabilities BN
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Revenue PN
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated 7] 23k 2 SPURAFIA HFIRA

revenue 2602,700 3,530,521
Loss E1E
Reportable segment loss derived from Group’s  JRE REBEINEEFE 2 7] 2

external customers o EBESIE (763,405) (240,881)
Other net (loss)/gain Hith)F (E598) e (248,031) 208,923
Impairment loss on financial assets measured B ANt EN S REE

at amortisation costs RIEEE (417,159) (292,436)
Depreciation and amortisation PTE S (4,522) (15,667)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEIEEGE (72,558) (419,200)
Unallocated fair value (loss)/gain on other RAOMEAMZEN R AE

investment (E518), W (5,512) 8,247
Unallocated share of loss of an associate RO GRS EEE (274) (1,832)
Unallocated finance costs ROBEFERA (68,035) (293,190)
Finance incomes B RS U A 4,501 19,328
Consolidated loss before taxation BRELET & DF 18 (1,574,995) (1,026,708)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 4.

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, loss,

assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

KA RS ERE S ()
(0 A2HIIUA - BE - EERE
B iR (4)

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T AREFIT

Assets BE

Reportable segment assets AIZ2MNFEE 11,854,338 17,561,172
Elimination of inter-segment receivables HiH D A FEUE IR = (127,746)
11,854,338 17,433,426

Interests in an associate REE P ENER 4,702 4,682
Deferred tax assets EEFIBEE 315,375 354,667
Other investments BEmisE 146,721 150,888
Prepaid tax ENE e 336,732 278,237
Consolidated total assets EHREE 12,657,868 18,221,900
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ET T AREFT

Liabilities aE

Reportable segment liabilities AIZ2WmoaaE 12,096,485 15,278,790
Elimination of inter-segment payable 58 5> S0 R FE S FR0E - (127,746)
12,096,485 15,151,044

Current tax liabilities BNEff I B & 431,064 799,562

Deferred tax liabilities FEFIBAE 30,112 26,861
Consolidated total liabilities AfBaE 12,557,661 15,977,467
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 4. WARSEBEHE ()
(d) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future (d EREHFENEFSAMER
arising from contracts with customers in existence at FEHN A ERZNERA
the reporting date
The following table includes revenue expected to be TRHFFNE@MI2A31BHRBITHE
recognised in the future related to performance obligations KWEAETEERN RE RSN
that are unsatisfied at 31 December:
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBFIT
Remaining performance obligations BRTEAEEETAUT
expected to be satisfied: HAPRFEAT :
Within 1 year 1A 870,394 3,425,734
1 year to 2 years 1224 1,661,314 1,385,452
2,531,708 4,811,186

These amounts represent revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from pre-completion sales contracts for properties
under development entered into by the customers with
the Group. These amounts include the significant financing
components of the pre-completion properties sales contracts
under which the Group obtains significant financing benefits
from the customers (see note 2(w)(i)).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of IFRS 15 to its property management service contracts
such that the above information does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.
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5.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

OTHER NET (LOSS)/GAIN 5. HB(HHR) ka
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’'000
bz AR¥T T AREFIT
Net loss on disposal of investment properties HEREVMENTFEER (63,742) -
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE W B AR F U 20(e) 10,667 183,959
(Loss)/gain on written off of other non-current E b IERB)E B R (&
assets 8), W= (115) 3,818
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BE R&ER
equipment FEE (314) (8,937)
Government grants T Bh () 2 23,236
Penalty for overdue land-transferring fees BRI T HEEENIIR (b) (177,817) -
Others Hth (16,712) 6,847
(248,031) 208,923

HZ2023F12A31HILFE - EWE|IFEH
B BT E Bk L E R AR R BUT 4 B
(20244 : 48) o ZSH B & I AE R ZR Y

i B EE -

Notes: PisE
(@)  Government grants have been received from the PRC local government (a)
authorities in relation to land compensation income for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2024: nil). There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies attached to these grants.
(b)  Penalty for overdue land-transferring fees refer to charges imposed (b)

due to the failure to settle land purchase payments by the stipulated
deadline. A penalty of 0.1% per day will be levied on the outstanding

balance of unpaid amounts.

BRI L ER BN IR ARERE
HIR NS BB FUAMEUREER - HRX
RFRIEH) R AE SRS IR T H 0.1%H) Hb Ik

=REL

EEAN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

FRIRAIESIR

Loss before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

(a)

*  The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a weighted average * BENADIZRINETFIFEREL05%2
rate of 4.05%-13.85% per annum (2023: 4.27%-14.00%). 13.85% (20234 : 4.27%% 14.00% ) & AX
{t e
(b) Staff costs (b) BT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMBET 53,739 93,798
Equity settled share-based payment expenses LARR I 4E B LARR (0 AR BT
NEGERS 188 848
Contributions to defined contribution retirement  EREHFUERETE]
plans 4,514 8,937
58,441 103,583

Finance incomes and finance costs

(a) MHWRAKBE R

BRIATERE G,/ KR TIRIRERSGH :

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T AREEF T
Finance incomes g AN
Bank interest income ERITH B HA (4,501) (11,756)
Other interest income E ) B HA - (7,572)
(4,501) (19,328)
Finance costs RE R
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings RITERMEMEENFE 130,420 194,965
Interest on amounts due to a non-controlling ANE S
interest IEF B = 47,895
Interest on senior notes BREERFE 112,056 180,982
Interest on lease liabilities HERGEF B 21 46
Accrued interest on significant financing BRBEENERRENS
component of contract liabilities FEEFIE 16,724 6,528
Other borrowing costs EEERA 10,724 35,771
269,945 466,187
Less: interest expense capitalised into properties &l : BACBEATE R ER
under development* PR 220,182 244,991
Add: foreign exchange loss B ERTEEE 18,272 71,994
68,035 293,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Cont'd) 6. BRINBIEIE(4E)
(c) Otheritems () EHfbEHE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Depreciation and amortisation TE R

- plant and equipment (note 11) — B MR (BRE11) 801 3,006

- right-of-use assets (note 11) —EREEE M) 530 9,994

- intangible assets (note 13) —fEREE (MEE13) 3,191 2,667

4,522 15,667

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) EEBER, ()

— trade and other receivables — 85 kA MEYIE 395,640 276,151

- financial guarantee contracts —2RERED (1,172) 7,833

- amounts due from a joint venture and other — e EPEREMRE
investment A 22,691 8,452

417,159 292,436

Auditors’ remuneration 1Z RN B &

- audit service — FWET RS 1,800 1,800

— other service — H 0 AR 650 750

2,450 2,550

Rental income from investment properties WEVEMEDR

less direct outgoings BERAX (8,997) (10,370)

Cost of inventories sold EEFERA

- properties (note (i) — MR (FIFEG)) 2,576,563 1,260,987

- commodities — R A A - 1,855,652

~ Write-down of inventories —FEHKEEE 643,128 330,803

3,219,691 3,447,442

Note: BaE -

(i)  Cost of properties sold is after netting off reversal of utilisation () HZE2024F12A31HLEFE  2EY
of deferred income in respect of government grants of SRR FRRE A R BT 47 B B B DI
RMB21,776,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: FEY A B [0 A\ R % 21,776,000 7T (2023
RMB23,051,000) (note 27). &+ AR¥523,051,0007T) (MizE27) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7. SHIREFRAMFMER
OF PROFIT ORLOSS
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) EBHtEZERANTIERE
represents
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARET T

Current tax BRERBEIE
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT”) PRI EFTSH( PEEE
(note (iii)) FRi8® ) (M 5k i) 22,337 66,160
PRC LAT (note (iv)) R B -t S (B R (B R Giv)) 221,541 108,282
Under provision in prior years BEFERETR 211,715 -
455,593 174,442
Deferred tax ELERIE
Origination of temporary differences B EREREE
(note 15(b)) (FF5E15(b)) 10,723 4,465
466,316 178,907
Notes: MEE -
() Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the (i) BIEFASHEEREINER KNEBENZ

Group is not subject to any income tax in this jurisdiction.

(i)  No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group (ii)
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
year (2023: Nil).

(iiiy PRCCIT (iii)

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries are subject to statutory tax rate of
25% on their assessable profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

7. INCOME TAXIN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont'd)
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents (Cont’d)
Note: (Cont'd)

(iv)

PRC LAT

PRC LAT which is levied on properties developed for sale by
the Group in the Mainland China, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and all qualified
property development expenditures. Deferred tax assets arising
from PRC LAT accrued are calculated based on the applicable
income tax rates when they are expected to be cleared.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Group were subject to PRC
LAT which were calculated based on 6% to 8% of their revenue in
accordance with the authorised tax valuation method approved
by respective local tax bureau.

The authorised tax valuation method adopted by certain
subsidiaries of the Group is one of the allowable taxation methods
in the Mainland China and the respective local tax bureaus are
the competent tax authorities to approve the authorised tax
valuation method in charging PRC LAT to the respective PRC
subsidiaries of the Group, and the risk of being challenged by
the State Administration of Taxation or any tax bureau of higher
authority is remote.

7.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

SHIRRRANFRFRGE)

(a)

BfRERANTIEE (&)

feE - ()

(iv)

B IR E

AN [ $ 5 AR B M P R B M 2B IR
BB 18 A 30% 5 60% 1) 2 i Tl R 44 4%
PR L ISERR - RBEARG - AR
TR AR R IR E Y E FTS B AT
MBS (BE I EREREESE
BEKAMAEEERMERERY)
FTE o B MG ERE A REERE
BENMbFSTE B ERLE A TS R
EEtE -

BEAN © AEEEE THIE A BRIEAER
BT RS BHLER R E R B A
E R a5 6% 2= 8%t B AR Bl 1 32 (E
i o

AEEEE THE A RSB
B AP EAMRBAIE AR TEZ
— ARG E T BB A B P %
HWHRERAMAZE R RAREF
TEBR R B IR AR T BRI
B BXERBBRRIEMLREE
ML SR ER A -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

7. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 7. EHRARFABNFMERGE)
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont'd)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting (b) FrE#HiEiRE AR R ENZETE
loss at applicable tax rates BEHHER
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETTT
Loss before taxation BRAATEE (1,574,995) (1,026,708)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated RA BB ERRFER
at the rates applicable to profits in the countries R GT ERBR IR EER
concerned HEBIE (393,749) (256,738)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AN S RIS o & 41,896 1,522
Tax effect of unused losses not recognized RIERARGE A UEIER
e 2 210,670 82,322
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised  RIERE R4 = EFHE
2 234,740 (25,111)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses & 3 4t Al AR & AER KT IE
&8 (14,355) (12,784)
Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised in prior  JARTFE R HVIRILFTERE
periods EEHED 62,172 308,484
PRC LAT (note 7(a)(iv)) B L IR (E B (P RE7(a)(iv)) 221,541 108,282
Under provision in prior years BEFERETZE 211,715 -
Tax effect on PRC LAT AR IR AR R IS A (108,314) (27,070)
Total income tax PRSI A58 466,316 178,907
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8. EFEHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the EZHMNRIBEEERREOIEIBMELA
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the companies AI(BBEEENmER)ROIE 250 RN T -
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BZE2024F12A31ALLFE
Salaries
allowances  Retirement Share-based
and benefits scheme payments
Directors' fee inkind  contributions Sub-total (Note (i)) Total
NEREE
Ei DRAA
RUR B ERNAE
Ezne BNER HE L2 Nt GiE) @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRE ARBTR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR ARET:R
Executive directors: YTES:
Luo Jieping ENY 100 1,780 76 1,956 = 1,956
Wong Choi Hing TRA
(resigned on 21 January 2025) (R2025F1R21B5HT) 93 93 - 186 - 186
Cai Hongwen BB
(resigned on 21 January 2025) (20251 AN BEHE) 93 93 - 186 - 186
He Fei a7 300 1,520 76 1,896 229 2,125
Wei Haiyan i 100 700 78 878 = 878
Subtotal 1N 686 4,186 230 5102 229 5,331
Non-executive director: FHTES:
Zeng Yunshu ZEE
(resigned on 21 January 2025) (P2025F1A21BHT) 93 93 = 186 = 186
Subtotal INet 93 93 - 186 - 186
Independent non-executive directors: BV FEHTES :
Guan Huanfei ) 139 - - 139 - 139
Han Qinchun BR% 139 - - 139 - 139
Chen Yangsheng R 139 - - 139 - 139
Subtotal N #7 - - a7 - a7
Total ot 1,196 4,279 230 5,705 229 5,934
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

8. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 8. EFEFM(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE2023F 128318 IEFE
Salaries
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits scheme payments
Directors' fee inkind  contributions Sub-total (note (i) Total
INEREE
E IARRED A
EHR BIR ERET
EE2ik ENET HElle Nt (Ftsta) @t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETR

Executive directors: HTES!
Luo Jieping ENY

(appointed on 20 July 2023) (R2023E7F0BEE) 45 800 15 860 - 860
Wong Choi Hing TEA 100 600 - 700 - 700
Cai Hongwen IEY 100 600 - 700 - 700
He Fei felffe 300 1,520 4 1,864 848 2712
Wei Haiyan ke 100 700 4 844 - 844
Subtotal Nt 645 4220 103 4968 848 5816
Non-executive directors: FETES
Zeng Yunshu (resigned as executive 2R (7202357R208

Director and Chairman and BERTESRIR

re-designated as a non-executive TREREHTES)

director on 20 July 2023) 100 600 - 700 - 700
Feng Ke (resigned on 1 March 2023) R (R20235F3 A1 BEHE) 4 - - 4 - 4
Subtotal It 144 600 - 744 - 744

Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHITEE

Dai Yiyi E

(resigned on 7 April 2023) (R203F4A78ET) 57 - - 57 - 57
Guan Huanfei B 158 - - 158 - 158
Han Qinchun B%% 158 - - 158 - 158
Chen Yangsheng REFH

(appointed on 5 July 2023) (R03FTASEEZRA) 67 - - 67 - 67
Subtotal g 440 - - 440 - 440
Total &t 1,229 4820 103 6,152 848 7,000
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9.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)
Note:

(i)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the
directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group'’s accounting policies
for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 2(t)(ii) and, in
accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts
accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are
forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benéefits in kind, including the principal terms and
number of options granted, are disclosed under the paragraph “Share
option scheme” in the directors’ report and note 32.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three of them
(2023: three) are directors. The emoluments of these directors are
disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
other two (2023: two) individuals are as follows:

8.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

EEHH ()
B3 -

() REHEESEIRBARTBREASET
EEMBEENAERE - BRENEER
PRI EE2 (0 PTEUA S B A RR (9 BT AY 52
NZSNEHBEKE « RIFEZBEK - B
& TR T AEEITHEADZ W T F e
WA HE o

EVEAN(BERONERENETZHKRIR
HHIWFE REEHHORSHBERE
2| | —B MM E3 27 i EE -

EemamAT
RAEESHATHN=52(2023F : =F) 5
BE o ZEEEMHINEENMIES - HAibfR
#(2023%F : MB) = A TR A0
T

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ET T AREFT
Retirement scheme contributions RORGTEIME R 120 53
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind e R REMEYRF 1,682 1,757
1,802 1,810
The emoluments with the highest emoluments are within the SR ATHEFMNFATEE :
following bands:
2024 2023
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
Nil-HK$1,000,000 Z21,000,00078 7T 2 2
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

10. LOSS PER SHARE 10. BREBIR
2024 2023
Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company AR AR ELEE
(RMB'000) (AR®TTT) (1,834,586) (1,214,747)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, forthe & &FREAEEZ
purposes of calculating basic loss per share (shares BRI BT RR)
in thousands) 552,716 453,735
Basic loss per share (RMB cents) BRERNBEARESD) (331.9) (267.7)

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, as the
share options had anti-dilutive effect on ordinary shares for the
year because the exercise price of the Company’s share options was
higher than the average market price of the Company’s shares in the
year, and the effect of deemed issue of shares under the Company’s
employee share option scheme for nil consideration was anti-
dilutive.

HE2024%12 8318 K%2023F12A318 IE4F
EHEESREBEEAEREEER -
BARRBRENTEERSNEFTARQT
BERNFEHETISZER  AERESEFE
BRAEEREEER  BREBEARGELRE
BTSN HERARITRENTEDHE
R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 11. Y% - BERERE

Ownership interests

inland and
buildings heldfor  Other properties
own use leased forown Motor vehicles and
carriedatcost use carriedatcost  otherfixedassets  Office equipment Total
BEERALHA
BEMNAEE  HMMEAT  REE BEEHR
RERHAGE BLENARANE  HUEREE HE] it
Note RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
Bzt AEBTT AEETT ARETT AEETT ARETT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 #203%F1A18 22,170 5,846 77,646 41,93 347,585
Additions AE - 785 10 9% 888
Transfer toinvestment properties ~ EARZENE 12) (189,796) - - - (189,796)
Disposals ih& (31834) (4663) (4159) (412) (41,064)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAT 20(0) - (598) (1,113) (1,640) (3351)
Transfer toassets of disposal group D AR AHEAREE
classified as held for sale 34 - 774 883 578 2,235
Exchange realignment % - - 35 1 36
At31 December 2023 and RABEANBR
1 January 2024 04F1A18 540 2,144 73,306 40,543 116,533
Additions AE - - 94 - 964
Sale retur HERD 94,898 - - - 94,898
Transfer to investment properties ~ EAKEYE (94,898) - - - (94,898)
Disposals e 4 (378) (7,288) ) (7.753)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT 20(e) (536) (489) (1,224) (54) (230
Transfer to assets of disposal group 2D AHEFEMRIEE
classified as held for sale 34 - - (258) 87) (345)
Cancellation of subsidiaries HEMEAA - - (1453) - (1453)
Exchange realignment B EE - 17 55 - /)
At31 Decerber 2024 12045128318 - 1295 64,102 40319 105,716
Accumulated depreciation: ZitHE:
At 1 January 2023 R0BF1A1H 42,621 4330 70,272 41,159 158,382
Charge for the year TERE 9,089 905 2,767 239 13,000
Transfer to investment properties AR EE 124) (29634) i - - (29634)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR 20(0) - (457) (1,012) (1,269) (2738)
Disposals e (21,914) (3,740) (3.107) (229) (28,989)
Transfer to assets of disposal group 2D ABEBERTIEE
classified as held for sale - 408 3 119 550
Exchange realignment EREE - - 34 1 35
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFITR)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

11. 9% - EER®E(E)

Ownership interests
inland and
buildings heldfor  Other properties
own use leased forown Motor vehicles and
carriedatcost  usecarriedatcost  otherfixedassets  Office equipment Total
FRERLIHA
BEMNAEE  HEMEAT  REH EER
RERAATE EAENEANE  HtEEEE BORE @it
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(i AEETT AEBTT AEETT AEBTT N
At31 December 2023 and RABE12A318 ]

1 January 2024 04F1A1H 162 1,446 68,977 40,021 110,606
Charge for the year TEFE 2 509 466 335 1331
Sale return HERE 15,388 - - - 15,388
Transfer toinvestment properties  EARENE (15,389) - - - (15,388)
Disposals e - (379) (4,563) (80) (5022)
Disposal of subsidiaries NG 20(e) (183) (488) (1,148) (50) (1,869)
Transfer toassets of disposal group D ABESERRIEE

classified as held for sale 34 - - (153) (58) @n)
Cancellation of subsidiaries HENBRA - - (1,445) - (1,445)
Exchange realignment EiEE - 7 52 - 59
At31 December 2024 20245 12A31H - 1,095 62186 40,168 103,49
Net book value: BE:

At 31 December 2024 20245124318 - 200 1,916 151 2267
At31 December 2023 R023F12431H 378 698 4329 52 5927
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd) 1. Y15 - ME R (%))
The leasehold buildings are all situated on land in the Mainland ZEHEEFEHAURFBERM o
China.
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of RIAREERRNE DN AEEEREFE
underlying asset is as follows: ST
2024 2023
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000

B eE AR® T ARETTT

Included in “Property, plant and equipment”: A% - BERRE | :

Ownership interests in leasehold land and RITEKAYIERRER AR
buildings held for own use, carried at ME T REFHEBE
depreciated cost T i)
- between 10 and 50 years —+FER+F = 378
= 378
Other properties leased for own use, carried LITERAYBRFSER A
at depreciated cost THEREMYE (i) 200 698
200 1,076
Included in “Investment properties”: STATREYE] !
Ownership interests in leasehold investment BRAREIERNEERE
property, carried at fair value, with remaining VIR R M
lease term of: R TS
- between 10 and 50 years —+FEER+F 1,307,232 1,660,100
1,307,232 1,660,100
Included in “Inventories and other contract FAIEEREMEN
costs”: R :
Leasehold land held for future developmentand  RREFFIZEE -t %
properties under development T 1,822,657 3,243,277
Completed properties for sale BEFEE T IME 1,744,723 1,598,977
3,567,380 4,842,254
4,874,812 6,503,430
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

1. 9% - EER®E(E)

Right-of-use assets (Cont’d) ERAEEEE)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in RERXBERANEEEEHENERER S
profit or loss is as follows: T
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETTT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of ~ ZIZR)E EBRIBI D HFEREE
underlying asset: ENES
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings ~ fAE Tt RIBFH A RS 21 9,089
Other properties leased for own use BIFEREENH MY 509 905
530 9,994
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEBEN L (KM6)) 21 46
Expense relating to short-term leases R EREER 1,228 2,549

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets classified as
property, plant and equipment were RMB nil (2023: RMB785,000).
This amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 20(d) and 26, respectively.

(i)  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

The Group holds several buildings as its office. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered owners, and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
office and dormitory through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for average period of 2 to 3 years (2023: 2 to 3
years). Lease payments are usually increased by each year to
reflect market rentals.

EEMBERAEEEARBETIT(20235 ¢
AKR#785,0007T) OB X - BFE MR
B BEFHRTBEMABOTENHER L
HEeHR -

HMEMReRBAENEERENRIHIT

3

S50 RIE R E20(d) K226 ©

(i) FEEARHEEL B RIEFHHEEE

(ii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. HEWME
(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment (a) BEYEREEYER
properties
Completed
properties
ERIYE
RMB’000
AEETTT
At 1 January 2023 2023F1 H1H 1,901,500
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEYE - BB REE 177,800
Fair value adjustments NAEFE (419,200)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7202312 H31H K&2024F1H1H 1,660,100
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEYE - WEREE 89,075
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 20(e)) &M E A R (FifFE20(e)) (211,900)
Disposals HE (157,485)
Fair value adjustments NAEHAE (72,558)
At 31 December 2024 7A2024%12831H 1,307,232
Representing i
Valuation - 2024 fH{E —20245F 1,307,232
Valuation - 2023 fi{E —20234F 1,660,100
Book value BREE
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 1,307,232
At 31 December 2023 72023512 H31H 1,660,100

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3 201



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (b) REMEMNRAARES

(i)  Fairvalue hierarchy

12. HRME(E)

.

(i) RAEER

+2

Fair value
measurement
Fair value as at
as at 31 December
31 December 2024
2024 categorised
(Level 3) into level 3
12024F
20245 1283188
1283188 DEDH
ARE E=HZH
(=) AREFE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR¥T T
Recurring fair value measurement BEMQAABRE
Investment properties B 1,307,232 1,307,232
Fair value
measurement
Fair value as at
as at 31 December
31 December 2023
2023 categorised
(Level 3) into level 3
72023F
7220234 12A318H
128318/ DD
~AE F=HH
(B=%) AAEFE
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®ETTT ARETTT
Recurring fair value measurement BEMAABRE
Investment properties - /ES 1,660,100 1,660,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Cont’d)

(i)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1
and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).
The Group'’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period
in which they occur.

All of the Group's investment properties carried at fair
value were revalued at the end of each year ended date.
The valuations as at 31 December 2024 were carried out
by an independent firm of surveyors, Moore Transaction
Service Limited (“Moore”), who have among their staff
hold recognised professional qualification with recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued. The Group's property manager and the senior
management have discussion with the surveyors on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at the reporting date.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

12. #BRYR(E)
(b) REWMENAAEEE)

(i)

RAEER(E)

H 22024912 A31H X 2023F12
RA31BILEFE  E—REE=_H 2
M meErs - R EeE Ak s
=R (20234 : f]) - NEBRECR
EREBREENREHARERLAL
BEEER 2 ENER -

REFEZ&KB - NEBFEMN
DABEIRZREYMESHETE
i » 7A2024F12 31 HWHERTE
SOBIEEA B KRERRE R SR
BAEBRAR(KREZH)(EET
BHERNBEEEER  BY
it EMEMENE RFTBENE
TEAAERE 2 45 ) IETTE L - A%
EVECENSAEEEDRRE
BT EREE SR wma B
BERERGELER -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b)

12. HRME(E)

Fair value measurement of investment properties (b) REWMENAAREFTEE)
(Cont’d)
(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (il BEFE=RIALHETEZEH
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
fh{ER % FAABENRARE &E
Investment properties Market comparison method Market value (RMB/sq.m.) 3,158-46,000

REME MIBLEA

Investment properties Income capitalisation method

wEM* W E A

The fair value of investment properties is generally
derived using the income capitalisation method or market
comparison method. This income capitalisation method is
based on the capitalisation of the income and reversionary
potential income by adopting appropriate capitalisation
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions
and valuers’ interpretation of prevailing investor
requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings
within the subject properties and the estimated rental
incremental observed in other comparable properties. The
market comparison method is determined by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per
square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount
specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared
to the recent sales.

Certain bank loans granted to the Group were jointly
secured by investment properties with a book value of
RMB712,944,000 (2023: RMB724,000,000) (note 23).

(2023: 4,240-55,000)

miEEE

(AR%/FI7K)

Yield 3.0%t0 5.5%
(2023:3.5% to 5.5%)

L6

Market monthly rental rate

5.0-150.0

(RMB/sq.m.) (2023:11.7-125)
msE AME
(AR® T F75K)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd) 12. {HEME(R)
(c) Leases of investment properties () BEYHEHEE
The Group leases out investment properties under operating AEEZEERE SN HAREME -
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 18 ARV AR —MRB1ZE 184 (2023
years (2023: 1 to 7 years), with an option to renew the lease FETF) WAIBEBREMAKRRE
after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease FHEOmBHsBEREY  cHeBR
payments are usually increased each year to reflect market BFEHSEN - URRTISEE - B
rentals. None of the leases includes variable lease payments. HETBRIEAFRNEERNK -
Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating S BHE AR A EUEKEHE
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the EHTHARMRES  AEESL TR
Group in future periods as follows: 2R 25 ER B PR O LACER.
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Within 1 year —FR 17,187 13,389
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA 16,545 12,475
After 2 years but within 3 years MERE=FA 15,605 12,934
After 3 years but within 4 years =FRENFA 14,486 12,716
After 4 years but within 5 years UFERERFRN 14,466 13,000
After 5 years HF% 49,683 39,158

127,972 103,672
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13. |iLEE
Software and
franchises
granted
BHERET
Note RMB’000
B E ARETTT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 202351 H1H 24,076
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHEBAR] 20(f) (254)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 72023512 H31H K&2024F1H1H 23,822
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAF (50)
Disposal for the year FALE (50)
At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 23,722
Accumulated amortisation: RETE
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1H1H 11,495
Charge for the year FRZH 2,667
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHEAR 20(f) (37)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7202312 4318 K%2024F151H 14,125
Charge for the year FRZH 3,191
Disposal for the year FALE (50)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF (50)
At 31 December 2024 72024512 H31H 17,216
Net book value: BRIENRE :
At 31 December 2024 722024512 4318 6,506
At 31 December 2023 2023512 4318 9,697
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE, AN ASSOCIATE AND 14. REEBELE HELEXRHMIRE

OTHER INVESTMENT RS

(a) Interests in other investment (a) REMKEWER
Details of the Group’s interests in other investment in the BB HRERNAREBEREMIZE /)
consolidated financial statements, is as follows: SEFBIT

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE’gz )
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation and issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name business paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
BAN BEAR F5E FAH WEAR
£ BEBE BRRRAHE  BRER Fi fifs TEEH
Hydoo Best Group Co,, Ltd. Thailand Baht2,196,003,600/ 3643% 3643% 3643% Property development
("Hydoo Best") (2023 (2023:36.43%) (2023:36.43%) (2023:36.43%)
Baht2,196,003,600)
% 2,196,003,600% ¢,/ FHERS
(2023

2,196,003,600% %)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s interests in Hydoo Best
amounted to RMB Nil (2023: RMB Nil).

In 2018, Hydoo Best was unable to get reimbursement of the
cost of certain pieces of land which have to be returned to the
original vendor by the order of the court. In addition, the joint
venture partner of Hydoo Best was obligated to repurchase
certain shares in Hydoo Best held by the Group but failed to
do so within the specified time frame. This resulted in a loss
on the interest in Hydoo Best held by the Group. In 2019, the
Group brought a lawsuit against the joint venture partner in the
regard.

In December 2023, the Supreme Court of Thailand rendered the
final judgement that the joint venture partner of Hydoo Best
should buy back certain shares held by the Group in Hydoo
Best at the amount of THB450,000,000 plus the interest at 15%
per annum from 15 November 2015 till the settlement, and
the joint venture partner should also compensate the Group
for penalties and other expenses. As at 31 December 2024, the
total repurchase amount calculated together with the penalties
and other expenses was THB1,139,507,000 (approximately
RMB242,304,000). The Group is expected to be remedied from
the auction proceeds of the assets of the joint venture partner
seized by the court.

R 202412 A31H » K% B X Hydoo
BestfuiEes A AR ZIT(2023F « AR
WEIT) ©

#£20184F * Hydoo BestfE A 1S AR
R WNEIRIELRE 77 K T B AR FEAK
AREEE o 4D » Hydoo BestHy & & 4 £
B EBH AL EIE B #5 A #)Hydoo Best
BE TG - BREEREBITHEEER
£ - EBBAREE$ Hydoo Bestd) iR &
Bk o 20195 - RNEE RS ERHER
ULERE T IR o

120235128 - RRERERL AT
FHR - #% Hydoo BestH) A & B e
& B AR &R B 5 8 #Hydoo BestH) & T
B 7 - B8 Bl 4 %8 450,000,000 #K 17 11
FHEF L 15%5T EHB20159F11 A 15H
EHEEABRBENTE - BINEFRER
EEENSREMER - H22024F12
A31E  FrIENRELNSHERENS R
Hib &A1 47/51,139,507,000Z 4k (7
A 4 AR #242,304,0007T) - NEETE
TR AMEERT RS A SR HEENT
EFTSHEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE, AN ASSOCIATE AND 14. REEBELE HELEXRHMIRE

OTHER INVESTMENT (Cont'd) RER(E)
(a) Interests in other investment (Cont’d) (a) REMBERER(E)

The directors expect that the Group will be able to recover part
of its interest in Hydoo Best by applying public auction of the
land pieces still held by Hydoo Best based on the legal opinion
obtained from an external legal counsel. With reference to
the fair value of these land pieces which were assessed by
the Group’s directors based on a valuation report prepared
by external valuers, the Group had made a loss allowance
of RMB19,558,000 on the amount due from Thailand other
investment as at 31 December 2024.

The fair value of the land pieces still held by Hydoo Best was
revalued as at 31 December 2024. The valuations were carried
out by an independent firm of surveyors, Moore, who have
among their staff hold recognised professional qualification
with recent experience in the location and category of property
being valued. The Group’s management have discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation is performed at the reporting date.

EETEH - BRGNS EEER
RERER  AEBEAUBBEAMAA
& Hydoo Best{/J#5 8 #y Tt LAUR [ A 7E
Hydoo BestKEi D18 & o (AL EREE
BERANIIN L EMBENGERSE
HAHE R ZE LA A E - 7R2024F
12A318 - AEBERERFREMEE
FIBVE L EER A K #19,558,0007T ©

#HZ2024F12 A31H - Hydoo Best{}#F
BRI AR ERBIOAERITAE
BH(HETABERINABEREE
1% BT EEYEMRTAE RFTEBE
RIETHAMARE 2 (8B ) EATEL - A&
ESREEEDARE B ETHERSE
RERF RERGEERRRGEELER -

Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range

fh{ER % TABENEABE E

Land Direct market comparison approach Average market price RMB718/sq.m. to RMB957/sq.m.
(RMB/sg.m.) (2023: RMB646/sg.m. to

RMB721/sq.m.)

T BETISLEE FEHISE AR¥T718TT,FHKE
(AR¥TT/FHK) ANRHEES7IT,F K

(20235 : AR¥s6467TF 75K

EARETNT/FHK)

The fair value of properties located in Thailand is determined
using market comparison approach by reference to recent
sales price of comparable properties on a price per square
metre basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to
the quality of Hydoo Best’s land pieces compared to the recent
sales. Higher premium for higher quality land pieces will result
in a higher fair value measurement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE, AN ASSOCIATE AND
OTHER INVESTMENT (Cont'd)

(a)

Interests in other investment (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, in the opinion of
the management of the Group has lost the common control
in the Hydoo Best, and after the Hydoo Best Repurchase, the
Group should have lost the common control in Hydoo Best, the
interest in Hydoo Best with its carrying amount approximately
to its fair value was reclassified to “Other Investment”.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

14. REELE BELERHMIIES

R (1)

(a) REMBRENER(E)
HZE2024F12A318LFE  A5EE
BERE - NEELC E K Hydoo Best
7 H R4S # - B 7 E B Hydoo Best
1% + NS H JI AR A ¥ Hydoo Best#e 2k £t
R4 o M Hydoo Bestd)# 25 B BRH
BHAAAE  ENEEIHMIEE ] -

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Aggregate carrying amount of other investment 13 E R A I FE R KD
in the consolidated financial statements BREEE 146,721 150,888
Aggregate amounts of fair value (loss)/gainon  AFEEMEEQAE
other investment for the year (B518), /W1 (5,512) 8,247
Total comprehensive (loss)/gain 2HE(ER),WaiesE (5,512) 8,247
Interests in joint venture (b) AEELENER

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE’gR )
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation and issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name business paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
EMHIR BEAR F5E N ).
£ EXuy HRRAFE  BRER fifs fis TEEH
Huizhou Dayawan Hydoo Yingtai PRC RMB10,000,000 67% - 67% Consulting Service
Investment Co,, Ltd (2023 (2023:67%) (2023:-)  (2023:67%)
RMB10,000,000)
ENATERREZREBRAR PE AR 10,000,000 RS
(2023% :
AF%10,0000007)

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
loss of the joint venture Huizhou Dayawan Hydoo Yingtai
Investment Co., Ltd because the share of losses of the joint
venture exceeded the Group’s interest in the joint venture
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The
amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share of loss of this joint
venture for the current year and cumulatively were RMBnil
(2023: RMB nil) and RMB43,124,000 (2023: RMB43,124,000),
respectively.

REBEERIEREEESEDERM
ADERERZREETRARNER
FRABEEZEECEBEBAAER
RZAECENERRAEBI ERK
EIEHE—FEE - NEBREREGZ
BECEEBEBRSBERATE R 5
BAREZTIT(2023F : AREZ TR
AR #43,124,0007T (2023 F : AR
43,124,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

14. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURE, AN ASSOCIATE AND

OTHER INVESTMENT (Cont'd)

(c) Interestin an associate

14. REELR BELERHMITE

R ()
() REBELXNER

The following list contains the particulars of an associate, which TREY —EHEDEFS - HHED
is unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not ZEIEETAR  EFIERTERE
available:
Percentage of
EsE 2 34
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of associate and business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
HEMALK ERITR S 3L ARpE WEAR
BELELR B BRBRAFE ERER Fifs i TEER
Revere Effort Limited BVI Uss$10 30% 30% - Investment holding
(2023:US$10)  (2023:30%)  (2023:30%) (2023:-)
HEERAT] HERAAR 1057 (203%F: (20235 :  (2023F : ®ERK
o (2023 : 10%7T) 30%) 30%) -)

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.

Information of the associate that is not individually material:

A E RN G B RERAE AR
ENR

ERPFE ZBE R EF -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT

Carrying amount of the associate in the

BEhERNAHFMBHREDN

consolidated financial statements BREE 4,702 4,682
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of REERGZBECEFE

an associate’s loss for the year EriE4R%Es (274) (1,832)
Total comprehensive loss FHEIBREE (274) (1,832)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

15. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 15. SHMBERARABRER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) B/t RRANENEIF ERS
financial position represents

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT

Prepaid tax: FEAFLE -

PRC CIT RIS 28,150 108,724

PRC LAT R (RS 308,582 169,513
336,732 278,237

Current tax liabilities: ENEpRIIE RS -

PRC CIT RIS 216,823 158,186

PRC dividend withholding tax AR B AR B TR 27,438 27,438

PRC LAT PR+ B (E TR 186,803 613,938
431,064 799,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

15. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised
(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets
and liabilities
The components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position and the movements during the year are as
follows:

Deferred tax arising from:

15

. SHMBIRARABFRERGE)

(b) ERAPELEHEEERES
(i) EEFELZERBEFAXSS
#E
RE IR R ERAELET A
(BE) BAEMEKED KFERNL
FEINT

EERIRR AN RIHES ¢

Fair value Fair value Fair value
adjustments  adjustments adjustment
forarising from forother ~ Amortisation Provision for Other
investment ~ acquisitionof Provision for financial ~ of capitaised ~~ Creditloss Deferred ~ Provisionfor ~ construction ~ temporary
properties  subsidiaries inventories  Taxlosses assets  contractcosts  allowance income PRCLAT cost expenses Total
HiEELE i
RENEN EEY SHERN  EALRN R hELH BR i
DMESE  MEEE RERR  REER  QAEBR RAEE BEBR BEWN  SERBE  A%BR  BRER it
RMBO000 RMB1000 RMB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB000 RVB'000 RMB000 RMB1000
ARETL  MRETT ARETR ARETR  ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETRL ARETR
1January 203 ABFIAIA (139970) (3562) 85,687 260013 (1033) (16444) 8170 40355 719512 4186 1 313
Disposel o subsidries note20/e) £ EHEAT
(i) - (14878) - 368 10 364 (216 - - 1228 - 10543
Defered tax ibitiesarienfrom 1%+ R R EEA
transferofproperty,plant and REmERHERE
equipmenttoinvestment properties ~ FEAE (4410 - - - - - - - - - - (4410
Transfertodisposal group dassfedas  EZAEAE{EHEY
heldforsale (note 34 fFEasI ) - (24 - 154 - - - - - (12283 - (1083
Credited(charged tothe consolidated RAHFEGZEA
statement ofproftorloss note 7a) (115 (£7(0) 136456 48664 674 (155,789) - m 57618 (620 (98.488) 1 7 (4465)
At31 December 2023 and RusENANER
1 January 2024 WUEIAIR (194) - 86,361 144434 5789) 85572 39932 (18976) 4187 9 327806
Disposalof subsidaries note 20) ~ HENELT
iRa0c) - - (23556) - - - 8676 - - - - (3223
Deferredtaxliabitiesarisenfrom 1% - HERAESA
transfer ofproperty,plant and RENFEHHER
equipmenttoinvestment properties ~ FERE an - - - - - - - - - - i
Credited{charged] tothe consoldated  RAHEXR )/
statement of proftorloss ote 768) (1158 (BH3E71a) (16811) - 2048 (2597) - - {4175) 74 26391 - i (1072)
Asat31 December 2024 R0 AN (24303) - 6485 118457 (5789 I 4767 7415 4187 70 28563
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

15. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 15. SHMBERARABREN(E)
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Cont’d) (b) ERAPEEHEEEREE(E)
(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of (i) BAE LB R R e & R
financial position
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RE HE AR R R
consolidated statement of financial position  JEIEF{ B & E/FE 315,375 354,667
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised inthe A& G iR R FERHY
consolidated statement of financial position ~ iEILF:TH & (&% 58 (30,112) (26,861)
285,263 327,806
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised () REREEREEE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note RIBEH 2 FTE R T EUR - 702024
2(u), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets F12A318  AKEWRHETHBEA
in respect of cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries AR 25T I8 E5 18 A R #1,005,700,000
of RMB1,005,700,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 70(20234F - AR¥312,928,0007T ) ##72
RMB312,928,000). The directors consider it is not probable that FRETRIEEE - ESRATKRAIES
future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised MRS R AR R E RS AREH
will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entities. TR AR SR FEERF I -
The unrecognised tax losses will expire by the end of the i AREEE A - REERATLIEET R A LA
following years, if unused: TNFER AR
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREFTT
2024 2024%F - 32,250
2025 20254F 15,811 26,957
2026 2026%F 25,172 26,950
2027 20274 49,459 92,391
2028 20284 131,990 134,380
2029 2029%F 783,268 A
Total FE 1,005,700 312,928
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFITR)

15. INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(d)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

As set out in note 7(a), withholding tax is levied on Hong Kong
companies in respect of dividend distributions arising from
profit of PRC subsidiaries. Since the Group could control the
quantum and timing of distribution of profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China, deferred tax liabilities are
only provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2024, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to
RMB3,751,222,000 (2023: RMB4,165,535,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of RMB187,561,000 (2023: RMB208,277,000) have not
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

15. SHMBIARABFRER ()

(d)
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SEEEZSNBRBBN AR ARRK
IREEIER TAHERERIBRE -

R2024F12A31H © WEBRAIAXDIKF]
HRE R ER A ARKS,751,222,0007T
(20234 : AFR#54,165,535,0007T) ° /N
SEARERDIRZEREFEEA AR
TERERIEIETTE & & A R%187,561,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

16. IRME A TFRIIRE

List of Subsidiaries (@ MEARIRE
The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as TREHTR2024F % 2023F12H31H
at 31 December 2024 and 2023 which principally affected the HASEEE  BEESABEREARE
results, assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held KB RGNS - RIFESEHRA - B
is ordinary unless otherwise stated. BIFTS B IR (DR R R Sk o
Asat 31 December 2024 Asat31 December 2023
Ha0uE1A31E RusEnA3e
Place of Group's Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective ~ Held by the Heldby Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
HRALR BEfT s3] KELR BE&fT 158 ) P
NAER gxnd RigE  ERER A0S & RizE  ERER ALEAE s IEER
Hong Kong Hydoo Holding Limited HongKong HK$100,000 100% 100% - HK$100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
BEREERERL ik 10000070 1000007572 fEEE
Hong Kong Hydoo Group Investment Company Hong Kong HK$200,100,000 100% 100% - HK5200,100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
ERRREARRERLA R 200100000770 200100000772 REEE
Hydoo Estate (Ganzhou) Company Limited* The PRC 5$32,050,000 100% - 100%  US$32,050,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
("Hydoo Estate (Ganzhou)") investment holding
HEERENARLA G 30500057 3050000%7C FHERE IRERR
([BEEX(EN))
Jining Hydoo Logistics Center Development The PRC RVB200,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB200,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited* (*Jining Logistics Center)
EERENTIREERL T RERA]) T8 AR ARE BHERE
200,000,0007C 200,000,00070
Mianyang West Modern Trade Center The PRC RVB200,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB200,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Company Limited*
('Mianyang Trade Center’)
REEIRRMIREERAT HE AEE ARE BHERE
(T8R4 2000000007 20000000070
Guangxi Yulin Modern Trade Center The PRC RMB220,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB220,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Company Limited*
("Yulin Trade Center')
ERIMERMIREERAT HE AEE ARE BHERE
(MR 22000000070 22000000070
Shenzhen Hydoo Investment Management The PRC RMB30,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment management
Company Limited* (Shenzhen Hydoo’)
MITREREERERLT-([RURE) +8 ARHE ARHE REER
30,000,000 30,000,000
Wuzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center  The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd.*
('Wuzhou Trade Center’)
ENEEERIREERAT G ARH ARH BHERE
([ENmEmRA]) 30000000070 3000000007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

16. FRPE 2 BRI T (&)

(a) List of Subsidiaries (Cont’d) (@ MEBARIBE(E
Asat31December 2024 Asat31December 2023
H20uE128318 LRI
Place of Group's Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective ~ Held by the Heldby Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
HRRLR B8 A58 HEAF BEG) 558 HEAF
DaER BE0Y Rt  EBEE  AQAMR fif Raste  EBBE  AQAM fils  TEEE
Heze Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited* (‘Heze Trade Center')
HEREHEMRIERAR Gk ARE ARE BUHERE
([HEmgm) 3000000007 30000000070
Yantai Hydoo International Commercial and The PRC RVB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Trade Center Company Limited*
("Yantai Trade Center’)
ErhEarmRIERAT [ EAHEN)) +E ARE ARH BUHERE
300,000,007 300,000,007
Lanzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center ~ The PRC RVB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited* (‘Lanzhou Trade Center')
BHREEEIARLT(WANEES)  E AE% MR BUHERE
300,000,000 300,000,000
Heze Hydoo Industrial Company Limited* The PRC 545,000,000 100% - 100%  US945,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
('Heze Industrial’)
TEREIEZERLA([HERE)) HE 45000000% 70 45000000E T BHERE
Shenzhen Hydoo Leasing Company Limited* The PRC RMB320,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB320,000,000 100% - 100%  Finance lease
MITREREREARAAN G ARE ARE HERE
32000000070 32000000070
Liuzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited* (‘Liuzhou Trade Center’)
IHREREmTHERATD Gk ARE ARE BUHERE
([NmEma)) 30000000070 30000000070
Xingning Honglong Logistics Center The PRC RMBS7,000,000 95% - 95%  RMBS7,000,000 95% - 95%  Property development
Company Limited®
REEENIERL HE AEE N BHERE
57,000,000 57,000,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

16. FRPE 2 BRI T (&)

(@) List of Subsidiaries (Cont’d) (a) MBARRE(E
Asat 31 December 2024 Asat31 December 2023
HusnA3A Hus§nA3A
Place of Group's Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective  Held by the Heldby ~Particulars of effective  Held by the Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries issued capital interest ~ Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
HRAIR BEf 15A WA BEf 15A KELE
LER EELE Ride  ERER  ALERE & Raste  EBEE  A0AME i
Dongguan Dajiang Real Estate Development ~ The PRC RMB100,000,000 55.9% - 559%  RMB90,000,000 55.9% - 559%  Property development
Company Limited* (‘Dongguan Dajiang’)
REMAIRMERERRATREAL)) %8 ARH ARE BHERE
10000000070 90,000,007
Dongguan Huahai Industry Company Limited® ~ The PRC RMB6,960,000 51% - 51%  RMB6,960,000 51% - 51%  Property development
(‘Dongguan Huaha’)
FETZEEERALRATHREEE) 98 AR% AE% BHERE
6,9600007C 6,960,007
Dongguan Dahu Real Estate Development The PRC RVB29,000,000 51% - 51%  RMB29,000,000 51% - 51%  Property development
Company Limited* (‘Dongguan Dahu’)
REMAMRHERSERAT Gl ARH ARE BHERE
([R=AH ) 290000007 290000007
Dongguan Humen Huatong. Wire & Cable The PRC RMB538,270,000 100% - 100%  RMB538,270,000 518% - 518%  Property development
(o, Ltd* ** ('Dongguan Humen wire’)
FRFERERESERNT L] ARH ARE BHERE
([RERAES)) 53827000070 53827000070
FS GBAJV Limitede* BvI §GD17,535 100% - 100% SGD17,535 50.1% - 501%  Property development
FSGBA LV Limitede™ ARRERES  SBIMET 17535HMRT FHERY
FS GBA Development Limited** HK HKD1 100% - 100% HKD1 50.1% - 501%  Property development
FS GBA Development Limited B 1A% 1A% FHERE
*  These entities are all PRC limited liability companies. The English * ZEEEHRTFEBRARF - ZEQA
translation of the company names is for reference only. The MREXEEEERSE - ZFRRNF
official names of these companies are in Chinese. XEBRAE A -
*%

** On 25 June 2024, the Group acquired the remaining equity
interest in Dongguan Humen Wire, FS GBA JV Limited and FS GBA
Development Limited from non-controlling shareholders.

R2024F 6 A25H + ANEE M IEER
MREW ISR ST R E L © FSGBA IV
Limited } FS GBA Development Limited
K82 T AR b o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)
(b) Non-controlling interest

The following table lists out the information relating to
Dongguan Dahu, Dongguan Huahai and Dongguan Dajiang,
in which the Group has a material non-controlling interest
(NCI). The summarised financial information presented below
represents the amounts before any inter-company eliminations.

(b) FiEMAER

TRIETHERZE

16. FRFE 2 BRI T (&)

R

5535 ROK

ENIEBNESR  AEBEZEWE
NEEBEASFER AL - TRHM
BRDIRHREEREHNEE -

Dongguan Dahu Dongguan Huahai Dongguan Dajiang
REAH REEE REXL
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR ARETT AR%Tn ARETT AREBTR AEETR
NCI percentage L 49% 49% 49% 49% 44% 4%
Non-current assets EREEE b] 47 1 1,238 45,890 -
Current assets nYEE 1828430 1983848 804503 1182932 2621887 2552311
Current liabilities REBE (1,702,330)  (1,776,341) (944159)  (1,195217)  (2,200,313)  (1,782,981)
Non-current liabilities FERBAG (14,068) (14068)  (411,056) (%) (693445  (725370)
Net assets BEFR 112,055 193486 (550,711) (11143)  (225981) 43,960
Carrying amount of NCI FrERERRRE 54,907 94808 (269,848) (5,460) (43,331) 19491
Revenue WA 144,826 959,700 - - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER)/FE (81,431) 196354 (539,568) (22060 (142,454) (14,882)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FR2E(EE)/ WALS
for the year (81,431) 196,354 (539,568) (2,206) (142,454) (14,882)
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCl for the year R EZ IR ERA
(E8) /%7 (39,901) 9,213 (264,388) (1,081) (62,822) (6,563)
Net cash generated from/(used in) gREBME/(MA)RE
operating activities et 112,832 (113,501) (15,382) (39,012) 82,014 (211,841)
Net cash (used in)/generated from REEY(FE)/ME5e
investing activities et (67,217) 238,599 53,807 66,842 (51,687) 147,930
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEB(FA)/ M55
financing activities et (59927)  (258317) (28,861) (31,742) (33,994) 119,555
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

17. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 17. GFERHEMESHEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Inventories FE

Property development EihER

- Leasehold land held for future developmentand — ARR{FFHBAE i MEEYE

properties under development 5,129,390 9,352,918

— Completed properties held for sale —BHEERIWE 2,992,279 2,283,734
8,121,669 11,636,652

Others Hith 332 3,135
8,122,001 11,639,787

Other contract costs HAtb& LA 24,890 54,632
8,146,891 11,694,419

As at 31 December 2024, certain properties under development, MR2024F12A310 - B THEEYE - FEE

completed properties held for sale and leasehold land held for future EIMERARFRERET WAEREE

development were pledged for certain bank loans granted to the BEEETRITEROER (23 REESH

Group (note 23) and parking lots financing arrangement (note 21). BE L BER A (B 5E21) ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

17. INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS
(Cont'd)

(a)

220 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED &

The analysis of carrying amount of leasehold land included in
properties development is as follows:

17. &8

(a)

IREMEHRE(E)

FAMEFRENEE LR REES T
LI

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREEFTT
In the Mainland China, with remaining lease APERt > FRESEEHR
term of
50 years or more 5053 A 607,737 1,397,577
between 10 and 50 years 104F 2504 2,959,643 3,444,677
3,567,380 4,842,254
Other contract costs (b) HMEH KA
Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2024 relate to the M2024F 12 A31HE XML B G £IRK AN ER
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose SN TUEREMESHERSER
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and ZEVERENHEEDERET LA

purchase agreements for the Group's properties which are
still under construction at the reporting date. Contract costs
are recognised as part of “selling and distribution costs” in
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
from the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB14,703,000 (2023: RMB27,551,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised
costs or the costs capitalised during the year.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94
of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining
contracts relating to the sale of completed properties and
services as an expense when incurred if the amortisation period
of the assets that the Group otherwise would have recognised
is within the same reporting period as the date of entering into
the contract.

EBERRARDF

%lﬂi&iaﬁﬂmﬁks’]%%ﬂiﬁ%
ek - O ANERIAEDEHEE
W HEEBRRER A HEMD 8
A B — D o NFARBEERD
BRI A e R A ARE14,703,0007T
(20234 : AR¥27,551,0007T) » &K
LR AR F AR SFNE LRI AR
B A RE o

AEE T BB G REERF155KF
UEMEREDRD L TAEREEE
EHFEREEERESEEEDTTY
EARRESHEBNE R EKRAIES
—IEXH - BR AREBERTAR

[==1A

Z BEE—HE HRER o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Br=H3EE5 -

18. BH R H R RIA

EAARETIR)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREEFIT
Trade receivables (a) B S EIWGIA () 241,785 265,215
Less: loss allowance A BB (177,558) (43,310)
64,227 221,905
Amounts due from a joint venture and other U —fE & &b R E At
investment (c) A FIA() 79,034 78,746
Less: loss allowance (note 14) B SRS (EE14) (79,034) (56,343)
- 22,403
Other debtors, net of Ho b UG B IR R B 18
_Jossallowance(®) . L) 495154 . 1,106,438
Subtotal /INEF 559,381 1,350,746
Prepaid sales related tax and other taxes TERTHERER e REMB S 157,036 345,698
Deposits and prepayments (d) 7E & RIERFRIA) 1,312,064 1,772,483
2,028,481 3,468,927
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 18. BB R R AW R ()
(a) Ageing analysis (a) BRERDHT
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RIREER - RIERE 5 WG IEER
trade receivables (net of loss allowance) based on the date the Eﬂi‘ﬂ A HE 5 RE W IE (FFR B R 1
relevant trade receivables recognised, is as follows: HIWBRERSITAT
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Within 1 month 1MEAAR - 1,191
1to 3 months 1Z3EAR - 3,706
3to 6 months 3E6{E AR 10 2,928
6 to 12 months 6E12(AAN 69 14,970
Over 12 months 12 A A E 64,148 199,110
Total #EET 64,227 221,905
Note: As at 31 December 2024, the above trade receivables aged over BaE : HZE2024F 128318 ¢ LulifBi@12
12 months were mainly due from an entity controlled by a local BANEZEKFIEEXERE — A
government authority. BT HEIE SR E g -
The details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 35(a). REBEERFFBEERAME35) ©
Trade receivables are primarily related to proceeds from the S WA T EaY EIEERIA
sale of properties and property management services provided. MREMEEEREEH -
(b) The details on the other debtors, net of loss allowance are set (b) EH At UGB (IR BEEE) FFI5E7
out in below: ZZDT :
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Loans to the third parties (i) Mm% = FREERI) 85,005 84,494
Amounts due from non-controlling interests (ii) JFE Ui 42 S A 2 SR A (i) - 92,807
Amounts due from former subsidiaries (iii) JFE LS R1T BT JBB 7 B R (i) 17,126 244,452
Others (iv) E A (iv) 393,023 684,685
Total WEt 495,154 1,106,438
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

(b)

()

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

18. BH R HFEUHRIA ()

(Cont'd) (b) (&)

(i) As at 31 December 2024, loans to the third parties are (i) MR2024F12A318 » mFE=12H
interest-bearing at weighted average rate of 15.00% per BB FE INAE 15 F 5K 15.00%51
annum (2023: 15.85% per annum), unsecured and to be £.(2023 : GFF|FE15.85%) + EILIHF
recovered within one year. W AT —FRIE o

(i) As at 31 December 2024, amounts due from non- (i) A20249F128318 - EUIEIERL I
controlling interests represents advances to non- HRERASEREAORB A RN
controlling interests recorded by the subsidiaries acquired R B AR I R a2
by the Group upon the respective acquisitions. e

(iiiy The amount is interest-free, unsecured and is expected to (i) ZAEARE - EEENTEEAR—
be recovered within one year. FRUYE o

(iv) This amount included the consideration receivables in (iv) ZeHeEHEREENBAFMEEN
respect of disposals of subsidiaries of RMB33,615,000 FE U B A R #33,615,0007T (2023
(2023: RMB25,357,000). F : AR#25,357,0007T) °

The amounts due from a joint venture and other investment are (c) FWEZLDPERHMIEERE AEIK

unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms. B NEETENRE  ANEBEDG

The Group has fully provided loss allowance on the amounts. RERIBLRAHREIE RS -

The details on the deposits and prepayments are set out in (d) e LIBEMREFESEOT -

below:

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARETTT

Deposits and prepayments for purchase of BE TR E RTE
land use right (i) IFR() 309,791 405,315

Deposits and prepayments for acquisition of WiEFEIR B e &I

development projects (ii) INEA(D) 220,420 382,552
Others (iii) H At (i) 781,853 984,616
Total Wt 1,312,064 1,772,483
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 18. EZH R HAMBITHRIA (&)

(d) (Cont'd) (d)
(i) Deposits and prepayments for purchase of land use
right represented deposit amount paid to the Chinese
local government for land acquisition. The Group did
not complete any purchase during the year ended 31
December 2024.

(i) Deposits and prepayments for acquisition of development
projects represented the cooperation deposits paid to the
Chinese local government and third parties for potential
projects cooperation.

(iii) Others mainly represented prepayments for construction
in relation to the projects under development to ensure

(&)

)y BEIMFEREFSRBENRAS
P B T AT - AREBE i
R - REEHZ2024F12731
H I F RIS B T L -

(i) WERERBRSLRBNRBEF
Bl 77 BT A EE = 75 X AP0 B AR TR
BAFERE -

(i) HEMEBEERTHRERIERME
IR A IR B HREM RN T2

timely completion and delivery. E
19. PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED CASH 19. EEH R SZRFIR &
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Pledged to banks for certain mortgage facilities BE TIRBRE MER T IRT 17,797 101,294
Pledged for bills payables and discounted bills LI RIBANALIR ZIR T - 130,002
Deposits for advanced proceeds received from TEEYH B ERE & TAUGRIA

property purchasers (note) K& 2 (FIFE) 100,406 314,547
Others Hity 75,345 22,557
Total HET 193,548 568,400
Note: The balance can be utilised by the Group in the normal course of Mzt : ZAREAIBAEEEEMEEFNRER

construction of properties under development for sale.

RPREA -

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20. RERBEEED
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BeMREeEEMRIE
2024 2023
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARMETTT

Cash at bank and on hand RITEFEZRIES

13,057 25,956
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(b)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

20. B RBASFEYM(E)

Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations: (b) BRFiAIEBELE XS ANE S
BE -
2024 2023
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
B sE AR¥T T ARET T
Loss before taxation BrETAIE1E (1,574,995) (1,026,708)
Adjustments for: STFEE R
Finance incomes k-3 ON 6(a) (4,501) (19,328)
Finance costs AR 6(a) 68,035 293,190
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMERAREERK 12 72,558 419,200
Write-down of inventories FERERRE 6(c) 643,128 330,803
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables & 5 & E b EUGIERERIE  6() 418,331 284,603
Impairment (reversal)/loss on financial SREREOREER),
guarantee contracts &8 6(c) (1,172) 7,833
Depreciation and amortisation EREE 6(c) 4,522 15,667
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARAFRA 5 (10,667) (183,959)
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of other non-current ~ E A 3E RN & B BT 855
assets Bx/(BA) 5 115 (3,818)
Equity settled share-based payment expenses LR E RN L EH 5 188 848
Fair value loss/(gain) on other investment HipiREM AR ERE,/
(zs) 14(a) 5,512 (8,247)
Share of loss of an associate SR E S EER 14(c) 274 1,832
Net loss on disposal of investment properties ~ HEREIEFERFIEL 5 63,742 -
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREE
equipment BEF8R 5 314 8,937
Changes in working capital: EEEeH
Decrease in inventories and other contract FERAEMEHRERD
costs 2,045,593 317,077
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other g5 REMEUGIERD,
receivables (3%h0) 53,089 (478,593)
Decrease in pledged and restricted cash ERRXRESHD 374,746 892,468
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 I B At RS R IE S 32,402 293,271
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities BHABORD), L (1,213,140) 308,544
Decrease in deferred income B AR A (3,654) (19,783)
Cash generated from operating activities KEFEENES 974,420 1,433,837
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 20. A& RBELFEHEM(E)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () BMEFHELENEENHER

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from TREAFMRKTEBREREETINEES
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. B BREReLIFRGED - HEETD
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for EENABRRREREXRKREERE
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified FrgEMmAaE  EArAEEaHRenE
in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows FTREARMEETHEENRERE

from financing activities.

Bank loans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  to controlling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables
(note 23) (note 24) (note 26) (note 25) (note 29) (note 21) Total
RAEX R Bt At
REMEE Frzg HERE B3R hBaE EfEE
(Hi&E23) (PfzE24) (HizE26) (HtzE25) (PfzE29) (Wit21) Eh

RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2024 120241718 2,995,518 3221913 733 255,063 329,039 794,180 7,596,446

Total changes from financing cash flows BERLRERYEH (448,142) - (277) (189,670) (326,053) (60,384)  (1,024,526)
Other changes: Hih2E)

Non-cash transaction in Exchange Offer THENRNIEEER S (19,605) - - 141,255 (2,986) (432,453) (313,789)
Disposal of subsidiaries REMBAR (301,509) - - - - (91,130) (392,639)
Interest expense (note 6(a)) BFR (Hike) 141,144 112,056 2 - - 8331 261,552

Interest payable EfFIE (6,822) (16,303) - - - 23,125 -

Exchange adjustments E &= - 49,784 - - - - 49,784

Total other changes B (186,792) 145,537 2 141,255 (2,986) (492,127) (395,092)
At 31 December 2024 12024124318 2,360,584 3,367,450 411 206,648 - 241,669 6,176,828
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

20. A& RBELFEHEM(E)
BMEEHEENEENHRGE)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c)
activities (Cont’d)

Bank loans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  tocontrolling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables
(note 23) (note 24) (note 26) (note 25) (note 29) (note 21) Total
HITER Fefak Bt Eft
REMEE BRZE HEBR RR7E TBaE JEZR
(H&23) (FizE24) (HizE26) (fiizF2s) (Fi&E29) (BzE21) 5t
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTL  ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETR  ARETT  ARMTR
At 1 January 2023 R03F1A18 4,909,697 2,609,780 4362 342,500 1,022,614 1,628,508 10,517,461
Total changes from financing cash flows BERERERDER (444,583) (3,101) (3675) 29,703 (666,515) (421620 (1,509793)
Other changes: H2E) -
Non-cash transaction in Exchange Offer SHRENTNIERERS - 387,842 - - - (387,842) -
Disposal of subsidiaries REMBAR (1,682,800) - (756) (117,140) (30,000 (87351 (1,918047)
Transfer from liabilities classified asheld for (£ MBI ELEN B EEE
sales - - 756 - - - 756
Interest expense (note 6(a)) FEH% (MHT6) 213,204 180,982 46 - 2940 62487 459,659
Exchange adjustments ERHE - 46410 - - - - 46410
Total other changes Epgees (1,469,59) 615,234 46 (117,140) (27,060) #12,708 (1411222
At 31 December 2023 2023%12A318 2,995,518 3221913 733 255,063 329,039 794,180 7,596,446
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (dy HERESRHALE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases REeERERTNHESERLSOT :
comprise the following:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETTT
Within operating cash flows KEEBIREN 34 2,055
Within financing cash flows BEEHR SN 277 3,673
311 5,728
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 20. e RB&EEM(E)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (Cont’d) (d) HERESRBAREE)
These amounts relate to the following: B ARREE T FIAERE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Lease rentals paid YRMEERS 311 5,728
(e) Disposal of subsidiaries in 2024 (e) 2024FHEMB AT
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has REE2024F12A31BIEFEA - K%
disposed certain subsidiaries. Subsequent to the disposals, BHRETETHBRAR - 1R - %5
these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group. ERTHAREBNWBAR -
Disposal date Consideration
BEEH #HE
RMB’000
ARET
Sail Day Limited December 2024 33,615,000
NEBRIQF 20244512
Shenzhen Hydoo Industrial Holding Company Limited September 2024 Nil
AR EEEZERBR AR 20249 A =

228 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED & /& &1 iR AR A 7



20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)
Disposal of subsidiaries in 2024 (Cont’d)

(e)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

20. RERBEEEHYM(E)
2024 F HEMB AT (&)
ZEREHAEEEENBENGE T

(e)

The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets

and liabilities are set out below:

20 -

2024
Note RMB’'000
B sE ARET

Property, plant and equipment W - WE NEE 11 433
Investment properties KEYE 12 211,900
Deferred tax assets BIEHIEEE 15(b) 32,232
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREME DK 1,047,062
Trade and other receivables 5 K H A W IR 824,068
Prepaid tax SEENEAE 61,728
Cash and cash equivalents ReFRREEEY 41,393
Trade and other payables B 5 RAMERFIE (627,902)
Deferred income EREUA 27 (3,368)
Contract liabilities aHaE 22 (224,874)
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMES 20(c) (301,509)
Current tax liabilities BNEfR I B B (902,827)
Net assets disposed of EREFEE 158,336
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 20. e RB&EEM(E)
(e) Disposal of subsidiaries in 2024 (Cont’d) (e) 2024FHEMBAT (&)
2024
RMB’000
ARMET T
Net gain on disposal subsidiaries HEMB A RNFERE
Consideration received and receivable B E K U E 33,615
Net assets disposed of BEREFEE (158,336)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR I AR 135,388
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 5) HE B A B FURES (HT5ES5) 10,667
2024
RMB’000
ARET T
Consideration HE
Received [RALE =
Consideration receivable FEYEE 33,615
33,615
2024
RMB’000
ARET T
Consideration received, satisfied in cash LAIR &I Bl Ay B =
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEERIHRSRIACEEYD (41,393)
Net cash outflow FHEERE (41,393)
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20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(f)

Disposal of subsidiaries in 2023

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
disposed certain subsidiaries. Subsequent to the disposals,
these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

20. e RB&EEM(E)
(f 2023FHEMBAT

REZE2023F12A31BIEFER - A&
BHETETHEBRR - HER - %5
BERTHBATEENMBERR -

Disposal date

Consideration

The amount less than RMB1,000.

e H HiE

RMB’000

ARETTT

Shenzhen Baichuan Century Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. June 2023 60,000
R Bt LR EHABRAR 202356 A

Shenzhen Jingzhen Industrial Company Limited November 2023 52,000
RINTREEXERQA] 20235117

Ganzhou Hydoo Investment Management Limited June 2023 =
BNBREREEERRAT 202356

Hangzhou Xinan Yuerong Enterprise Limited September 2023 30,000
ML LR BERBRAT 202359

Guangxi Zhongbao Greater Bay New Material Technology July 2023 -

Company Limited

BEaREBENM R AERAR 202357 H

Shenzhen Gangwan Zhongli Industrial Development Co., Ltd January 2023 —*
FITEERNEEERERAT 202311

BN ARE,0007T ©
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 20. & RB&SFEM(HE)
(f) Disposal of subsidiaries in 2023 (Cont’d) (f) 2023FHEMRBAT(E)
The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets ZERBHASEEENMEENGEER

and liabilities are set out below: 2, :
2023
Note RMB’000
B 5T AREFIT
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB KRB 11 671
Intangible assets mEEE 13 217
Goodwill Bl 2,252
Deferred tax assets FEETIRE 2= 15(b) 53,236
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREME RKA 2,376,218
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E ALK 1,108,614
Amounts due from the Group PRI A S B FRIR 1,371,343
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 43,480
Pledged and restricted cash EEARFRSIES 403,478
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMERFRIA (1,520,981)
Other financial liabilities HEmemasE (87,515)
Amounts due to the Group FER RS BFRIA (1,277,486)
Lease liabilities HEBE (756)
Contract liabilities ARAME 22 (638,979)
Borrowings TS (1,682,800)
Current tax liabilities B IE B & (38,993)
Deferred tax liabilities REFIAEE 15(b) (63,779)
Net assets disposed of EREFEE 48,220
2023
RMB’'000
AR#ETIT
Net gain on disposal subsidiaries HEK B QRN FkE
Consideration received and receivable B4 E & YR (B 142,000
Net assets disposed of BRBFEE (48,220
Non-controlling interests JEFE R RE 2 90,179
183,959
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 20. e RASEEH ()
(f) Disposal of subsidiaries in 2023 (Cont’d) (f) 2023FHEMRBAT(E)
2023
RMB’000
AREEFIT
Consideration HE
Received [SeLdE 141,000
Consideration receivable FEUCEE 1,000
142,000
2023
RMB’000
AREFT
Consideration received, satisfied in cash (note (i) VAZR & Uk [B] /9 3B (BT EE()) 81,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of ERERSNBRESEED (43,480)
Net cash inflow FEESMA 37,520
Notes: PR -
() Included in the consideration received, satisfied in cash (i) FFANBRSREMEE  ARK
RMB29,000,000 was received during the year ended 31 December 29,000,0007T & E &, £20229F12 A31H
2022. LEFEYE -
(ii) NON-CASH TRANSACTION (i) EREXH
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has HE202BFN2ANBILFE  A£H
disposed Shenzhen Baichuan Century Investment Consulting Co., 2 A A R #60,000,000 70 ) $118 H &7
Ltd. at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. Upon completion of YImBENHLIREBRERAR - HE
the disposal, the consideration receivables from the independent A% ERESE = ERMEER
third party buyer was set off by the Group’s debts due to the AEEEMNEENE QR ERSEE -

disposed subsidiary.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ 3 233
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. BHRAEMEMRR

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Trade and bills payables (a) B S RNFIBERENER®Q) 1,538,102 2,081,759
Other payables and accruals (b) H b A F00E K FERT B F (b) 1,076,488 1,475,115
Subtotal NET 2,614,590 3,556,874
Deposits () FEE() 189,950 181,212
Receipts in advance TR IE 69,329 117,885
Interest payable of senior notes FERHBEEEF S 54,632 38,329
2,928,501 3,894,300

(@) As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of @@ MIMEER - EBRNEFRENEE(Z

SO AE S R AT HOR) 255
AEROBRE AT

trade creditors and bills payables (which are included in trade
and other payables), based on due date, is as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

Due within 1 month or on demand A1E A Az Bk 2,075 6,293
Due after 1 month but within 3 months RUEAEEREARR 21,506 29,106
Due after 3 months but within 6 months RA31E AEER6E A A 18,622 9,048
Due after 6 months m6fE A 1% 2 Hf 1,495,899 2,037,312
1,538,102 2,081,759

BIRNFIRT BIEEMNABRREKIEA -
FE A B R SRR IE R K i e B2 5
HARTAK -

Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to contractors.
Payment to contractors is in installments according to progress
and agreed milestones.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd) 21. B REMBEFRIE ()

(b) The details of other payables and accruals are set out below: (b) HAnERMZIERESERFBSEHNWN
TS 8

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AREFT
Amounts due to controlling shareholders (note 25) /<122 A% A% B8 7138 (P 5E25) 206,648 255,063
Amounts due to non-controlling interests (note (i) &1~ FE#28 B 4 25 7078 (BT 5EG)) 5,499 85,499
Amounts due to third parties (note (ii)) & 28 = 75 5K I8 (B E (i) 111,628 149,738
Other tax payables HEXHE 332,999 446,734
Others (note (i) Ho Aty (PREEGii)) 419,714 538,081
1,076,488 1,475,115

G

Notes:

@i

(i)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amounts due to non-
controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

As at 31 December 2024, apart from the amount due to a third
party of RMB72,730,000 which are interest-bearing at a weighted
average rate of 11.45% per annum (2023: RMB115,400,000 was
interest-bearing at a weighted average rate of 14.75%), the
remaining amounts due to third parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance included earnest payments
of RMB4,178,000 (2023: RMB3,509,000) from potential clients
and advances from parking lots financing arrangement of
RMB38,269,000 (2023: RMB43,745,000) which are pledged by
parking lots held by subsidiaries of the Group.

The details of deposits are set out below:

@)

(i)

(iii)

H E2024F F12023F12 A318 » BNt
IS RIEAERE - R ERER

HZE2024F128318  BREMNE=
75 3R TE A R % 72,730,000 7T % 0 #E F
HERE11.45%51 2 (2023F : AR
# 115,400,000 JT 1% h0 4 F 19 F F| =
14.75%5T B 5N - SR T E =5 3KIA
AEEE - R AAE—FAEE -

HZE2024F 128310 - BEBIERE
ERPEArHE S ARE4,178,0007T
(20234 : AR ¥3,509,0007T) A K2 A
AEENBRARFENEEIZERNE
BHIZENE T HER A R #38,269,0007T
(2023%F : AR¥43,745,0007T) °

(€ IHEFFBHINWT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBF T ARBFT
Deposits for cooperative development of BREBERAERES
properties 189,950 181,212

All of the other payables and accrued expenses and deposits
are expected to be settled within one year.

PR E RN RIB R B A MESR R
HBR—FANEH -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22, EAR
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Advances received for sales of properties SHE W FUE A B 5K 3,042,758 4,359,858
Property management fees received in advance TEWEEIRE = 856
3,042,758 4,360,714

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Property development

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion of
the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract
price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect
the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and
the date of delivery of property to customers. As this accrual
increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the period
of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.

Movements in contract liabilities

HEHERAHNAESBBRFEN RN
T

E ek

BEmR  AEBEZRRLEPERBIELET
Hif - M SRR RBYEERR - e
RAMBZHEE - ZFRNABERAH
BENEESR TN YERAERRL S HETH
FER o ULHN - BN BEREARE R AR
BRXESEMEN - URBRNREERZ MY
ETEFPHBEMEEPESNIMERNRE
MamHFE - MR LR IR B 18 R % HIE
MEHNBESRE ExIVRNEHIESER
ERPRERNNRSRISIEM -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETIT

Balance at 1 January R1A1BR R 4,360,714 4,684,621
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FABRBENFETTTAEL

recognising revenue during the year that was BESRSNEERY

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning

of the year (2,311,268) (2,075,214)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving FERBBEREERYENIEE

advanced payments of sales of properties in LES N E IO ENNS N e E S i

respect of properties still under constructionand ~ RIEEEHA L& EEM

advanced service fee of properties management

during the year 1,201,462 2,352,860
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AT (224,874) (638,979)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of accruing EAFESHFI B EHANEE

interest expense on advances 0 16,724 37,426
Balance at 31 December 12 A31 B8 AEER 3,042,758 4,360,714
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22.

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd) 22, ENAKRGE)

Movements in contract liabilities (Cont’d) EHNaESH (E)

The amounts of billings received advance payment of sales of FEEr—F U LR B AN BRI EEE R
properties expected to be recognised as income after more than one TH A ARE1,661,313,50370(20234F + AR

year is RMB1,661,313,503 (2023: RMB1,385,452,000).

1,385,452,0007T) °

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 23. BTEFRREMES
At 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings M2024F12A31H - REEMRITERRE

are repayable as follows:

fEENEEBRIT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETTT

Bank loans IRITER
Current TED
- bank loans and other borrowings —HRITERREMEE 36,850 37,000
— current portion of non-current bank loans and —ERBBTERREMEED
other borrowings mEhEs s 853,226 1,723,095
890,076 1,760,095
Non-current IERE
- repayable after 1 year but within 2 years ——FREMFRER 1,328,180 337,858
- repayable after 2 years but within 5 years —MFRERFTRER 66,628 791,260
- repayable after 5 years —hFIRER 75,700 106,305
1,470,508 1,235,423
2,360,584 2,995,518
At 31 December 2024, the loans and borrowings were secured as M2024F12 4318 - EEERBEROT -
follows:
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Secured A 812,985 474,870
Secured and guaranteed HEIRFNFELR 1,547,599 2,520,648

2,360,584 2,995,518
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

23. BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(a)

Certain banking facilities and borrowings of the Group are
subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to: (1) certain
of the Group’s operating subsidiaries’ statement of financial
position ratios; (2) restriction of profit distribution by certain of
its operating subsidiaries; or (3) early repayment of principal
to be triggered when 50% to 70% of the gross sellable area for
the underlying property project are sold. These requirements
are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group was to breach such covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants and communicates with its lenders as and when the
directors foresee any non-compliance due to business needs.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no advanced
redemption requested by certain banks due to not applying
with the imposed covenants as set out in the above.

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB1,442,271,000 (2023:
RMB1,712,870,000) were jointly guaranteed by Cai Hongwen
and Zeng Yunshu.

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB nil (2023:
RMB21,462,000) were jointly guaranteed by Wong Choi Hing
and Wang Xianyu.

As at 31 December 2024, bank loans of RMB79,980,000 (2023:
RMB79,980,000) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng
Yunshu, Zhong Weizhen and Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited.

(a)
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23. RITERE K58 ()

AEENETRITHREMEREAGTES
THISTERRHFERE - FEEE (1)
REBETLENBEARNMBA L
IR QEREATEEWB AR
BRFIBR S : Sk3)EHEYWEBEEMA
EETETERI50% 2 70% 1% H & K A B 5T
EEEFITENR ZERTFRNRES
BB LM ERLHE - WAEBEER
BREARH - HIE BB EBERER
BEE - AEBTHETHETZER
FlIEER  BESEEHARNERFK
BREKETR  AEBGRERAE
j@ °

72024912 3182023512 8318 -
BEAREENIEITERARRESTATHE
DOEy E il 22 e R R1T BRI ATE

B
N

HEB L ERINVETER
HE2024F 128318 » RITEFAR
#1,442,271,000 7T (2023 F : AR ¥&
1,712,870,0007T ) FA 216 3 N & SE4E 2L [A]
EfR ©

HZE2024%128318  RITERARE
Z5(20234F © AR¥21,462,0007T)
THE TEEERER-

HZE2024F 128318 RITERA
K % 79,980,000 7T (2023 F : AR ¥
79,980,0007T) H BB - TEIE - EED
Min{a B EEBERER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(c) Bank loans and other borrowings bear interest at a weighted (c)
average rate of 5.98% per annum for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: 5.89% per annum), and are secured by
the following assets:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

23. BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 23. ITERRHEMES(E)

HE2024F 12 AN B IEEERNRITE
IR R E At 5 BRI #E 55 F I 5.98%
(20234 : F£F|E589%):t 8 - WA
P EEIEEA -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Completed properties held for sale HEETEIME 1,580,543 1,606,656
Properties held for and under development V. GlEE R ES 2,303,124 2,303,096
Investment properties HEWZE 712,944 724,000
4,596,611 4,633,752
24. SENIOR NOTES 24. BERE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Current RE
US$15.8 million senior notes due in 2023 2023F H|HM15.8BH EETT
(notes (i), (ii)) B (BIREG) - (i) 113,584 111,914
Non-current FERE
US$439.1 million New Notes due in 2029 2029F B HAR9439.1 B EE T
(note (iii) g (MG 3,253,866 3,109,999
3,367,450 3,221,913
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

24. SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd)

Notes:

(0]

(i)

(iii)

The Company has launched an exchange offer in relation to the
outstanding senior notes on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”),
and completed the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023. 100% of the
total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$75 million
senior notes due in May 2023 (the “May 2023 Senior Notes”), and
approximately 94.8% of the total aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding US$303.62 million senior notes due in October 2023
(the “October 2023 Senior Notes”), have been validly tendered for
exchange and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. In exchange of
the validly tendered May 2023 Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior
Notes, the Company has issued an aggregate principal amount of
US$413,578,609 of the new notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer on
28 April 2023 (the “New Notes”). The New Notes bear interest at 7.0%
per annum and will mature on 28 April 2026 pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the relevant indenture. For further details, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 17 April 2023, 26 April 2023, 28
April 2023 and 4 May 2023.

The holders of the remaining October 2023 Senior Notes of
US$15,801,000, for their own reason, not practical to tender for
exchange for the New Notes which was due on 12 October 2023, and
as at 31 December 2024, the Group was not practical to repay the
principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately
US$15,801,000 and US$5,471,000 (equivalent to RMB113,584,000 and
RMB39,328,000), respectively, as such holders of October 2023 Senior
Notes cannot be effectively communicated. Such non-payment of
the interest and principal of October 2023 Senior Notes may cause an
event of default pursuant to the terms and conditions of the relevant
indenture, and may lead to demand for immediate repayment.
However, up to the date of this report, there is no redemption notice
received in respect of the October 2023 Senior Notes.

On 11 October 2023, the Company had launched a consent solicitation
(“Consent Solicitation”) for the New Notes and completed the
Consent Solicitation on 25 October 2023 and the Company also made
an upfront payment of 0.1% of the outstanding principal of the New
Notes. Following the completion of Consent Solicitation and payment
of the upfront principal payment, (i) the outstanding principal amount
of the New Notes was US$439,097,982; (ii) the interest rate of the New
Notes was reduced from 7.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum; (iii) the
interest shall be paid annually; (iv) the New Notes shall bear no interest
from (and including) 28 April 2023 to (but excluding) 28 April 2024; (v)
the interest on the New Notes shall be paid in payment-in-kind interest
from and including 28 April 2024 to (but not including) 28 April 2025; (vi)
the interest accrued from (and including) 28 April 2025 to the maturity
date shall be paid in cash and (vii) the maturity of the New Notes was
extended from 28 April 2026 to 28 April 2029. For further details of the
Consent Solicitation, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 11 October 2023, 23 October 2023 and 25 October 2023.

24. BEAERE(E)
B3 -

(i)

(iii)
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ARATN2023F4 A178HREBRELRE
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2023F4 A28HEMRIREHL) - 2023F5 7
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E(12023F5 ABEZEE ) #9100% %2023
FI0A BB REEAR S HBRE303.62HE%E
TTERZEE([2023F 108 BEERE )WL
94.8% ' BARERIBRBHEBIRRIER B
B - SRR BA RIRRH2023F5 AE L
FEK2023F10AEBEREE ARAFER
2023 F4 A28ARBRRENEITAS BT
#413,578,609E LM E KR ([ EE ) -
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FFE7.0%:1E - WiER2026%4 A28H 5|
B - E— BB LHA LR HEA2023F
47178 ~ 2023F4 8268 - 2023F4H28H
22023F5 H4aHE) A ©

#HZE2024F12A318 » ©12023F10812
A 2| 55 415,801,000 3 JT A9 5 £ 2023 F 10
RELEAZEFEA  AHEBFRRE&EZE
IRBBHEE  MEBRKERBEZ
ZEERBBEANRERR  AEBEEXEENR
15,801,000 T f15,471,0003% 7T (FE A A
R #113,584,000 7T f A & #39,328,0007T )
K203 F 10 ABAEEBENARESFFE « 1R
BB Z IR AR AUES - R192023
FI0ABEZENFEMA S A gt BB
EBEOEMF - WA BN ERIZBMEN - A
i BERREBEE - HARKEIREN2023F
10 AEAEEEERA o

AARR2023F10 AN BHTEZEHRLT
RESK(TRE#R]) - WiK2023F10A4
25SARK TRBEKEIN T EANER
KEERS0I1%NNENAS - AEHBKK
ENAEZATXE - VFTEBEAOREER
& £439,097,982 3 JT (i) #T R IR ) F I K
W7.0%EEE45% : (i) FI B FFEL MK
(iv) T 25 1£2023F 4 A28H (5 ) £2024F 4
A288 (FE) TR - (M RENE2024F4
H28H(&)E2025F48288 (1T 5) 2MH
FMEBEAEWMAEFTREZN + R(vi) 2025
F4aF28H(E)EEHAMNEAHFEUNRE
ST R(viDFT R 5 EI I B f2026F 4 A28
HIE & %£2029F4H28H - BARIEH K
HE—FHE  F2HARABHE2023F
108118 ~ 2023910 A23H X%2023F10 A
2B5HEAE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

25. AMOUNTS DUE TO CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS 25. [E{T IR AR RRIA

Amounts due to controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest- A ERRRFEAEER &8 &F
free and have no fixed repayment terms. TEETEAR o

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HRE AR
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TRET T AFEMUAREE RS HOER
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous SEAESEENFHBRERTIEAA

reporting periods:

2024 2023
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REEE BITRE HEHE BRI
NRERE HENKE (I¥ERE HECHE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR  AR®TR ARBTEIT ARETT

Within 1 year —FR 477 479 529 550
After 1 year but within 2 years ~ — FR{ERF AR - - 204 207
477 479 733 757

Less: total future interest W BRI RARF B E R
expenses (2) (24)
Present value of lease liabilities T E&ERE 477 733
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

27. DEFERRED INCOME 27. SBEEWA
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARETFT
At 1 January M1A1R 182,135 201,918
Movement during the year FANEF)
- Government grants received (note (i) — B IR AT B (B 3EG)) 10,000 23,226
- Utilisation —ofER (13,654) (43,009)
- Disposal of subsidiaries (note 20(e)) — HEHE QR (HiEE20(e)) (3,368) -
At 31 December M12H318 175,113 182,135
Note: BT -
()  Pursuant to the respective agreements between the Group and (i) BEREEEZMBTHENE@EBE - %

local governments, such grants are for subsidising the infrastructure
construction of certain projects undertaken by certain subsidiaries of
the Group, including Yantai Trade Center, Jining Logistics Center, Heze
Industrial, Mianyang Trade Center, Wuzhou Trade Center, Lanzhou
Trade Center, Heze Trade Center and Yulin Trade Center.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

28. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

28. &MiEFEEH

2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for MAEEYEELETERNILE
certain purchasers of the Group’s property units BVEEH A ER 4,020 7,833

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of
the Group's property units and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees
terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership
certificate which will generally be available within an average period
of 1 to 2 years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii)
the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the
dates of grant of the mortgages.

As at 31 December 2024, the directors consider that the likelihood
of default in payments by purchasers has significantly increased and
recognised the financial guarantee contracts as liabilities at its fair
value adjusted for the transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities.

AEEDRAREMEEMNRLEERER
BERTTRLE Iﬁfﬁﬁ*%%ﬁ@%f;%ﬁ% £

HERET © It Eiﬂ*ﬁ'n\ TEFPﬁﬁ
REEMMREE  ZEER %Eﬂﬂ &R

BEFINE2FARR  KNFEREE Y
HHERAFE -

RIBFERIGS BEEBEEERRIZER
= ZKEIE,\EH%“ EREENIZIBER
R AR E OB EERRITHOEFEFE
R YAARKEBEEERBYENGIEMN
BREMEARE - ARENERMBRBER
HIPR A R gA o

HZE2024F128318 - EFeRAEEEE
WA REMEE RIRIG N - WA S BIER
A@E@m@ﬁwﬁﬁﬂ’mAm@E@f
BEEGERSMEREBEZITOR SN AL
TTTEE%E& °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

29. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 29. HEE & R
Other current liabilities represent discounted bills which are pledged HEnBaEENAEER TR (AT
by cash deposit of the Group (see note 19) and expired within one 19) BRI E—FAE IR T -
year.
30. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 30. Hth & @mE R
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARBTT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost AR AT EN SR BE

(note (i) (BFEG))

- amount due to a non-controlling interest —EfT IR R £ 58 - 158,859
Note: s -
(i)  Asat 31 December 2023, the amount due to a non-controlling interest () #HZE202F12A3H X2HEER

with an aggregate principal amount of SGD29,543,000, equivalent
to RMB158,859,000 is jointly guaranteed by the Company and two
subsidiaries of the Group, interest-bearing from 12% to 15%. The
amounts was fully settled during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

31. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates
in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by
municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group is
required to make contributions to the retirement plans ranging from
10% to 20% of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the
employees. A member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a
fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at the member’s retirement
date. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of pension benefits associated with these plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there is no forfeited
contribution which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

31. [ERRHKIEF

ERRHFCRIRETE
REEZRBEBRHERESFTENRGIAR
EABEESEFEKNEEGREZEMNE
By —TEAEHEAEeE([REST
) BESHERABLETIAEENTE
BEHFCRIRGTE] - RIERESE - EXR
1B B9 7AIZ R E B MBI A R 5% ET 54
B T AR A LR A30,0008 7T o it
HEIR RN SRS -

TEDERBRE  AREASERE2EEN
BT PB4 0 5 TR TE R SR REH B - ANER
BAMEETE - EALNE T REEM10%E
20% N E AR NG BIHR - 205 8B T
BERESHENZERKE TEME T L X
AERRASE o R LM FEEF - NEE
BAR EI F T ERBE A RN SR NIAEE
EBRNKEE

H ZE2024F K2023F 12 A3 B ILFE -\
YR UK Y (L 2R AT 4 A S [ AR A IR A IR B FE A Y

R -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. LESRELRGCBSERNDFMAR

On 12 June 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 175,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 5 directors and certain eligible employees.
Based on the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees,
164,200,000 share options were accepted for nil consideration. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share
of the Company and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is
HKS$0.5 per share.

On 7 December 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 54,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 43 certain eligible employees. Based on
the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 54,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

On 19 January 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

On 26 June 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

R2020F6 4128 * AEBEMAZEE A
TFRAERHE TBHR HEERE - BARE
A R B AN R A iR AN R A ££175,400,000 f% &
KEER001BILHEN - REHEETEHR
FENEMFER K  164,200,00017 £ £ B E
MR - SO BRELE THE ARE
—RARR L BRAEF - WA E BT

e

B ITRER/BIRSETT

MR2020F 12478 - AEEMO+ =858 T
HEEBHBE I 2R HERE - BRED
REE AN FIRE A A ££54,000,0008 B EIE
BOOVETHRD - REHE THREEN
BEANRERR LK + 54,000,00017 £ S B RS I & 2
o B BRERNETHEEARE-—REAR
AL ERAER - WARSEMBEELEE - 1T
BAERSETT °

R2022F1 5198 » AEE M —ZHRITES
AR EERE - EREREARRFRAR
7 & ££30,000,000 3% & 3% 1B £0.01 78 T HY
BH - REBEHEE THRESNZEMERE -
30,000,00017 £ (B IR AR 4 - BHIER
I T ARE —RAQ G T BRI
Ao WARRRELEE - 1TEE ATRR0SE
5T e

R2022F6 H26H © AEBEE—BHITES
EARTERE - BRETRERQFRAR

& £30,000,000 3% & I A 8 £ 0.0175 7T 89
R - RBEE THRESHZMNERE -
30,000,00017) fE £ ERE IR 40 - BB
EEE T8 ARE —RAQ R T B A&
B WARRZBREEE - 1TREATRSHE
5T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Cont'd)

(i)

The terms and conditions of the options granted, have been
adjusted to reflect the effect of rights issued completed in
October 2024, are as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

32. LIRSS LMD ER MR
(#%)

BT 5 F BB IR B iR X
DA R 722024910 A SEAk 2 AR 2 22 2
I

AR EAERE -

Number of
instruments
TEHE
Options granted on 12 June 2020 7202096 A 12 B & T HURERL
- directors —E% 4,270,000
- employees —8T 13,270,000
Exercise = Percentage of
period  vested shares
BERSD
Vesting date BEH TS Aot
1 April 2021 202144818 From 1 April 2021 30%
to 1 July 2021
A202154 715
Z2021F7H18
1 April 2022 202244 A1H From 1 April 2022 30%
to 1 July 2022
20224 H1H
%2022F7H1H
1 April 2023 2023FF4 A1 H From 1 April 2023 40%

to 1July 2023
202348 1H
£2023F7A1H
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

32. LIRSS LMD ER MR

(Cont'd) (#%)
(i) (Cont'd) (i) (&)
Number of
instruments
IA¥HE
Options granted on 7 December 2020 2020512 A7 BE T RUBE AR IE

- employees —8T 5,400,000
Exercise  Percentage of
period  vested shares
HBRH
Vesting date SEA 1T{EER Baok
1 April 2021 2021F4H1H From 1 April 2021 30%

to 1 July 2021

20214518

202157718
1 April 2022 2022F4F18 From 1 April 2022 30%

to 1 July 2022

F120225F4 H1H

Z202267H18
1 April 2023 2023F4H1H From 1 April 2023 40%

to 1 July 2023
20234 A1H
£2023F7H1H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

32. LIRSS LMD ER MR

(Cont'd) (#)
(i) (Cont'd) (i) (&)
Number of
instruments
THA¥HE
Options granted on 19 January 2022 720221 198 FRUBERR 12

~ director —E5 3,000,000
Exercise  Percentage of
period  vested shares
EERG
Vesting date SEA 1T{EER Baok
1 April 2022 2022F4 H1H From 1 April 2022 30%

to 1 July 2022

202264 H1R°

202257718
1 April 2023 2023F4H18 From 1 April 2023 30%

to 1 July 2023

1202354 H1H

Z2023F7H1R
1 April 2024 2024F4 A1 H From 1 April 2024 40%

to 1 July 2024
FH2024F4 718
F£2024%F7H1H

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ 3 249



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

32. LIRSS LMD ER MR

(Cont'd) (#&)
(i) (Cont'd) (i) (&
Number of
instruments
IAHA
Options granted on 26 June 2022 1202246 526 H X F HUBEAR 1
— director —E% 3,082,500

Vesting date

HEA

Exercise
period

TS

Percentage of
vested shares
EERG
A7t

1 April 2023

1 April 2024

1 April 2025

2023F4A1H

2024%F4F1H

20254 H1H

From 1 April 2023
to 1 July 2023
FH2023F4H1H
£2023F7H1H
From 1 April 2024
to 1 July 2024
FH2024F471H
E£2024F7H1H
From 1 April 2025
to 1 July 2025
20254 41H
F2025F7H1H

30%

30%

40%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

The number and the average exercise price of share option are
as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

32. LIRSS LMD ER MR
(#%)

(i) BBRUEMEAE M FTEENT

2024 2023
Average Number of Average Number of
exercise price share options exercise price  share options
FHITEE  EBREHE FHTRE  EREEE
Outstanding at 1 January R1ATBERITEE HK$5.0000 2,100,000 HK$5.0000 6,252,000
5.00005& 7T 5.000078 7T
Granted BT HK$5.0000 - HK$5.0000 -
5.0000& T 5.000078 7T
Lapsed R HK$5.0000 (900,000) HK$5.0000 (4,152,000)
5.00007%& T 5.0000/5 7T
Adjusted during the year upon FERKEETTHLAR &7 HK$4.6784 82,500 - -
completion of the rights FRETHE 4.67848 T
issued
Outstanding at 31 December 7128318 KRIT{E HK$4.6784 1,282,500 HK$5.0000 2,100,000
4.678478 T 5.000078 7T
Exercisable at 31 December 712 A31HAJ{7{# HK$4.6784 - HK$5.0000 -
4.678478 T 5.000078 7T
Note: The number and average exercise price of the share options have MizE : ZEBERENEE RTFHITEEY

been adjusted to reflect the effect of rights issued completed in
October 2024.

No options were exercised during the year ended 31 December
2024 and 2023.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a binomial lattice model.
The contractual life of the share option is used as an input into
this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
the binomial lattice model.

EYESRAE - ARMN2024F10A 5T
R AR 2 S o

REZE20242023F 12 A3 HIEEE -
LT B AR JE T T (5 o

BRENQ ERRR

AT VBRI REN A ER
RETHBRENARENE - BTN
BRENALEGREER ZRAEE
BEVEITEHER) - BEENE FIHRK
RIEZ RIS A - RHITTREMHIZEH
A ZIRAERER -

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

32. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. LESRKRLBRNEERNMAR

(Cont'd)
(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions (Cont’d)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

26/6/2022

(#%)
(i) BRENIABERKRRE)
TR T FrRRA 8 ARUR

Share options granted on
RFHERER
19/1/2022 7/12/2020 12/6/2020

Fair value per share optionat 7RI E A B HERK HK$0.0310

measurement date BOAR 0.0310/87T

Share price (note) eSS HK$2.5000

2.5000/% 7T

Exercise price (note) TEER (M) HK$4.6784

4.678478 7T

Expected volatility (expressed FBERENR (KRR E 50.99%-

as weighted average IR RA 56.59%
volatility used in the R A It

modelling under binomial HREE)
lattice model)

Option life (expressed as HREE (R TR 1-3 years
weighted average lifeused ~ —IEVFHRIERT 1-36F
in the modelling under IR A e pntE
binomial lattice model) B RER)

Expected dividends TEHARR B 0%

Risk-free interest rate foE [ g ) 2 2.33%-2.73%

HK$0.0690 HK$0.0910 HK$0.1790
0.0690/%8 7T 0.0910/& 7T 0.17907%8 7T

HK$4.1000 HK$4.1000 HK$4.9500
4.100078 7T 4.100078 7T 4.950078 7T

HK$5.0000 HK$5.0000 HK$5.0000
5.0000/8 7T 5.0000/8 7T 5.000075 7T

46.55%- 50.41%- 65.5%-
54.89% 64.61% 67.24%
04-24years 0.6-2.6 years 1.05-3.05
0.4-24%F 0.6-2.6F years
1.05-3.05%F

0% 0% 0%

0.2%-0.88% 0.1%-0.18%  0.22%-0.34%

Note: The number and average exercise price of the share options have
been adjusted to reflect the effect of rights issued completed in
October 2024.

The fair value of the share options granted in year 2022 was
RMB2,677,000. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
the Group recognised total expenses of RMB188,000 (2023:
RMB848,000), in relation to share options granted by the Group.

B ZEBRENEE R FHITEEDS
EVERAE - ARMBMN2024F10A 5%

Az iz 528 o

B

PR02FRNETHERENDLBEAA
K #2,677,0007T ° PAELE2024F12 H31
BIEFE  AEBRAEERE ZER
TERE R S 4858 AR #188,0007T (2023
& AR¥848,0007T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 33. % - W EERR
(@) Movements in components of equity (a) MEZARNIBD ST
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances AEEEHERSEKE D FEYHESE
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set RERNWEREN G HERFEEHR - K
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details NalERERAKIBARETEFRE
of the changes in the Company’s individual components of SEFFERINAT
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Equity settled
Capital share-based
Share Share  redemption Capital payment Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve reserve feserve reserve losses equity
WEREEN
BX OB
The Company 27 Rk RAEE  EERE  EARE  ARERE  ENXRE 0 ZHEFR ERAE

RVBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  AMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO
ARRTRL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

3(g) 33(d)i) 33(d)(v) 33(d)(iv) 33(d)i)

BalanceatJanuary203  ROOBEIAIBNESR 3658 1188276 m 138109 S50 I8 QIS08IS) 7176
Changesinequityfor2023: 023 BR%E :
Lossand total comprehensive  FAEERZEHA

income for the year a5 - - - - - 1414 (254,585) (243171)
Equity settled share-based ARG BRI

transactions 5 - - - - 848 - - 848
Lapsed of scheme options ~ ERFRELR - - - - (5877) - 5877 -
At31December2023and 120235128318 R

1January 2024 20451518 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 523 263,198 (2,399,523) 475,301
Changesinequityfor2024: 204 BEHEE |
Lossand total comprehensive ~ EAEERZANE

income for the year % - - - - - 6,533 (190,130)  (183597)
Shares issued RESG 32,983 28829 - - - = = 61812
Equity settled sharebased ~ IAREEERRHZ/

transactions X% - - - - 188 - - 188
Lapsed of schemeoptions ~ BRFREZR M - - - - (203) = 203 =
Balance at 31 December 2024 142024512318

[ 69581 1,217,105 120 1386109 508 269731 (2589450) 353,704
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33. B8 % - ERARE ()
(b) Dividends (b) BRE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no final dividend in
respect of the previous financial year was approved and paid
(2023: Nil).

The directors did not propose the payment of any final dividend

HZE2024F 12831 B IEFE - #HER
A NORT ) E A B FE R KRR S

(20234 : &) -

EEZNHEARR IR REIR

subsequent to year end. B o
(c) Share capital (¢ B
Authorised capital: ETERRA -
Number of Nominal
shares value
R B EE
‘000 HK$’'000
TR THBT
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 72023F1H1H « 2023512 H31H
1 January 2024, ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ }2024F1H1H - GRE 0.1
BT Bk 800,000 80,000
Increase in authorised share capital (note (i) A TERRAS (M EE(x)) 4,200,000 420,000
As at 31 December 2024, ordinary shares of 72024F12A318 + FAXEEO.1
HK$0.1 each BT ik 5,000,000 500,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33. B&& - GEfm BB 2 (#)
(c) Share capital (Cont’d) () BA(47)
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: BEEITREE 2 TR
Number of Nominal Nominal
shares value value
BB EE HE HE
‘000 HK$’000 RMB’000
Tz THT ARBETTT
As at 1 January 2023, M2023F1H18 -
31 December 2023 and 2023F12A318B &
1 January 2024, ordinary 20241 A8 - BREE
shares of HK$0.1 each 018 EBk 453,735 45,373 36,598
Increase in authorised share AT AR (FREG))
capital (note (i) 360,368 36,037 32,983

As at 31 December 2024, ordinary 72024512 A31H » ZRE(E

shares of HK$0.1 each 0.178 7T 2 EiaMk 814,103 81,410 69,581

Note: FisE

(i)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders (i) MREBEARAQFREFER2024F97238 8
of the Company at a extraordinary general meeting on 23 TZRRFHNARE @Bz LBRE
September 2024, the increase of the authorised share capital 2 v 5 1R 18 5% 4,200,000,000 % % 15
of the Company from HK$80,000,000 divided into 800,000,000 7K A R)VA TE B 78 £1.80,000,0007% 7T (5
shares of HK$0.1 each to HK$500,000,000 divided into /% 800,000,000 i% & fx E H0.178 7T 2
5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of additional 4,200,000,000 B% 15 ) #4 h0 Z= 500,000,000 7 7T (5 &
shares. 5,000,000,000f%f& 15 ) °
All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the FTERERNZETZ MDA E BN
existing shares of the Company in all aspects. AR AN = A RRMHAL o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3 255



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 81 B 3R R KI =T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company may be applied
for payment of distributions or dividends to shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made
at 10% of profit after tax determined in accordance with
accounting rules and regulations of the PRC until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. This
reserve fund can be utilised in setting off accumulated
losses or increasing capital of the PRC subsidiaries
provided that the balance after such conversion is not
less than 25% of their registered capital, and is non-
distributable other than in liquidation.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all relevant exchange
differences arising from the translation of the consolidated
financial statements of operations with functional
currency other than Renminbi. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(x).

Equity settled share-based payment reserve

Equity settled share-based payment reserve represents
the fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees of the
Group in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 2(t)(ii).

33. IR®E « MR E ()
fEiE

(d)
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(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves (Cont’d)
(v) Capital reserve

Capital reserve is resulted from transactions with owners
in their capacity as the equity owners. The balance
comprises capital reserve surplus/deficit arising from the
difference between the disposal/acquisition consideration
and its net assets value at the respective date of disposal/
acquisition, and the capital reserve transferring from the
equity settled share-based payment reserve.

(vi) Reserve - transaction with non-controlling interests

The balance represents difference between the net
identifiable assets and the consideration paid for
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB284,123,000 (2023: RMB438,703,000), which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to fund its property development projects, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

33. IR®E « MR E ()

(d)

f#im (&)

v) BFEE
BEARHERE BHEA AN D
BASMETHRS - BHEeREd
&/ WRHERBRLE WEA
HEEFENZEMELEAHE
Efh AL AR B AR A
BARAD AT AR R B B AN
e

(i) 1R —BEHZEREZHIXES
e R EEFERD RS
TR s 2 BB ERR ©

A kA

MR2024%F12A31H - IREFAESEER
BERTEMNARRIHEYIRFEHN B
AR #284,123,0007T (20234 : AR
438,703,0007T) * ZEREED IR -
EEEERZREREBHE  AQFH
BENEEATEBBERMNEIERER -

BEXER

AEEEREANTIZARRRERSE
ERHEL LS - AREYEFEIER
BRREES - ARFEZEERBRKF &I
BEXARGHERBNT X AYEE
(B RBER R H b FIz5 AR & B2 4 0 3R
ReRak o

AEERET DR R TR AR
B S REE KT T ARNR
AR I SRR ARG AR K 0B S
RERZBOTE - B REOERRL
BB A -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

33. CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 33. B&%F - R E ()
(f) Capital management (Cont'd) ) BEXEE(E)
The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing AEERBEEEERLXERAEER
ratio. The Group defines this ratio as interest-bearing liabilities BB ARBRTULEERBIEA
(including bank loans and other borrowings, senior notes and B(BERITERREMESR  BER
other financial liabilities) divided by total assets of the Group. BRAMeREBE) RAREREESR
At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group {8 ° 7220244 K 2023F12A31H &
was calculated as follows: ErEEAGBLERNT :
2024 2023
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Bank loans and other borrowings IRITERNMEMEE 2,360,584 2,995,518
Senior notes BERR 3,367,450 3,221,913
Other financial liabilities HEmemas - 158,859
Total interest-bearing liabilities BEEREE 5,728,034 6,376,290
Total assets BEE 12,657,868 18,221,900
Gearing ratio BEEBELE 45.3% 35.0%
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to R sk H AR B A R 5N
externally imposed capital requirements. INEERIREFIR ©
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34. DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2024, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party whereby the Group
agreed to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Shenzhen Hydoo
Shunjie Enterprise Management Company Limited (“Hydoo
Shunjie”), together with its subsidiary. Hydoo Shunjie is principally
engaged in the investment consultancy and its subsidiary is
principally engaged in property development in the PRC. The
transfer of the equity interest is expected to be completed before the
end of 2025. Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of Hydoo Shunjie
as at 31 December 2024 were classified as a disposal group held for
sale.

No impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement with consideration of nil.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Hydoo Shunjie are
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2024 were as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

34. HEF SR

R2024F 128 - AEBR—EZBIE=FHE
ih%?“% B AEERELEER
FITREIERTEEEGRAR([REIE
MDEHEW% A]100%H AR HE - ZRIEIEZR
FEREREER  ENBRAREEESREH
MEERE - ZIEEETEAIN2025F F
[RATTEA © Eitt - BIENBAF 2024512 A 31
AMEERAGBHSBARBEFESHER -

BEREBRERARARTER  RKES

== o©
=

%ﬁwmﬂmminﬂmEM§F&éLﬁ
DIEAFBEFENEZERINT ¢

2024

RMB’000

ARET T

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) Y%~ BRE M (EE1) 134
Inventories and other contract costs FTERHEMERKA 34,304
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E RN 121,813
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEY 106
Total assets classified as held of sale SEANEHEANNEERE 156,356
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERR (217,582)
Total liabilities classified as held of sale NEANEHFERNNEERE (217,582)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 35. @A BRERR A RE

VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks and equity REBR—MEKBREBTFEHEE KD
price risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The M RE . BEERRERREEERERE -
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity REENMEHFEEMEBHREREEE
investments in other entities. HIRRE =R o

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk AEERE AR EAER AERZZRER
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage kA 2 TR e B IR B R HISER AT

these risks are described below:

(a) Creditrisk (a)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash, trade
and other receivables and other financial assets. The Group
maintains a defined credit policy and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash are
mainly deposited in financial institutions such as commercial
banks which maintain sound reputation and financial situation.
The credit risk is considered low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in note 37, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the group to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in
note 37.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 66% (2023: 77%)
of the total trade receivables was due from a customer which
is a government authority with good credibility. Although
the aging of that related trade receivable is past due over one
year, the Group considers that the credit risk is low. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers but the
Group only assists the buyer to obtain the individual property
ownership certificate upon the full settlement of receivables
from the buyer.

In respect of loans to third parties and other debtors, regular
review and follow-up actions are carried out on long-aged
other receivables and any default incurred, which enable
management to assess their recoverability and to minimise
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and other
receivables and loans to the third parties included in other non-
current assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(a)

SRRk (E)
BESERNERAMERSERAEM
THEE
AEESXEHRRNEEFEZSR
FPMER P EEMEITERBRNER
HEYE  REARBREEETESRE
AEBSZEANARIZFRAKRREE
REREHR - E 5 WK IE A58 A66%
(2023%F : 77% ) BIEW — B EFHR
B ZEBFR—EERTEENBUTHE
%o BERBAERFENIRRD ARG
—F  ZEEREBZERRRBREK - —K&
mE @ AEETEREFREUEESR -
BR REEEFREZMNERERELRE
B EFESEAASEE#EME

EA3
ag °

FRAE =T EREEMRYGRIEMS -
B HREB R A M B R FIEETT
E MBI MIRERBOE i - e B A
BRAR  ElEEEB RSN
U 1m0 14 37 28 8 515 A8 LB D F8 2 Ak
1K - A AR D B A FFT IR
KRPNERLHEENREERT

AEEREEREHRBERBENS
B(ARFEREAE)KGHEE S MEM
EUFARBEEHEMIERBEET &
WHE=TTEREREE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

(Cont'd)
(@) Creditrisk (Cont'd)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial

assets (Cont’d)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(a) ERAmEER(E)
ESEUFAREMERSBERAM
EHEEH)
TRETIAE B FrE = A RO LA
KBS NEMEWKRARERE =TT

and loans to the third parties: FIEEAERIEENER
2024 2024
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEER FRE#AE EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®T T AR%ET
Current (not past due) or past BNER (R HR ) skan HA T AR 3B
due within 90 days for 90H
- trade receivables — B WA 4.46% 12,074 (538)
- other receivables — H b fEU IR 19.15% 5,415 (1,037)
- amounts due from joint —E A S DERE
ventures 100.00% 59,476 (59,476)
More than 90 days past due B HAtE R0 B
- trade receivables — B S WA 77.06% 229,711 (177,020)
- other receivables — H b U K1 33.59% 1,802,656 (605,488)
- amount due from Thailand — R E Mg & 5RIE
other investment (FI5E14(a))
(note 14(a)) 100.00% 19,558 (19,558)
Financial assets measured at LA SER ANETER SR
amortised cost BE 100.00% 71,149 (71,149)
2,200,039 (934,266)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=H3EE5 -

EAARETIR)

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(a) ERAmEER(E)
ESEUFAREMERSBERAM

assets (Cont’d) THEEE)
2023 20234
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEAE R X REBE SRR
% RMB’000 RMB’'000
% ARBTTT ARETTT
Current (not past due) or BIEA(R A ER) S ia B TR i
past due within 90 days for 90H
— trade receivables —E 5 EKIE 10.16% 2,057 (209)
- other receivables — H A EURIA 2.90% 180,233 (5,223)
— amounts due from joint — B A E P FEFIR
ventures 62.33% 59,475 (37,072)
Financial assets measured at A SER AT EM SR
amortised cost BE 100% 51,575 (51,575)
More than 90 days past due 0 BAFRA90 H
- trade receivables — B HRWGIA 16.38% 263,158 (43,101)
- other receivables — H U R IE 29.50% 1,255,875 (370,466)
— amount due from Thailand — BRI Bt IR & R
other investment (FF5E14(a))
(note 14(a)) 100.00% 19,271 (19,271)
Financial assets measured at DABESERCANETEM S 3t
amortised cost BE 100.00% 14,441 (14,447)
1,846,085 (541,358)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets (Cont’d)

Except for the specified expected loss, other expected loss
rates are based on historical experience and adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
other receivables and finance lease receivables during the year
is as follows:

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(a)

1= A mkz (4)
ESEUFAREMERSBERAM
EHEEH)

R ERIERIN - AtEREIRRE
BEFEL&RTEY B BRREIA(E
REEBECESRRE) RERRER
B TR R AN B 4 e W FOR TR H TR 4R
HIMEEIRR 2 B R - MANAGER -

FNE FREIFRIE R H A R IR R &l
EHEREFENBIEEERZES N
T

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARET ARETFT

Balance at 1 January 1A 1H B 541,358 246,690
Reversal during the year F e[ (74,863) (43,979)
Impairment losses recognised during the year FAERRBEBE 493,194 328,582
Decrease on disposal of a subsidiary S B AR (28,257) (864)
Exchange difference PER =R 2,854 10,929
Balance at 31 December M12A31 BB &R 934,266 541,358

Liquidity risk

The Group management reviews the liquidity position of the
Group on an ongoing basis, including review of the expected
cash inflows and outflows, sale/pre-sale results of respective
property projects, maturity of loans and borrowings and the
progress of the planned property development projects in
order to monitor the Group’s liquidity requirements in the short
and longer terms. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The directors have taken into account the forecasts
of operating performance, as well as the ability of the Group
to obtain and renew bank loans and the financial support
from shareholders in assessing the sufficiency of liquidity
requirements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 35. ERAISERR A RE(HE)
(Cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) FRENMERBE ()

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities TR AEEEHEE(TERELRE
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial RN E T LY ELEE AR
liabilities excluding receipts in advance, which the Group BH)REMERRNR TSR - &
expects to provide rental services in the future. The contractual AEREREBESARMEReRE (R
maturities are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows TG DR = (W2 8)) S HmEHARE
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates TOFMEHENFENFT) ARKEER
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting FEEFNEFAHE

period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ANARRRSRL

More than More than

Within 1year but 2years but
1yearor less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5years 5years Total amount

—FRg BE-F BEmE
BREX BARME BHREE BRLE st KaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARRTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARRTR ARRTR

31 December 2024 2024512A31H
Bankloans and other BIERREMEE

borrowings 890,076 1,400,834 91,422 92,646 2474978 2,360,584
Lease liabiliies HERE 479 - - - 479 477
Trade and other payables B 5 REMER5E 2,722,267 - - - 2,722,261 2,721,853
Amounts dueto controlling BRI RFUA

shareholders 206,648 - - - 206,648 206,648
Senior notes BEEE 113,584 146,424 3,599,183 - 3,859,191 3,367,450

3,933,054 1,547,258 3,690,605 92,646 9,263,563 8,657,012

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 £ 265



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5T

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS HHEHAI - AUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 35. ERAISERR A RE(HE)

(Cont'd)
(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) FEERPR(E)
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
ANAERR S
More than More than
Within 1year but 2yearsbut
1 year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years 5years Total amount
—ERE BE—F HBME
REL BORME EORRE et ohika @it REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
31 December 2023 2023§12A318
Bankoans and other BIERRAMEE
borrowings 1,894,845 348,833 843,216 141,549 3,228,443 2,995,518
Lease liabilities HERE 550 207 - - 757 33
Tradeand otherpayables 25 R E KB FUR 3643273 - - - 3,643,273 3,639,237
Amounts duetocontrolling ~ EEIRIRER B
shareholders 255,063 - - - 255,063 255,063
Senior notes BrRE 11914 - 419,850 3,110,139 3,641,903 3221913
Other current liabilities EbRgak 340673 - - - 340673 329039
Other financial liabilities Eepat 166,801 - - - 166,801 158,859
6,413,119 349,040 1,263,066 3,251,688 11,276913 10,600,362
(c) Interest rate risk () F=m=F
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash xR EESR TEA A DESRK
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of IR & w2l ™5 R 2 F) K &) A&
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk %o AEENERREIEREES LR
arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, pledged and ©EEY EEBLZRHRSRFE
restricted cash and borrowings issued at variable rates. FRER -
The Group does not anticipate significant impact on cash and ANEEFEHRS NIBSZEEY LD KT
cash equivalents and the pledged deposits because the interest FRrteta AT E - Iﬁiﬁ,ﬁﬂfﬁﬁf
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change significantly. HFEAGEEREE) - NEBEWE
The Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage TR EE A S IR E R R @ o

its interest rate exposure.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 35. ERAISERR A RE(HE)

(Cont'd)
(c) Interest rate risk (Cont’d) () FI=mE k(&)
(i) Interest rate profile (i) FIEIEL
2024 2023
Effective Effective
Interest rate Interest rate
BRRA = B F) =
% RMB’000 % RMB’000
% ARETRT % ARETIT
Fixed rate liabilities: BEREEE :
Lease liabilities HEaE 5% 477 5% 733
Bank loans and other RITER N EAM
borrowings g 9.72% 887,319 9.11% 1,373,933
Senior notes BRERE 13.85% 113,584 15.01% 111,914
4.50% 3,253,866 4.5% 3,109,999
Other payables E A RIA 12.46% 35,730 12.85% 115,400
Other current liabilities ~ HithmEH B (& - - 3.54% 329,039
Other financial liabilities Hith & B & & - - 15% 158,859
4,290,976 5,199,877
Variable rate liabilities: S ENFIZEAE :
Bank loans and other IRITER R EA
borrowings g 5.00% 1,473,265 5.09% 1,621,585
5,764,241 6,821,462
Net fixed rate borrowings & F| & & E F58
as a percentage of HBEBEER
total interest-bearing Bt
liabilities 74% 76%
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BAARKEFIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(c) Interestrate risk (Cont’d)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

268 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED &

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis points)
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
tax and decreased/increased total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company by approximately
RMB7,366,000 (2023: RMB8,108,000), which has not taken
into account of effect of interest capitalisation.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
and other components of consolidated equity that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of
the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period, the impact on
the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) and other
components of consolidated equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of such
a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2023.

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(c)

EBERRARDF

F=R = b (48)
(i) BBEDHT

MN2024F12 8318 EEMHAA
BERBTENBEIT - W RE
B2 FF T FE501E Z 24 (20234 -

SOfEER) - UMt RHMBER
LR ET - (At R K

SENREEERERAARERR
REMEERZERL, GO A
K #7,366,0007T (20234 : AR
8,108,0007T ) ©

L BURE TR RSB RRT
é%%@wﬁfMDM&AH%ﬁ
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BURED ﬁ@“ﬂrmﬁﬁﬁ
XE%E*IE%%E%&%K%
EMSETNREARFASET
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on bank
deposits and senior notes to which the transactions relate.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes
in movement in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. It will affect the exchange reserve of the Company’s
financial statements resulted from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.

Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from

equity investments held for non-trading purposes classified as
financial assets measured at FVTPL.

The Group’s unquoted investments are held for long term
strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at least
biannually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together
with an assessment of their relevance to the Group’s long-term
strategic plan.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

35. EMEMRERER A REE)

(d)

B
AEBEHHINERE - TBREERS
BRAMRTERMNELRRRE - 5IHEH
RN EETERETMET - WIER
T BEXTHEMEENERZEH A
SHEBTEX T HNBRERELS
AHE  BRTERTMBEHRERNINE
@ ARKEINERP B RRBRE
RAEE2INEREMELNER -

BEREERRR

AEEEE BIFESFHARANENE
HEZFHTAEHMESNEREENE
BREELNEREHER -

AEBE W RRERE TFHER AR A
@& o AEEERENFAELEMEERR
ARMEREHMAZERERRED
BMFME—R - BRFERFEAE
B R AR ST B AERIE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 35. ERAISERR A RE(HE)

(Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement f DREFE
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (i) BARZBIENLHEITA

The following table presents the fair value of financial TREFRHEHRAL S LR
instruments measured at the end of the reporting FrEMNERTAEAAE - WIKEEK
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three WS mELERE 135 - ANERE
level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair FIRESBA=ZEAABERR - &
value measurement. The level into which a fair value AMEFTERLEUTEBE AT
measurement is classified is determined with reference to AR AT SR REE T
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the SEREEERR

valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations:

E—RhE -

Level 2 valuations:

ERHE

Level 3 valuations:

F=AhE

Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date
EFERFE-—RBBEABNRAE  IRFTERHEERTSEEREEXBER
TR RE

Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

EAE-_RBEBENAAE  BITHaE - AN BRBELARBRAB T ATE
RHNEZEE - TABRBEIEBERETISENNEUE

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

ERTABRNEZREIENARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & 3 B & 3R R i 5%

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
(Cont'd)

(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, The Group did not
have financial instrument measured at fair value.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair
value measurements

The fair value of derivative financial instruments in Level
2 is the estimated amount that the Group would receive
or pay to terminate the option at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account current interest rates and the
current creditworthiness of the option counterparties.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments is determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount.
The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

The fair value of amount due from joint ventures measured
at FVTPL and other financial liability are determined
using future estimated cash flow to be recovered/paid,
future profit forecast of the disposal entity, development
progress and applicable discount rate.

35. &FR

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

REERRQEE)

() 2AREFEGE)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BAREGENLHBTAE)
20244 K 2023F 12 A31H & 12
A318 » AEBEYEZANERNE
MemTA-

FZRAAE BITARIEES
ERBABIE
FE_MTESRTANRARERA
SERIRE R DE LR KU
HENEE - Bt ARBRER
BREHHEFEENE -

BHE=RLAETSEHEL
FEMBETEMNRENATL £
WA R KB, 8HE Lo A B
AR RS R B IEE HR IR M 5
B RREMNFEERRBRTER
BMEEH TR L ©

JERE EEFIARARRENE
BEAREES M AL MBS
HemREN AL ELRBIE
W@ R RRRERE BB
BB RO AR RN TR A0 A 9 AT IR
R (AR ERE -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 35. ERAISERR A RE(HE)

(Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) H DREFTEE)
(iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (iii) BEEE=ARIALETEHNEH
(Cont'd) (#&)

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 2
and Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

P R B R A S B A
BEBERNT -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Financial assets measured at Level 2 BRE_HTENSHE

Fair value: BE
At 1 January M1A1H - 2,009
Disposal k== - (2,009)
At 31 December M12A31H - -
Financial liabilities measured at Level 3 RE-HTENESH

Fair value: =N
At 1 January ®1A1R - 87,515
Disposal of subsidiaries HEK B A A - (87,515)
At 31 December M12A31H8 - -

Net losses for the period included in profit or MR ERRFENEE

loss for assets and liabilities held at MBE ABRNEAR
the end of the reporting period B85 = -
(iv) Fairvalue of financial assets and liabilities carried at (iv) UFARETENEHBEENE

other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments which are carried at cost or amortised cost
are not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

36. COMMITMENTS 36. #iE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December contracted but R12A31BERTABIER A OF B 75 TRk
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as HREAENT -
follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARBFT
Construction and development contracts ERRERAY 1,638,191 2,883,733
37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 37. ZARAR
Guarantees R
The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities REBAETRITHAEEMEE FFETL
granted by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans RIZIBE MR H AR B E TR IER - 1B
entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant BERIG - WZEE R IRE A B
to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage AEBHEEEERANILZBEFERZEY
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay B EN FERITHEM EA R E RS - &
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest SEMERPAHMERIBEFEE B -
and penalty owned by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The EZERNGENEEZRZEANIREE
Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of ROABRREBE)RS|E -

the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer
obtained the individual property ownership certificate and the full
settlement of mortgage loans by the buyer.

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage REREHRUAEEYEE HERNILE
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the BVEMARITIEH SR ABRSENT ¢

end of each reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARETT

Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities ~ FtZNEEE Y3 B ERHIRE
granted to purchasers of the Group's properties BhE M AR TIE L AR 1,896,380 2,449,577
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

37.

38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)
Guarantees (Cont’d)

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will
sustain a loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over
the ownerships of the related properties and sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The directors
of the Company also consider that the fair market value of the
underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage
loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the purchasers default
payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the
directors of the Company.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for interests in an associate, the amounts due from/to related
parties and bank loans guaranteed by related parties as set out in
notes 21 and 23, the other material related party transactions are
disclosed as follows:

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
note 8 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note
9, is as follows:

37.

38.

BARAR(E)

BER(E

EERB ARAKEARERBEY M
BRYHEFMYE - AREAEEmIRT
SATEREM R - R AKE KA BER %
FEAMEBER - XARREFTRA - i
BETHBREERITN - MABMENRR
BEREREASBMMERNAERRBER -

HRARBEER/ZFERNANER
K AR EW R FERER T ET
L UNE

EXRBAXS
BREUHPRE21 230 Bk 8 X R s~ B
FE AT BRR 7 300R Mt BB 0 R R HOERITE K
S BB ABEB I RXZEENT

FEEEASHM
AEETREE AR AN T HER
AREEEX NSRRI T RERET
REFEEXMNOEE - HIWT

2024 2023

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AE¥ETTT

Wages, salaries and other benefits in kind IE& #HaehEtEYweEH 5,982 9,106
Contribution to defined contribution retirement T EHEFURIREHEIHR

plans 352 215

Equity settled share-based payment expenses DEREENRNDZNER 188 848

6,522 10,169

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 6(b)).

Frf a8 TAA ] (B2 R E6(b)) ©
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39. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

(Expressed in

Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HHEBI  HAARKTITR)

39. AFIBEAMBIKAER

POSITION
2024 2023
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BsE AR¥ET T AREEF T
Non-current assets RBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B AR ER 996,231 1,011,107
Interests in an associate /NI T 4,702 4,682
1,000,933 1,015,789
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b e U I8 3,098,766 3,042,997
Cash and cash equivalents ReELREFED 987 602
3,099,753 3,043,599
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIB R EFTE R 379,532 362,174
Senior notes BREER 24 113,584 111,914
493,116 474,088
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,606,637 2,569,511
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBERE 3,607,570 3,585,300
Non-current liabilities FRBEMS
Senior notes greEs 24 3253866 3,109,999
NET ASSETS EEFE 353,704 475,301
Capital and reserves AR R 33(a)
Share capital & 69,581 36,598
Reserves it 284,123 438,703
TOTAL EQUITY R 353,704 475,301

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28

March 2025.

7202553 A28 HIEE St KIRETIE -

Luo Jieping He Fei
ENE AT 7R
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
FIERBTEF HITEE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS AEHEHAIN - HUAARKTIR)

40.

41.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

It is announced in an announcement of the Company dated 28
January 2025, a share transfer agreement was entered into, pursuant
to which the Company conditionally agreed to dispose of the
Target Interests and the same constitutes a disposal amounting
to a major transaction (as defined under the Listing Rules), and
subsequent to its completion, there will be a financial assistance
as a result of the Group’s provision of collaterals for the loan
borrowings of the disposed Target Group. For details please refer
to the announcements of the Company dated 28 January 2025, 21
February 2025, 5 March 2025 and 17 March 2025, and the circular of
the Company dated 19 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there were no subsequent events between
the end of the reporting period and the date of this report that
would have a material impact on the Group.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to confirm with
the current year’s presentation.

40.

41.

RkER

AN AR N B R 202541 A28 H 3 M B A ST
N RRAIEIN T —HEBROEERZE - B
It AREBEHERELNEZE B ER
- FANEEKTHEEREERS(ERR L
MHRADWLE - BEHTNE - ARAEE
BELENEREBMNEFRHER B2
REPFBER - FIBERL2E AR FR2025F
1H28H ~ 20255 2H218 ~ 20253 A58 &
2025F3 A7 BB MHH RS AR FH2025
F3IH19B BB o

Br B PRI ERSN - SMEHREARRE TIEA
B BRREASHAKREBENEATE -

LLg#F
ETHBBFEENABAFEAELLS
R
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "B IFHE 2R EW %

COMPLETED INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

No. Properties

52 A/ E S

Type

il

ERIREHEMR

Percentage of
interest of
the Company
PN

R LA

Term of land Floor area

TR BREER

sq.m.

1 Portion of Jewel Market and Convention Center
of Wuzhou Trade Center,
Shundi Avenue,
Changzhou District,
Wuzhou,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
PRC
GE
EfitkE R
BN
FMNE
L YN
EMNEEYRAOEAR KRG RP OO

2 Portion of Small Commodity Market of Zone B
of Jining Trade Center,
East State Road 105,
North Juyu Road,
Jining,

Shandong Province,
PRC

i

IRA

BET
105E1:E R - E&EIL
BEEEYRT LBER
NERMEER D

Convention
Center

FRADL

Commercial

[GES

Medium 18,250 100%

T4

Medium 50,481 100%

4

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 3} 277



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "B IF B 2 IR EY %

Percentage of

interest of

No.  Properties Type Term of land Floor area the Company

AN

iR M3 EFic] TR BREER Rzt 6
sq.m.

ok

3 Zone D of Jining Trade Center, Intersection Commercial Medium 64,852 100%
of State Road 105 and Taibai Road,
Jining,
Shandong Province,
PRC
HE [EES H A
IERA
BE™
10538 B 5 B& A28 ST
BEHEYRFODE

4 Portion of Hall 5, Commercial Medium 28,233 100%
Hydoo International Trade Center,
1228 North Second Ring Road,
Yulin,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
PRC
P [HES R HA
[T mic=prel
EHRT
ZIRIEER12285%
SRIE R E
S59%EE. 2 EB D
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No.

3%

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "B IFHE 2R EW %

Properties

LUES

Type

Term of land Floor area

T F R BEEE
sq.m.

ok

Percentage of
interest of
the Company
AN

Rzt 6

Red Star Macalline Global,

Household Shopping Mall in Heze Trade Center,
East of National Highway 220,

West of Kunming Road, North of Binhe Road,
Mudan District,

Heze,

Shandong Province,

PRC

e

IRE

SWET

HAYE

220B B LA

R AT

B IAL

ORI 1B

AEFYERRREEEES

Level 40-43, Block E,

China Resources Land Building,
No. 18 First Dachong Road,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen,

Guangdong Province,

PRC

i

ERE

2l

MlE

RA—E81855%
EREMAEEE
40-43/E

Commercial

CES

Commercial

[GES

Medium 54,213

T

Medium 6,748

T H
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MAJOR PROJECTS OF THE GROUP " & B 2 FEIEH

No.

P

Projects

RH

Location

it

Percentage
interestin
the property
{1
nEER
Bl

Usage

S

Site area

hiER
(sg.m.'0000)
(B¥IK)

Gross floor
area

BREEE
(sg.m.'0000)
(B¥HK)

Completed
BRINE

GFA

BREER
(5g.m.0000)
(BTHK)

Under development

i3 2ES

GFA

BREER
(50.m.'0000)
(BF5%)

Planned

for future

development

Ratk

ARBRIE

Estimated

completion

date GFA

it
KIRH BREER
(sq.m.'0000)

(&%)

Lanzhou Project

"

3B

Dongguan Humen
Project

RERFER

Dongguan Dahu
Project

REKHER

Hydoo Trade Centre,
Heping Town,
Yuzhong County,
Lanzhou City,

Gansu Province
HEawAm
BRANTE
BMREEHEN

Next to Fengtai Garden
Hotel,

Cuntou Community,
Humen Town,
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province
BR&REm
RPENEILR
ERIEEES

Sicun Community,
Tangxia Town,
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province
ERARED
BEANAHE

100%

52%

51%

Commercial/
Residential

BE/E%

Residential

Commercial/
Residential

B/

1528

30

2180

83

47
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